Almost Robinson geometries

Check for updates

Anna Fino^{1,2} · Thomas Leistner³ · Arman Taghavi-Chabert⁴

Received: 11 July 2022 / Revised: 27 February 2023 / Accepted: 28 March 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

We investigate the geometry of almost Robinson manifolds, Lorentzian analogues of almost Hermitian manifolds, defined by Nurowski and Trautman as Lorentzian manifolds of even dimension equipped with a totally null complex distribution of maximal rank. Associated to such a structure, there is a congruence of null curves, which, in dimension four, is geodesic and non-shearing if and only if the complex distribution is involutive. Under suitable conditions, the distribution gives rise to an almost Cauchy–Riemann structure on the leaf space of the congruence. We give a comprehensive classification of such manifolds on the basis of their intrinsic torsion. This includes an investigation of the relation between an almost Robinson structure and the geometric properties of the leaf space of its congruence. We also obtain conformally invariant properties of such a structure, and we finally study an analogue of so-called generalised optical geometries as introduced by Robinson and Trautman.

Keywords Lorentzian manifolds \cdot Almost Robinson structures \cdot G-structure \cdot Intrinsic torsion \cdot Congruences of null geodesics \cdot Conformal geometry \cdot Almost CR structures

Arman Taghavi-Chabert arman.taghavi-chabert@fuw.edu.pl

> Anna Fino annamaria.fino@unito.it; afino@fiu.edu

Thomas Leistner thomas.leistner@adelaide.edu.au

- ¹ Dipartimento di Matematica "G. Peano", Università di Torino, Via Carlo Alberto, 10, 10123 Torino, Italy
- ² Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Florida International University, Miami, FL 33199, USA
- ³ School of Mathematical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia
- ⁴ Faculty of Physics, University of Warsaw, ul. Pasteura 5, 02-093 Warsaw, Poland

Mathematics Subject Classification Primary 53C50 \cdot 53C10; Secondary 53B30 \cdot 53C18

Contents

1	Introduction
2	Summary of results
3	Algebraic description
	3.1 Notation and conventions
	3.2 Linear algebra
	3.2.1 Null structures
	3.2.2 Robinson structures
	3.2.3 Robinson structures and optical structures
	3.2.4 Splitting
	3.2.5 Robinson 3-forms
	3.2.6 Poblinson spinors
	3.2.7 Characterisations of Poblason atructures
	2.2. The stabiliser of a Dabinson structure
	3.4 One-dimensional representations of Q
	3.5 Space G of algebraic intrinsic torsions
	3.6 Isotypic Q_0 -submodules of \mathbb{G}
	3.7 The Q -submodules of \mathbb{G}
4	Almost Robinson manifolds
	4.1 Almost Robinson structures
	4.2 Pure spinors
	4.3 Almost Robinson structures as <i>G</i> -structures
	4.4 Intrinsic torsion
	4.5 Congruences of null geodesics
	4.6 Almost CR geometry
	4.6.1 General definitions
	4.6.2 Partially integrable contact almost CR manifolds
	4.7 Nearly Robinson structures and almost CR structures
	4.8 Conditions on the Robinson 3-forms
	4.9 Twist-induced almost Robinson structures
	4 10Almost Robinson structures as almost null structures
	4 11 Analogies between almost Robinson geometry and almost Hermitian geometry
	4.17 Almost Robinson manifolds of Kundt type
	4 13 Almost Robinson manifolds of Robinson-Trautman type
	4.14Compatible linear connections
5	Conformal almost Dabinson atmatures
3	5.1. Conformal invariants of an almost Dahingon structure
	5.2 Conformally parallel Robinson structures
	5.3 Conformal lift of almost CR structures
	5.4 Non-shearing twist-induced almost Robinson structures
	5.5 The Mariot–Robinson theorem
	5.6 The Kerr theorem
6	Generalised almost Robinson geometries
	6.1 Generalised Robinson structures
	6.2 Generalised Robinson geometries as <i>G</i> -structures
7	Generalisation to other metric signatures and odd dimensions
A	ppendix A. Projections
A	ppendix B. Generalised almost Robinson geometry—connections
Re	eferences

1 Introduction

In a recent article [25], the authors give a comprehensive review of the notion of *optical structure* on a Lorentzian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) , simply understood as a null line distribution K on \mathcal{M} . Many of the geometric properties of this distribution and its orthogonal complement are encoded in terms of its screen bundle $H_K = K^{\perp}/K$, which is naturally equipped with a bundle metric h inherited from g. One may naturally wish to endow H_K with further bundle structures. In the present article, where we assume \mathcal{M} to have dimension 2m+2, we equip H_K with a bundle complex structure J compatible with h. Such a structure was introduced by Nurowski and Trautman in [63, 113, 114], where it is equivalently described in terms of a totally null complex (m + 1)-plane distribution N. The real span of the intersection $N \cap \overline{N}$ then determines the line distribution K. Following their terminology, we shall refer to the pair (N, K) as an *(almost) Robinson structure*. The structure group of the frame bundle is reduced to $(\mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{U}(m)) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^*$, which is a subgroup of the group $\mathbf{Sim}(2m)$, which characterises optical structures, and as in [25], we shall describe the geometric properties of an almost Robinson structure in terms of its intrinsic torsion. Our approach is analogous to that of Gray and Hervella in the almost Hermitian setting [30]. In our case, however, it is the decomposition of the screen bundle with its complex structure, rather than the tangent bundle, that encodes the geometric properties of the almost Robinson structure. To this end, we exploit the interaction with the optical structure and use results already obtained in [25]. The main results, contained in Theorems 3.15 and 3.18, give an invariant description of the module of intrinsic torsions of an almost Robinson structure. On the basis of this description, we proceed to examine the implications of the torsion classes in terms of geometric properties.

Such geometries have already been studied, notably in dimension four, and we shall briefly review some existing results below. As is well-known [25, 63, 77, 113, 114], an almost Robinson structure (N, K) in dimension four is essentially equivalent to an optical structure. The key point, here, is that the involutivity of the totally null complex 2-plane distribution N is equivalent to the congruence K of null curves tangent to Kbeing geodesic and *non-shearing*, that is, the conformal class of the bundle metric h is preserved along the geodesic curves of K. What is more, the rank-one complex vector bundle $N/^{C}K$ descends to the leaf space \underline{M} of K, thereby endowing it with a *Cauchy–Riemann* (*CR*) *structure*. This CR geometrical aspect of Robinson manifolds was particularly emphasised by Robinson, Trautman and the 'Warsaw' school [52, 64, 66, 88, 97, 98], and in parallel, by the twistor school [56, 57]. This property is useful when seeking solutions to the Einstein field equations [53, 67, 99], a problem that is in turn linked to analytic questions regarding the embeddability of CR manifolds [35, 54, 95, 97, 98].

There are also three important theorems worthy of mention in the development of mathematical relativity in the present context:

• The *Mariot–Robinson theorem* [55, 87] gives a correspondence between analytic non-shearing congruences of null geodesics and *null* or *algebraically special* electromagnetic fields in vacuum.

- The *Goldberg–Sachs theorem* [26, 27] relates the existence of non-shearing congruences of null geodesics to the algebraic degeneracy of the Weyl tensor for Einstein spacetimes.
- The *Kerr theorem*, as formulated in [75], tells us how such congruences arise in Minkowski space from complex submanifolds of three-dimensional complex projective space.

In higher (even) dimensions, the congruence of null curves of an involutive almost Robinson structure (N, K) is always geodesic, but shearing in general [114]. The leaf space of K nevertheless still acquires a CR structure [63, 113]. In addition, (almost) Robinson structures are Lorentzian analogues of (almost) Hermitian structures, to borrow the expression from Nurowski and Trautman [63]. In both cases, the underlying geometric object is that of an *almost null structure*, that is, a totally null complex (m + 1)-plane distribution. This perspective allows one to have a unified approach to pseudo-Riemannian geometry in any signature. In dimension four, the analogies between Lorentzian and Hermitian geometries were already pointed out in [64, 65] especially in connection with the aforementioned theorems of mathematical relativity. For instance, the Kerr theorem finds an articulation in Riemannian signature as follows: any local Hermitian structure on four-dimensional Euclidean space corresponds to a holomorphic section of its twistor bundle [21, 93]. A Riemannian counterpart of the Goldberg–Sachs theorem is given in [5, 28, 64, 86]. In split signature, one obtains analogous results—see, for example, [28, 31].

Almost null structures are also intimately connected with the notion of *pure spinors*, and thus hark back to Élie Cartan's seminal work [13], which was subsequently developed in [9, 10, 47, 48] among others. It is then no surprise that in dimension four, the spinorial approach to general relativity promoted by Penrose and his school [74, 76, 77, 118] shed much light on the *complex* aspect of congruences of null geodesics, and was influential in the development of twistor theory [75]. These ideas were later developed in higher even dimensions in [37–40, 43], and most notably in the article [41] by Hughston and Mason, where the Kerr and Robinson theorems are generalised in the context of involutive almost null structures. These results were expanded by the third author of the present article in [102, 103, 107], where a comprehensive study of almost null structures according to their intrinsic torsion is given in both even and odd dimensions. The recent articles [24, 71, 78] also touch on related topics on pseudo-Riemannian geometry.

Non-shearing congruences of null geodesics are ubiquitous in four-dimensional mathematical relativity, see, for example, [96] and references therein. One question that arises is, which of non-shearing congruences and (almost) Robinson structures have most relevance in higher dimensions? On the one hand, Robinson–Trautman and Kundt spacetimes, which are by definition characterised by the existence of a *non-twisting* non-shearing congruence of null geodesics, have been well studied in arbitrary dimensions, see, for example, [81, 83]. On the other hand, the Kerr metric and its variants admit a pair of *twisting* congruences of null geodesics, which are non-shearing in dimension four, but fail to be so in higher dimensions [85]. Nonetheless, as was first brought to light in [59], these metrics admit several Robinson structures

in any dimensions.¹ Almost Robinson structures can also be defined in terms of a maximal totally null complex distribution on odd-dimensional Lorentzian manifolds: the black ring in dimension five is equipped with a pair of Robinson structures,² but does not admit any non-shearing congruences of null geodesics [101]—see also [104]. In dimension three, one can similarly obtain analogous results—see, for example, [68].

Considering the length of this article and the technicalities involved, the following section includes a detailed summary of our main results, section by section.

2 Summary of results

Our journey starts in Sect. 3, where we introduce the algebraic notion of a *Robinson structure* on a (2m + 2)-dimensional Minkowski space (\mathbb{V}, g) , as a pair (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) , where \mathbb{N} is a totally null complex (m + 1)-plane distribution and \mathbb{K} the real null distribution whose complexification is given by $\mathbb{N} \cap \overline{\mathbb{N}}$. Proposition 3.11 gives various algebraic characterisations of (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) as

- (1) a totally null complex (m + 1)-form;
- (2) an optical structure \mathbb{K} whose screenspace $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}} = \mathbb{K}^{\perp} / \mathbb{K}$ is endowed with a complex structure J_i^{j} compatible with the induced metric h_{ij} ;
- (3) a 1-form κ_a and a 3-form ρ_{abc} satisfying $\rho_{ab}{}^e \rho_{cde} = -4\kappa_{[a}g_{b][c}\kappa_{d]}$;
- (4) a pure spinor of real index 1.

Using the characterisation (2) above, we determine the stabiliser of a Robinson structure as a closed Lie subgroup Q of the stabiliser P of \mathbb{K} in $G = \mathbf{SO}^0(2m + 1, 1)$. We can thus apply the findings of [25] to describe in Sects. 3.5 and 3.6 the space \mathbb{G} of algebraic intrinsic torsions for m > 1: the basic idea is that the group Q induces a Q-invariant filtration on \mathbb{G} , and the associated graded Q-modules split into further irreducibles linearly isomorphic to $\mathbf{U}(m)$ -modules. The main results are collected in Theorems 3.15 and 3.18, and while comprehensive, they are also rather technical.

Having all the algebraic machinery at disposal, we proceed to apply it to the geometric setting in Sect. 4: thus, an *almost Robinson structure* on an oriented and time-oriented Lorentzian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) of dimension 2m + 2 is defined as a pair (N, K) where N is a complex distribution of rank m + 1 totally null with respect to the complexfication C_g , and K a real line distribution such that $C_K = N \cap \overline{N}$. The quadruple (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is then referred to as an *almost Robinson manifold* or *geometry*. Considering the large number of classes of intrinsic torsions for almost Robinson geometries, we shall split almost Robinson geometries into a number of broad types, and we will focus on the cases most amenable to geometric interpretations.

An almost Robinson structure (N, K) induces an optical structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) in the sense of [25], namely a filtration of vector bundles $K \subset K^{\perp} \subset T\mathcal{M}$. The orientation and time-orientation on \mathcal{M} induce an orientation on K, and the screen bundle $H_K := K^{\perp}/K$ of K inherits a positive-definite bundle metric h from g. An optical vector field, that is, a non-vanishing section of K, generates a *congruences of null curves*,

¹ These are not explicitly referred to as Robinson structures there, but may be interpreted as such.

 $^{^2}$ In [101], these Robinson structures are referred to as optical structures in a sense similar to [65]. This terminology is now obsolete by virtue of [25].

and one of the main points is to investigate its geometric properties together with those of its associated leaf space. Dually, we may also consider any *optical* 1-*form*, i.e. a section of Ann(K^{\perp}), which, by virtue of the almost Robinson structure, has an associated *Robinson* 3-*form* ρ , which encodes an Hermitian structure on H_K . There are other natural objects that can be used as specified in Proposition 4.4, notably a pure spinor field of real index one, defined up to scale.

As it will emerge, the leaf space of the congruence generated by an optical vector field in many cases turns out to be an *almost CR manifold*, that is, a triple $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$, where \underline{M} is a smooth manifold of dimension 2m + 1, \underline{H} a rank-2m distribution and \underline{J} a bundle complex structure on \underline{H} . When the $\pm i$ -eigenbundles of \underline{J} are involutive, we refer to $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ as a *CR manifold*. Section 4.6 is devoted to the subject, which plays an important part in this article, and one of the aims of the subsequent sections is to relate the classes of intrinsic torsions to the geometric property of the underlying (almost) CR structure.

This is in fact the main focus of Sect. 4.7 regarding so-called *nearly Robinson* geometries, that is, almost Robinson geometries for which $[K, N] \subset N$. This condition alone tells us that N induces an almost CR structure on the leaf space of the null geodesic congruence tangent to K. They include as a subclass the so-called Robinson geometries for which $[N, N] \subset N$, and in fact, generalise the notion of non-shearing congruence of null geodesics, central object of mathematical relativity: these are generated by a null vector field k that satisfies $\pounds_k g(v, w) \propto g(v, w)$ for any vector field v and w orthogonal to k. Among the most striking results of this section are Propositions 4.18 and 4.22, which state that any almost CR structure (\mathcal{M}, H, J) can be 'lifted' to a nearly Robinson manifold on the trivial line bundle $\mathcal{M} \times \mathbf{R}$, and conversely, any nearly Robinson manifold arises in this way. A normal form for the Robinson metric is provided therein, and we discuss its various consequences. For instance, if the congruence is *maximally twisting*, in the sense that any optical 1-form κ satisfies $\kappa \wedge (d\kappa)^m \neq 0$, then the underlying almost CR structure is *contact*. Proposition 4.28 characterises the existence of a so-called partially integrable almost CR structure (\mathcal{M}, H, J) and an auxiliary subconformal structure on H in terms of the intrinsic torsion of its nearly Robinson lift.

Section 4.9 shifts the focus to another particularly interesting class, which consists of almost Robinson structures that are *twist-induced*, meaning that if one starts merely from an optical geometry and choose any optical 1-form κ , then $\kappa \wedge d\kappa$ is proportional to a Robinson 3-form. In other words, the optical geometry has a canonically associated almost Robinson structure determined by the *twist* of its null geodesic congruence. The most remarkable aspect of such a configuration is that such an optical, or almost Robinson, geometry admits a unique distinguished optical vector field, as pointed out in Proposition 4.34. Twist-induced *nearly* Robinson geometries are also natural generalisation of *twisting* non-shearing congruence of null geodesics from four to higher even dimensions, and one obtains further characterisations of their intrinsic torsion in Propositions 4.40 and 4.41.

In dimension four, the use of spinors provides another potent approach to the study of geometric structures on Lorentzian manifolds, and Sect. 4.10 explores this theme further. Theorem 4.44 notably characterises a number of classes of intrinsic torsions in terms of irreducible equations on a pure spinor field, which had already been in

obtained in [102]. Proposition 4.45 gives a description of the intrinsic torsion of any Robinson structure in terms of a non-linear spinorial differential equation, which generalises Penrose's well-known equation $\nu^{\mathbf{A}'}\nu^{\mathbf{B}'}\nabla_{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{A}'}\nu_{\mathbf{B}'} = 0$.

After a brief review of the Gray–Hervella classification of almost Hermitian structures and its relation to the present article in Sect. 4.11, we move on to the study of almost (and in fact nearly) Robinson geometries for which the associated congruence of null geodesics is non-twisting and non-shearing. They fall into two classes: the *Kundt type* in Sect. 4.12, where the congruence is also *non-expanding*, and the *Robinson–Trautman type* in Sect. 4.13 for which the congruence is *expanding*. In both cases, the idea here is that, since the congruence is non-twisting, its leaf space admits a Riemannian foliation, each leaf of which is in fact an almost Hermitian manifold. We can then associate the class of intrinsic torsion of the nearly Robinson manifold to the Gray–Hervella class of this almost Hermitian foliation. as described in Table 7.

The very brief Sect. 4.14 concludes our exploration of almost Robinson geometries in the metric setting by considering compatible linear connections, described by Proposition 4.70.

In Sect. 5, our definition of almost Robinson manifold is extended to the conformal setting in the obvious way by simply replacing a Lorentzian metric structure by an equivalence class of conformally related Lorentzian metrics. Many of the properties investigated in Sect. 4 carry over, and the only aspect that really need to be taken care of is which classes of intrinsic torsion are conformally invariant, and the answer is given by Theorem 5.4. Just as in the metric case, one can 'lift' a given almost CR structure as a *conformal* nearly Robinson manifolds on the line bundle. This construction is particularly interesting when the almost CR structure is contact and partially integrable, in which case Proposition 5.8 show that changes of contact forms induce conformal changes of the nearly Robinson lift, not unlike the classical Fefferman construction—see Example 5.10.

Sections 5.5 and 5.6 review two theorems of importance stemming from mathematical relativity, namely the Mariot–Robinson theorem and the Kerr theorem, respectively, and how they generalise to higher dimensions. The former is concerned with solutions to an appropriate generalisation of the vacuum Maxwell field equations, while the latter provides a geometric construction of Robinson structures in twistor space.

Finally, in Sect. 6 we consider generalised almost Robinson structures, which can be viewed as an extension to higher dimensions of the notion of optical structure in dimension four presented in [60, 88, 90, 91, 110–112]). A generalised almost Robinson structure on a smooth manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) of dimension 2m + 2, is defined as a triple $(N, K, \mathbf{0})$, where N is a complex (m + 1)-plane distribution, $K := N \cap T\mathcal{M}$ is a real line distribution on \mathcal{M} , and $\mathbf{0}$ is an equivalence class of Lorentzian metrics such that, for every $g \in \mathbf{0}$, N is null with respect to the complex linear extension of g, and any two metrics $g, \hat{g} \in \mathbf{0}$ are related by the relation $\hat{g} = e^{2\varphi} (g + 2\kappa \alpha)$, for some smooth function φ , a 1-form α on \mathcal{M} , and $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$, with k some non-vanishing section of K. In particular, for each choice of metric g, (N, K) is an almost Robinson structure in the sense of Sect. 4. In Theorem 6.4 we determine which subbundles of the bundle of intrinsic torsions do not depend on the choice of metric g in $\mathbf{0}$. We can therefore start from a given almost CR structure, and construct a family of nearly Robinson metrics on a trivial line bundle parametrised by a 1-form and a conformal factor. This is particularly useful in application to general relativity since we may wish to add the requirement that one of these metrics has prescribed Ricci tensor. In Theorem 6.8 we extend the results in [25, 90], obtaining a characterisation of the integrability of generalised optical structures as *G*-structures.

Section 7 discusses the possible generalisations to other metric signatures. We have relegated to Appendices 1 and 1 a number of technical formulae that are used in the main text.

As pointed out earlier, the notion of nearly Robinson structure provides a generalisation of non-shearing congruences of null geodesics from four to higher even dimensions. These are intrinsically connected to algebraically special Einstein four-manifolds, and one of the current and future applications of nearly Robinson structures is the construction of higher-dimensional solutions to Einstein's field equations—see, for example, [3, 4, 59, 106]. We have scattered a number of relevant examples throughout the article to illustrate the point: the Kerr–NUT–(A)dS metrics, the Taub–NUT–(A)dS metrics in Examples 4.50 and 4.51, respectively, Kundt and Robinson–Trautman metrics as in Example 4.69, and the Myers-Perry metric in Example 6.10, to name but a few.

We also provide examples to illustrate some of the algebraic conditions that the intrinsic torsion of an almost Robinson structure can satisfy, focussing essentially on dimensions greater than four. Considering the rich range of classes of almost Robinson structures, this article does not aim to cover every possible case, but it leaves the construction of almost Robinson structures with prescribed intrinsic torsion as open problems—see for instance Remark 4.12. We do not touch on questions related to the curvature of almost Robinson manifolds, these being dealt with in [105].

3 Algebraic description

3.1 Notation and conventions

We set up the notation and conventions used throughout this article by recalling some basic notions of algebra—see, for example, [17, 92] for further details. The fields of real numbers and complex numbers will be denoted **R** and **C**, respectively, the imaginary unit by i, i.e. $i^2 = -1$.

Let \mathbb{V} and \mathbb{W} be two real or complex vector spaces with respective duals \mathbb{V}^* and \mathbb{W}^* . The annihilator of a vector subspace \mathbb{U} of \mathbb{V} will be abbreviated to Ann(\mathbb{U}). The tensor product of \mathbb{V} and \mathbb{W} will be denoted $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}$, the *p*th exterior power of \mathbb{V} by $\wedge^p \mathbb{V}$, its *p*th symmetric power by $\bigcirc^p \mathbb{V}$.

If g is a non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form on \mathbb{V} , the orthogonal complement of a subspace \mathbb{U} of \mathbb{V} with respect to g will be denoted \mathbb{U}^{\perp} . The subspace of $\bigcirc^{p} \mathbb{V}$ consisting of elements that are trace-free with respect to g will be denoted by $\bigcirc^{p}_{\circ} \mathbb{V}$.

Let us assume that \mathbb{V} is complex and of dimension 2m. Under the Hodge duality operator $\star : \wedge^p \mathbb{V}^* \to \wedge^{2m-p} \mathbb{V}^*$, for p = 0, ..., 2m, the space $\wedge^m \mathbb{V}^*$ splits into the space of self-dual *m*-forms $\wedge^m_+ \mathbb{V}^*$ and the space of anti-self-dual *m*-forms $\wedge^m_- \mathbb{V}^*$, i.e.

$$\wedge^m \mathbb{V}^* = \wedge^m_+ \mathbb{V}^* \oplus \wedge^m_- \mathbb{V}^*,$$

where $\star \alpha = \pm (i) \alpha$ for any $\alpha \in \wedge_+^m \mathbb{V}^*$.

Suppose now that \mathbb{V} is real. The complexification $\mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{V} \cong \mathbb{V} \oplus i\mathbb{V}$ of \mathbb{V} will be denoted ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$. There is an induced reality structure, $\bar{}: {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V} \to {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$ on ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$, which preserves the elements of \mathbb{V} , i.e. for $v \in {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$, we have that $v \in \mathbb{V}$ if and only if $\bar{v} = v$. If \mathbb{A} is a vector subspace of ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$, its complex conjugate is defined by $\overline{\mathbb{A}} := \{v \in {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V} : \bar{v} \in \mathbb{A}\}$. We say that \mathbb{A} is (totally) real if $\overline{\mathbb{A}} = \mathbb{A}$.

Suppose now that \mathbb{V} has dimension 2m and is equipped with a complex structure J, that is an endomorphism of \mathbb{V} that squares to minus the identity on \mathbb{V} , i.e. $J \circ J = -\text{Id}$. Then

$$^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{V}=\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)}\oplus\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)},$$

where $\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)}$ and $\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)}$ are the +i- and -i-eigenspaces of J, respectively. These *m*-dimensional complex vector subspaces are complex conjugate to each other, i.e. $\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)} \cong \overline{\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)}}$. Similarly, we have a splitting of the dual space

$${}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{V}^* = (\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)})^* \oplus (\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)})^*,$$

and $(\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)})^* = \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)})$ and $(\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)})^* = \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)})$. For any non-negative integer p, q, the space of all (p, q)-forms on \mathbb{V} is defined to be

$$\wedge^{(p,q)}\mathbb{V}^* := \wedge^p (\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)})^* \otimes \wedge^q (\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)})^*.$$

Similarly, we define the spaces

where $\pi^{(3,0)}$ is the natural projection from $\wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}^*$ to $\wedge^{(3,0)} \mathbb{V}^*$. This notation reflects the Young diagram symmetries of this irreducible **GL**(*m*, **C**)-module, where **GL**(*m*, **C**) is the complex general linear group acting on $\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)} \cong \mathbf{C}^m$.

Since we are interested in real vector spaces, we also define, following the notation in [92],

$$\llbracket \wedge^{(p,q)} \mathbb{V}^* \rrbracket \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C} := \wedge^{(p,q)} \mathbb{V}^* \oplus \wedge^{(q,p)} \mathbb{V}^*, \quad p \neq q,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \wedge^{(p,p)} \mathbb{V}^* \end{bmatrix} \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C} := \wedge^{(p,p)} \mathbb{V}^*,$$
(3.2)

This notation will be extended in the obvious way to $\bigcirc^{(p,q)} \mathbb{V}^*$ and $\square(\mathbb{V}^*)$.

Finally, we shall consider a Hermitian vector space (\mathbb{V}, J, h) where J is a complex structure compatible with a positive-definite symmetric bilinear form h, i.e. $J \circ h = -h \circ J$. Then $\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)} \cong (\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)})^*$ and $\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)} \cong (\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)})^*$ so that $\mathbb{V}^{(1,0)}$ and $\mathbb{V}^{(0,1)}$ are totally null with respect to h. The Hermitian 2-form on \mathbb{V} is defined by $\omega = h \circ J$. For $pq \neq 0$, the subspace of $\wedge^{(p,q)}\mathbb{V}^*$ and $\bigcirc^{(p,q)}\mathbb{V}^*$ consisting of all (p,q)-forms that

are trace-free with respect to ω^{-1} or h^{-1} will be denoted $\wedge_{\circ}^{(p,q)} \mathbb{V}^*$ and $\bigcirc_{\circ}^{(p,q)} \mathbb{V}^*$, respectively. Note that $\wedge^{(1,1)} \mathbb{V}^* \cong \mathfrak{u}(m)$ and $\wedge_{\circ}^{(1,1)} \mathbb{V}^* \cong \mathfrak{su}(m)$, where $\mathfrak{u}(m)$ and $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ are the Lie algebras of the unitary group $\mathbf{U}(m)$ and special unitary group $\mathbf{SU}(m)$, respectively.

3.2 Linear algebra

3.2.1 Null structures

Let $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$ be a (2m + 2)-dimensional oriented complex vector space equipped with a non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form \widetilde{g} . We introduce abstract indices following the convention of [25]: minuscule Roman indices starting with the beginning of the alphabet a, b, c, \ldots will refer to elements of $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$ and its dual, and tensor products thereof, e.g. $v^a \in \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$ and $\alpha_a^b \in \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^* \otimes \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$. Round brackets and squared brackets enclosing a group of indices will denote symmetrisation and skew-symmetrisation, respectively, e.g.

$$T^{(ab)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(T^{ab} + T^{ba} \right), \quad \beta_{[abc]} = \frac{1}{3!} \left(\beta_{abc} - \beta_{acb} + \beta_{bca} - \beta_{bac} + \beta_{cab} - \beta_{cba} \right)$$

In particular, the symmetric bilinear form satisfies $\tilde{g}_{ab} = \tilde{g}_{(ab)}$, and together with its inverse \tilde{g}^{ab} , will be used to raise and lower indices. The trace-free (symmetric) part of a tensor with respect to \tilde{g} will be adorned with a small circle, e.g. either as $T_{(ab)_{\circ}}$ or $(T_{ab})_{\circ}$.

Definition 3.1 [9, 48, 63, 102] A null structure on $(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$ is a maximal totally null (MTN) vector subspace of $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$, i.e. $\mathbb{N} = \mathbb{N}^{\perp}$. In other words, $\widetilde{g}(v, w) = 0$ for any $v, w \in \mathbb{N}$, and \mathbb{N} has dimension m + 1.

A null structure \mathbb{N} on $(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$ singles out the one-dimensional vector subspace $\wedge^{m+1}\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbb{N})$ of $\wedge^{m+1}\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$. Any element ν of $\wedge^{m+1}\operatorname{Ann}(\mathbb{N})$ is then totally null, i.e. $\nu_{aa_1...a_m}\nu^a_{b_1...b_m} = 0$. In particular, ν satisfies the following properties:

- (1) v is simple, i.e. $v_{a_1...a_m[a_{m+1}v_{b_1...b_{m+1}}]} = 0.$
- (2) ν is either self-dual or anti-self-dual, i.e. either $\star \nu = (i)\nu$ or $\star \nu = -(i)\nu$.

Conversely, any self-dual or anti-self-dual simple (m + 1)-form ν must be totally null, and thus defines the MTN vector subspace

$$\mathbb{N} = \left\{ v \in \widetilde{\mathbb{V}} : v \sqcup v = 0 \right\}.$$

We shall therefore refer to a null structure \mathbb{N} as either self-dual or anti-self-dual depending on whether $\wedge^{m+1}Ann(\mathbb{N}) \subset \wedge^{m+1}_+ \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$ or $\wedge^{m+1}Ann(\mathbb{N}) \subset \wedge^{m+1}_- \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$.

The space of all MTN vector subspaces of $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$, i.e. null structures, is a complex homogeneous space of complex dimension $\frac{1}{2}m(m+1)$, referred to as the *isotropic Grassmannian* $\operatorname{Gr}_{m+1}(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$ of $(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$. This space splits into two disconnected components $\operatorname{Gr}_{m+1}^+(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$ and $\operatorname{Gr}_{m+1}^-(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$ according to whether their elements are self-dual or anti-self-dual. The complex Lie group SO(2m + 2, C) acts transitively on each of these components.

Remark 3.2 Any complement of \mathbb{N} in $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$ must be dual to \mathbb{N} and totally null with respect to \widetilde{g} , and we shall write $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}} = \mathbb{N}^* \oplus \mathbb{N}$, bearing in mind that in general such a splitting is not canonical. For consistency with the notation introduced subsequently, we shall assume with no loss of generality that \mathbb{N} is self-dual. In abstract index notation, elements of Ann(\mathbb{N}) will be adorned with lower Roman majuscule indices, and elements of \mathbb{N}^* with upper Roman majuscule indices, e.g. $\alpha_A \in \text{Ann}(\mathbb{N}) \cong \mathbb{N}$ and $v^A \in \mathbb{N}^* \cong \text{Ann}(\mathbb{N}^*)$. These indices will be immovable. We also introduce splitting operators (δ_A^a, δ^{aA}), that is, projections $\delta^{aA} : \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^* \to \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\delta_A^a : \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^* \to \mathbb{N}$ that satisfy $\delta_A^a \delta_B^a = \delta_A^B$. These will also be used to inject elements of \mathbb{N} and \mathbb{N}^* into $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$.

3.2.2 Robinson structures

Let \mathbb{V} be a (2m + 2)-dimensional real vector space equipped with a non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form g of (Lorentzian) signature (2m+1, 1), i.e. (+, +, ..., +, -). As is customary, we call (\mathbb{V}, g) Minkowski space. The abstract index notation introduced in the previous section will equally apply to (\mathbb{V}, g) .

Denote by ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$ the complexification of \mathbb{V} , and extend *g* to a non-degenerate complexvalued symmetric bilinear form ${}^{\mathbb{C}}g$ on ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$. By abuse of notation, we shall often denote ${}^{\mathbb{C}}g$ by *g*. The complexification $({}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}, {}^{\mathbb{C}}g)$ of (\mathbb{V}, g) thus gives rise to the complex space (\mathbb{V}, \tilde{g}) considered in the previous section, together with a reality condition. By extension, there is a well-defined notion of null structure on (\mathbb{V}, g) via $({}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}, {}^{\mathbb{C}}g)$. To make this idea more precise, we note that the complex conjugate $\overline{\mathbb{N}}$ of a MTN vector subspace \mathbb{N} on $({}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}, {}^{\mathbb{C}}g)$ is also MTN.

Definition 3.3 [48] The *real index* of a null structure \mathbb{N} on $(^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}, ^{\mathbb{C}}g)$ is the complex dimension of the intersection of \mathbb{N} and $\overline{\mathbb{N}}$.

Definition 3.4 A *Robinson structure* on Minkowski space (\mathbb{V}, g) of dimension 2m + 2 is a null structure \mathbb{N} of real index one on $({}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}, {}^{\mathbb{C}}g)$. We shall denote it by the pair (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) where

- (1) \mathbb{N} is an MTN vector subspace of $^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$ of real index one,
- (2) \mathbb{K} is the real null line $\mathbb{N} \cap \mathbb{V}$.

With this second condition, we have that ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{N} \cap \overline{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\mathbb{N} + \overline{\mathbb{N}} = {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K}^{\perp}$.

It turns out that the real Lie group SO(2m + 1, 1) also acts transitively on each of the connected spaces of MTN vector spaces of (^CV, ^Cg). In other words:

Lemma 3.5 [48] Let (V, g) be Minkowski space of dimension 2m + 2. A null structure on $(^{\mathbb{C}}V, ^{\mathbb{C}}g)$ always has real index one, and hence is a Robinson structure.

Remark 3.6 Note that (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) and $(\overline{\mathbb{N}}, \mathbb{K})$ define the same Robinson structure. Their Hodge duality is the same when *m* is even, but opposite when *m* is odd. We shall say that a Robinson structure (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) is (anti-)self-dual if \mathbb{N} is (anti-)self-dual. This entails

of course a preference of \mathbb{N} over $\overline{\mathbb{N}}$ when *m* is odd, but there is no ambiguity when *m* is even.

Any element v of \wedge^{m+1} Ann(\mathbb{N}) will be referred to as a *complex Robinson* (m + 1)-*form*. When *m* is even, if v is a self-dual, so are its complex conjugate \overline{v} and the real (m + 1)-form $v + \overline{v}$.

3.2.3 Robinson structures and optical structures

It is clear that a Robinson structure (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) on (\mathbb{V}, g) determines in particular an optical structure, namely \mathbb{K} , in the sense of [25]. We therefore have a filtration of vector subspaces

$$\{0\} \subset \mathbb{K} \subset \mathbb{K}^{\perp} \subset \mathbb{V},\tag{3.3}$$

and the screen space $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}} = \mathbb{K}^{\perp} / \mathbb{K}$ inherits a positive-definite symmetric bilinear form *h* given by

$$h(v + \mathbb{K}, w + \mathbb{K}) := g(v, w), \text{ for any } v, w \in \Gamma(\mathbb{K}^{\perp}).$$

Any element of \mathbb{K} will be referred to as an *optical vector*, and any element of Ann(\mathbb{K}) as an *optical 1-form*.

Now, define an endomorphism J of $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$ and its complexification ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$ by

$$J(v + {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K}) = -iv + {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K}, \text{ for any } v \in \mathbb{N},$$
$$J(v + {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K}) = iv + {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K}, \text{ for any } v \in \overline{\mathbb{N}}.$$

Then J is a complex structure on $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$, and $^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$ splits into the eigenspaces of J, i.e.

$${}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}} = \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(1,0)} \oplus \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(0,1)}, \tag{3.4}$$

where $\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K}} := \overline{\mathbb{N}}/^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K}$ and $\mathbb{H}^{(0,1)}_{\mathbb{K}} := \mathbb{N}/^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{K}$. These can be shown to be maximal totally null with respect to the bilinear form *h* on $^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}} = (\mathbb{N} + \overline{\mathbb{N}})/(\mathbb{N} \cap \overline{\mathbb{N}})$, and thus *J* is compatible with *h*, i.e. *J* is Hermitian [63].

Conversely, suppose that (\mathbb{V}, g) is equipped with an optical structure \mathbb{K} together with a complex structure J on the screen space $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$ compatible with h. Define

$$\mathbb{N} = \left\{ v \in {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K}^{\perp} : J(v + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K}) = -\mathrm{i}v + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K} \right\}.$$

Then \mathbb{N} has dimension m + 1, and is totally null. Indeed, for any $v, w \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$g(v, w) = h(v + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K}, w + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K})$$
$$= h(iJ(v + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K}), iJ(w + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K}))$$
$$= -h(v + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K}, w + {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{K})$$

🖄 Springer

$$=-g(v,w),$$

since $J \circ h = -h \circ J$, and thus g(v, w) = 0. The complex conjugate $\overline{\mathbb{N}}$ is defined analogously.

In abstract index notation, elements of $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$ and of its dual, and tensor product thereof, will be adorned with minuscule Roman indices starting from the middle of the alphabet i, j, k, \ldots . In particular, the screen space inner product and its inverse will be expressed as h_{ij} and h^{ij} , respectively, and will be used to lower and raise this type of indices. The complex structure and the Hermitian 2-form will take the form J_i^{j} and $\omega_{ij} := J_i^k h_{kj}$, respectively. As before, symmetrisation and skew-symmetrisation will be denoted by round and squared brackets around indices, respectively, and the trace-free part of a tensor with respect to h_{ij} will be adorned by a small circle.

We shall use upper and lower Greek indices to denote elements of $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(1,0)}$ and $(\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(1,0)})^*$, respectively, and upper and lower overlined Greek indices to denote elements of $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(0,1)}$ and $(\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(0,1)})^*$, respectively, e.g. $v^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(1,0)}$ and $\alpha_{\bar{\beta}} \in (\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(0,1)})^*$. As usual, symmetrisation and skew-symmetrisation will be denoted by round brackets and squared brackets, respectively. The Hermitian form on $^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$ will then be expressed as $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ and its inverse by $h^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$, which will be used to convert indices, i.e. $v_{\bar{\beta}} = v^{\alpha}h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ for any $v^{\alpha} \in \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}^{(1,0)}$. The totally trace-free part of a mixed tensor $T_{\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}}$, say, with respect to $h^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ will be denoted $(T_{\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}})_{\alpha}$.

We shall also introduce for convenience splitting operators $(\delta^i_{\alpha}, \delta^i_{\overline{\alpha}})$ on ${}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$, that is projections $\delta^i_{\alpha} : {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{H}^*_{\mathbb{K}} \to (\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K}})^*$ and $\delta^i_{\overline{\alpha}} : {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{H}^*_{\mathbb{K}} \to (\mathbb{H}^{(0,1)}_{\mathbb{K}})^*$ that satisfy

$$\delta^{i}_{\alpha}J_{i}{}^{j} = \mathrm{i}\delta^{j}_{\alpha}, \quad \delta^{i}_{\bar{\alpha}}J_{i}{}^{j} = -\mathrm{i}\delta^{j}_{\bar{\alpha}},$$
$$h_{ij}\delta^{i}_{\alpha}\delta^{i}_{\bar{\beta}} = h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}, \quad h_{ij}\delta^{i}_{\alpha}\delta^{j}_{\beta} = 0.$$

These will also be used to inject $\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K}}$ into ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$, and so on. Their dual versions $(\delta_i^{\alpha}, \delta_i^{\bar{\alpha}})$ can be obtained by raising and lowering the indices with h_{ij} and $h^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$. Thus, in particular, we can express h_{ij} and $\omega_{ij} = J_i{}^k h_{kj}$ as

$$\omega_{ij} = 2ih_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\delta^{\alpha}_{[i}\delta^{\bar{\beta}}_{j]}, \quad h_{ij} = 2h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\delta^{\alpha}_{(i}\delta^{\bar{\beta}}_{j)}.$$

Remark 3.7 From the discussion above, it is also conceptually useful to start with an optical structure \mathbb{K} on (\mathbb{V}, g) , and declare a null or Robinson structure on (\mathbb{V}, g) be *compatible* with \mathbb{K} if $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{V} \cap \mathbb{N}$. In dimension four, there is a single Robinson structure (up to complex conjugation) compatible with an optical structure, but this is not true in higher dimensions—see Remark 3.14.

3.2.4 Splitting

As before let (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) be a Robinson structure on Minkowski space (\mathbb{V}, g) . Any choice of splitting

$$^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{V}=\mathbb{N}^{*}\oplus\mathbb{N},\tag{3.5}$$

for some choice of dual \mathbb{N}^* induces a splitting of the filtration (3.3) as

$$\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{L} \oplus \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}} \oplus \mathbb{K},\tag{3.6}$$

where

$$\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{N} \cap \mathbb{V} = \overline{\mathbb{N}} \cap \mathbb{V}, \quad \mathbb{L} := \mathbb{N}^* \cap \mathbb{V} = \overline{\mathbb{N}}^* \cap \mathbb{V},$$
$$\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}} := \mathbb{K}^{\perp} \cap \mathbb{L}^{\perp}.$$

In particular, \mathbb{L} is a null line dual to \mathbb{K} . Note that $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}}$ is isomorphic to the screen space $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$, but this isomorphism depends on the choice of \mathbb{L} . Further, in complete analogy with (3.4), we obtain the splitting

$$^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}} = \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}}^{(1,0)} \oplus \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}}^{(0,1)}, \tag{3.7}$$

where

$$\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}} := \overline{\mathbb{N}} \cap {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}} = \overline{\mathbb{N}} \cap \mathbb{N}^{*}, \qquad \mathbb{H}^{(0,1)}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}} := \mathbb{N} \cap {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}} = \mathbb{N} \cap \overline{\mathbb{N}}^{*}.$$

We note that $\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K}} \cong \mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}}$ and $\mathbb{H}^{(0,1)}_{\mathbb{K}} \cong \mathbb{H}^{(0,1)}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}}$, but these isomorphisms depend on the choice of \mathbb{N}^*

We introduce splitting operators $(\ell^a, \delta_i^a, k^a)$ with dual $(\kappa_a, \delta_a^i, \lambda_a)$ adapted to (3.6), where k^a and ℓ^a are elements in \mathbb{K} and in \mathbb{L} , respectively, such that $g_{ab}k^a\ell^b = 1$, and δ_i^a projects from \mathbb{V}^* to $\mathbb{H}^*_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}}$ and satisfies $g_{ab}\delta_i^a\delta_j^b = h_{ij}$. Any change of splitting which preserves k^a induces the transformations

$$k^a \mapsto k^a, \qquad \delta^a_i \mapsto \delta^a_i + \phi_i k^a, \qquad \ell^a \mapsto \ell^a - \phi^i \delta^a_i - \frac{1}{2} \phi^i \phi_i k^a, \qquad (3.8)$$

for some ϕ_i in $(\mathbf{R}^{2m})^*$, and similarly for their duals.

Finally, combining the splitting operators $(\ell^a, \delta^a_i, k^a)$ and $(\delta^i_{\alpha}, \delta^i_{\overline{\alpha}})$ yield new ones $(\ell^a, \delta^a_{\alpha}, \delta^a_{\overline{\alpha}}, k^a)$ where $\delta^a_{\alpha} := \delta^a_i \delta^i_{\alpha}$ projects from ^C \mathbb{V}^* to $(\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}})^*$. We naturally obtain dual splitting operators $(\kappa_a, \delta^a_{\alpha}, \delta^{\overline{\alpha}}_a, \lambda_a)$. In terms of the splitting operators (δ^a_A, δ^A_a) , we have $\lambda_a \delta^a_A = \delta^{\overline{\alpha}}_a \delta^A_a = 0$ and $k^a \delta^A_a = \delta^a_{\overline{\alpha}} \delta^A_a = 0$, and we may define further splitting operators $\delta^A_{\alpha} := \delta^A_a \delta^a_{\alpha}$ projecting from \mathbb{N} to $(\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}})^*$, and $\delta^{\alpha}_A := \delta^a_A \delta^a_a$ from \mathbb{N}^* to $(\mathbb{H}^{(1,0)}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}})$. One may similarly define $\delta^{A\overline{\alpha}}$ and $\delta_{A\overline{\alpha}}$.

3.2.5 Robinson 3-forms

For any choice of splitting operators (κ_a , δ_a^i , ℓ_a), and recalling that ω_{ij} is the Hermitian form on $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$, we set $\omega_{ab} = \omega_{ij} \delta_a^i \delta_b^j$ and define

$$\rho_{abc} := 3 \kappa_{[a} \omega_{bc]}. \tag{3.9}$$

By Lemma 3.1 of [25], the definition of ρ_{abc} depends only on the choice of optical 1-form κ_a , and not on the choice of δ_i^a and λ_a . One can check that the 3-form ρ_{abc} satisfies

$$\rho_{ab}{}^e \rho_{cde} = -4 \kappa_{[a} g_{b][c} \kappa_{d]}. \tag{3.10}$$

We shall refer to such a 3-form as a *Robinson 3-form* (*associated to the optical* 1-form κ_a).

Conversely, let ρ_{abc} be a 3-form that satisfies the algebraic property (3.10) for some null 1-form κ_a . Then, one can check that $\kappa_{[a}\rho_{bcd]} = 0$ and $k^a\rho_{abc} = 0$. To prove $\kappa_{[a}\rho_{bcd]} = 0$, we skew (3.10) with κ_a to get $\kappa_{[a}\rho_{bc]}{}^f\rho_{def} = 0$. Now contracting with $\rho^e{}_{gh}$ and using (3.10) again yields $\kappa_{[a}\rho_{bc]}{}^f\rho_{abc} = 0$, and the result follows by skewing over the first four indices. That $k^a\rho_{abc} = 0$ can be proved in a similar fashion. Hence, we can apply Lemma 3.1 of [25], and setting $\omega_{ij} = \ell^a \delta^b_i \delta^c_j \rho_{abc}$ for any choice of splitting operators (ℓ^a , δ^a_i , k^a) where $\kappa_a \ell^b = 1$, we see that ω_{ij} is the required Hermitian form on $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$ up to sign. This sign can be fixed so that if $k^a = g^{ab}\kappa_b$,

$$v^c \rho_c{}^{ab} = -2iv^{[a}k^{b]}, \text{ for any } v^a \in \mathbb{N},$$

 $w^c \rho_c{}^{ab} = 2iw^{[a}k^{b]}, w^a \in \overline{\mathbb{N}}.$

Remark 3.8 In low dimensions, we note the following:

- In dimension four, ρ_{bcd} is the Hodge dual of κ_a , i.e. $\kappa = \star \rho$. This reflects the fact that an optical structure is equivalent to a Robinson structure.
- In dimension six, the 3-form ρ_{abc} defined above can be either self-dual or antiself-dual under Hodge duality, consistent with the fact that the complex conjugate $\overline{\mathbb{N}}$ of a MTN vector space \mathbb{N} has the same Hodge duality as \mathbb{N} in this case—see Remark 3.6.

3.2.6 Robinson spinors

We proceed to describe a Robinson structure in terms of spinors following the treatment of [9, 10, 13, 48, 49, 77, 102].

We first consider a (2m + 2)-dimensional complex vector space $(\tilde{\mathbb{V}}, \tilde{g})$ equipped with a non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form. The double cover **Spin** $(2m + 2, \mathbb{C})$ of **SO** $(2m + 2, \mathbb{C})$ allows us to define the spinor representation \mathbb{S} of $(\tilde{\mathbb{V}}, \tilde{g})$, which splits into a direct sum of two 2^m -dimensional irreducible chiral spin spaces \mathbb{S}_+ and \mathbb{S}_- , the spaces of spinors of positive and negative chiralities, respectively. Following the notation of [107], elements of \mathbb{S}_+ and \mathbb{S}_- will be adorned with bold primed and unprimed majuscule Roman indices, respectively, e.g. $\alpha^{\mathbf{A}'} \in \mathbb{S}_+$ and $\beta^{\mathbf{A}} \in \mathbb{S}_-$, and similarly for the dual spin spaces \mathbb{S}^*_{\pm} with lower indices. The spin space \mathbb{S} is also equipped with **Spin**(2m + 2, **C**)-invariant bilinear forms, which allow the following identifications:

$$\frac{m \text{ odd } m \text{ even}}{\mathbb{S}_{\pm} \cong \mathbb{S}_{\pm}^* | \mathbb{S}_{\pm} \cong \mathbb{S}_{\mp}^* } (3.11)$$

The *Clifford action* of $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$ on \mathbb{S} is effected by means of the *van der Waerden symbols* $\gamma_{a\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{B}'}$ and $\gamma_{a\mathbf{A}'}^{\mathbf{B}}$, injective maps from \mathbb{V} to the space of homomorphisms Hom($\mathbb{S}_{\pm}, \mathbb{S}_{\mp}$). These satisfy the Clifford property

$$\gamma_{(a\mathbf{A}'}{}^{\mathbf{C}}\gamma_{b)\mathbf{C}}{}^{\mathbf{B}'} = g_{ab}\delta_{\mathbf{A}'}^{\mathbf{B}'}, \quad \gamma_{(a_{\mathbf{A}}}{}^{\mathbf{C}'}\gamma_{b)\mathbf{C}'}{}^{\mathbf{B}} = g_{ab}\delta_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{B}}, \tag{3.12}$$

where $\delta_{\mathbf{A}'}^{\mathbf{B}'}$ and $\delta_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{B}}$ denote the identity elements on \mathbb{S}_+ and \mathbb{S}_- , respectively. Let $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ be a spinor, and consider the linear map $v_a^{\mathbf{A}} := v^{\mathbf{B}'} \gamma_{a\mathbf{B}'}^{\mathbf{A}} : \widetilde{\mathbb{V}} \to \mathbb{S}_-$. Denote by \mathbb{N} the kernel of $v_a^{\mathbf{A}}$. By (3.12), \mathbb{N} must be totally null. We say that $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ is *pure* if \mathbb{N} has maximal dimension m + 1, i.e. \mathbb{N} is a null structure on $(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$. Any spinor proportional to $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ defines the same null structure. More generally, Cartan showed [13] that there is a one-to-one correspondence between null structures on $(\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}, \widetilde{g})$ and pure spinors up to scale. Further, self-dual null structures correspond to pure spinors of positive chirality, and anti-self-dual null structures to pure spinors of negative chirality. The components of a pure spinor are algebraically constrained [13]. Indeed, a spinor $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ is pure if and only if it satisfies the *purity condition* [41, 77, 104]

$$\nu_a^{\mathbf{A}}\nu^{a\mathbf{B}} = 0. \tag{3.13}$$

When m = 0, 1, 2, conditions (3.13) is vacuous, i.e. all spinors are pure. A self-dual null structure \mathbb{N} thus singles out a one-dimensional vector subspace $\mathbb{S}^{\mathbb{N}}_+$ of \mathbb{S}_+ , any element $\nu^{\mathbf{A}'}$ of which satisfies (3.13).

Note that the image of $v_a^{\mathbf{A}}$ is isomorphic to $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}/\mathbb{N}$, and thus to any choice of complement \mathbb{N}^* of \mathbb{N} in $\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}$. More precisely, we have injective linear maps $\delta_A^{\mathbf{A}} := \delta_A^a v_a^{\mathbf{A}}$ from \mathbb{N}^* to \mathbb{S}_- , and $\delta_{\mathbf{A}}^A$ from \mathbb{N} to \mathbb{S}_-^* such that $\delta_A^{\mathbf{C}} \delta_{\mathbf{C}}^B = \delta_A^B$. Hence, by means of these, we can express a 1-form α_a in Ann(\mathbb{N}) in the form $\alpha_a = v_a^{\mathbf{A}} \alpha_{\mathbf{A}}$ where $\alpha_{\mathbf{A}} = \delta_{\mathbf{A}}^B \delta_B^c \alpha_c$.

The van der Waerden symbols generate the *Clifford algebra* $\mathcal{C}\ell(\widetilde{\mathbb{Y}}, \widetilde{g})$ of $(\widetilde{\mathbb{Y}}, \widetilde{g})$, which, by virtue of (3.12), is isomorphic to the exterior algebra $\wedge^{\bullet}\widetilde{\mathbb{Y}} \cong \wedge^{\bullet}\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$ as a vector space. The Clifford algebra is also a matrix algebra isomorphic to the space of endomorphisms of \mathbb{S} . These two properties allow us to construct invariant bilinear forms on \mathbb{S} with values in $\wedge^k \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$ for $k = 0, \ldots, m + 1$. The case k = 0 yields the spin inner products implicitly used in (3.11). Depending on the values of m and k, these forms restrict to non-degenerate forms on either $\mathbb{S}_{\pm} \times \mathbb{S}_{\mp}$ or $\mathbb{S}_{\pm} \times \mathbb{S}_{\pm}$. Of relevance

to the present article are the cases k = 1, 3, m + 1. For k = 1, 3, we have

m odd	<i>m</i> even	
$\gamma_{a\mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}}: \mathbb{S}_+ \times \mathbb{S} \to \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$	$\gamma_{a\mathbf{AB}}: \mathbb{S}_+ \times \mathbb{S}_+ \to \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$	
$\gamma_{a\mathbf{A}\mathbf{B}'}:\mathbb{S}_{-}\times\mathbb{S}_{+}\to\overline{\mathbb{V}}^{*}$	$\gamma_{a\mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}'}:\mathbb{S}_{-}\times\mathbb{S}_{-}\to\overline{\mathbb{V}}^*$	(3.14)
$\boxed{\gamma_{abc\mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}}:\mathbb{S}_+\times\mathbb{S}\to\wedge^3\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*}$	$ \gamma_{abc\mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}'}:\mathbb{S}_+\times\mathbb{S}_+\to\wedge^3\widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$	
$\gamma_{abc\mathbf{AB}'}: \mathbb{S}_+ \times \mathbb{S} \to \wedge^3 \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$	$\gamma_{abc\mathbf{AB}}: \mathbb{S}_+ \times \mathbb{S}_+ \to \wedge^3 \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$	

For k = m + 1, regardless of whether m is odd or even, we have the following two bilinear forms

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_{a_0\dots a_m \mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}'} &: \mathbb{S}_+ \times \mathbb{S}_+ \to \wedge_+^{m+1} \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*, \\ \gamma_{a_0\dots a_m \mathbf{A}\mathbf{B}} &: \mathbb{S}_- \times \mathbb{S}_- \to \wedge_-^{m+1} \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*, \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.15)$$

where we recall $\wedge_{+}^{m+1} \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$ are the self-dual and anti-self-dual parts of $\wedge^{m+1} \widetilde{\mathbb{V}}^*$.

For specificity, we assume that \mathbb{N} is a self-dual null structure, the argument being the same for an anti-self-dual one. Then the restriction of the first display of (3.15) to $\mathbb{S}^{\mathbb{N}}_+$ yields the isomorphism $\mathbb{S}^{\mathbb{N}}_+ \otimes \mathbb{S}^{\mathbb{N}}_+ \cong \wedge^{m+1} \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbb{N})$. We can thus think of $\mathbb{S}^{\mathbb{N}}_+$ as a square root of $\wedge^{m+1} \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbb{N})$.

At this stage, we return to the real picture by consider (2m + 2)-dimensional Minkowski space (\mathbb{V}, g) . We can then apply all the facts outlined above to the complexification $({}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}, {}^{\mathbb{C}}g)$ of (\mathbb{V}, g) . In addition, the real structure on ${}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}$ preserving \mathbb{V} induces an antilinear map on \mathbb{S} , which interchanges the chiralities of spinors when m is odd, and preserve them when m is even. The image of a spinor under this antilinear map is referred to as the *charge conjugate* of that spinor. Thus, the charge conjugate of a spinor $v^{\mathbf{A}'} \in \mathbb{S}_+$ will be denoted $\overline{v}^{\mathbf{A}}$ when m is odd, and $\overline{v}^{\mathbf{A}'} \in \mathbb{S}_+$ when m is even.³ Moreover, if $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ is pure so is its charge conjugate. We define the *real index* of a pure spinor to be the real index of its associated null structure [48]. In particular, if g has Lorentzian signature, all pure spinor have real index one. A Robinson structure (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) can thus be defined by a pure spinor up to scale. We shall refer to any such spinor as a *Robinson spinor*.

The pure spinor $v^{A'}$ and its charge conjugate can be paired using the spinor bilinear forms to obtain invariants of the Robinson structure as shown in [13, 48]. These are listed below:

m odd	<i>m</i> even	
$\kappa_a = \gamma_{a\mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}} v^{\mathbf{A}'} \overline{v}^{\mathbf{B}}$	$\kappa_a = \gamma_{a\mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}'} \nu^{\mathbf{A}'} \overline{\nu}^{\mathbf{B}'}$	
$\rho_{abc} = i\gamma_{abcA'B}\nu^{A'}\overline{\nu}^{B}$	$\rho_{abc} = i\gamma_{abcA'B'}\nu^{A'}\overline{\nu}^{B'}$	(3.16)
$\overline{\nu_{a_0a_m}} = \gamma_{a_0a_m \mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}'} \nu^{\mathbf{A}'} \nu^{\mathbf{B}'}$	$v_{a_0a_m} = \gamma_{a_0a_m \mathbf{A}'\mathbf{B}'} v^{\mathbf{A}'} v^{\mathbf{B}'}$	
$\overline{\nu}_{a_0a_m} = \gamma_{a_0a_m \mathbf{A}\mathbf{B}} \overline{\nu}^{\mathbf{A}} \overline{\nu}^{\mathbf{B}}$	$\overline{\nu}_{a_0a_m} = \gamma_{a_0a_m \mathbf{A}' \mathbf{B}'} \overline{\nu}^{\mathbf{A}'} \overline{\nu}^{\mathbf{B}'}$	

³ Using the isomorphisms (3.11), the charge conjugate of a spinor $v^{\mathbf{A}'} \in \mathbb{S}_+$ can always be identified with $\overline{v}_{\mathbf{A}} \in \mathbb{S}_+^*$ regardless of the parity of *m*.

With these definitions, ρ_{abc} is the Robinson 3-form associated to the optical 1-form κ_a , i.e. these satisfy (3.10), and $\nu_{a_0...a_m}$ is a complex Robinson (m + 1)-form. Forms of odd degrees can be constructed in a similar way. Details can be found in [48].

Remark 3.9 Clearly, any given optical 1-form or Robinson 3-form is defined by a Robinson spinor up to a phase, and a given complex Robinson (m + 1)-form by a Robinson spinor up to a sign. To see this we note that, under the transformation $\nu^{\mathbf{A}'} \mapsto z\nu^{\mathbf{A}'}$, for any non-zero complex number *z*, the charge conjugate of $\nu^{\mathbf{A}'}$ gets multiplied by \bar{z} , and the forms defined in (3.16) transform as

 $\kappa_a \mapsto r\kappa_a, \qquad \rho_{abc} \mapsto r\rho_{abc}, \qquad \nu_{a_0...a_m} \mapsto z^2 \nu_{a_0...a_m},$

where $|z| = r \in \mathbf{R}_{>0}$.

Remark 3.10 Any choice of splitting (3.5) of ^C \mathbb{V} is equivalent to choosing a onedimensional subspace of \mathbb{S}^*_+ consisting of pure spinors dual to $\mathbb{S}^{\mathbb{N}}_+$. Elements thereof annihilate \mathbb{N}^* .

3.2.7 Characterisations of Robinson structures

We summarise the findings of the previous section in the following proposition.

Proposition 3.11 Let (V, g) be Minkowski space of dimension 2m + 2. The following statements are equivalent.

- (1) (\mathbb{V}, g) is equipped with a Robinson structure (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) .
- (2) (\mathbb{V}, g) is equipped with a totally null complex (m + 1)-form.
- (3) (\mathbb{V}, g) is equipped with an optical structure \mathbb{K} whose screenspace $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}} = \mathbb{K}^{\perp}/\mathbb{K}$ is endowed with a complex structure J_i^{j} compatible with the induced metric h_{ii} .
- (4) (\mathbb{V} , g) admits a 1-form κ_a and 3-form ρ_{abc} satisfying

$$\rho_{ab}{}^{e}\rho_{cde} = -4\kappa_{[a}g_{b][c}\kappa_{d]}.$$

(5) (\mathbb{V}, g) admits a pure spinor of real index 1.

Remark 3.12 In Proposition 3.11, the 1-form κ_a and the 3-form ρ_{abc} are defined up to an overall real factor, while the pure spinor is defined up to an overall complex factor as explained in Remark 3.9.

3.3 The stabiliser of a Robinson structure

There are two approaches to describe the stabiliser of a Robinson structure (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{K}) :

- (1) From its definition, it suffices to consider the respective stabilisers *R* and *R* of N and N in SO(2*m* + 2, C). The stabiliser of a Robinson structure is then the intersection *R* ∩ *R* ∩ SO⁰(2*m* + 1, 1).
- (2) We characterise a Robinson structure as an optical structure together with a Hermitian structure on the screen space to derive its stabiliser Q as a closed Lie subgroup of the stabiliser P of \mathbb{K} in $G = \mathbf{SO}^0(2m + 1, 1)$.

For the present purpose, it will be more useful to use the second approach. We shall assume that \mathbb{K} is oriented so that the stabiliser of \mathbb{K} together with its orientation is

$$P = \mathbf{Sim}^{0}(2m) = \mathbf{CO}^{0}(2m) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^{*} = (\mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{SO}(2m)) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^{*}$$

Note that $\mathbf{CO}^0(2m)$ acts on the screen space $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}} = \mathbb{K}^{\perp}/\mathbb{K}$ as $\mathbf{SO}(2m)$ does, that is, $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ acts trivially on $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$. The nilpotent part of P will be denoted P_+ . Choose a semi-null frame $(e_0, e_1, \ldots, e_n, e_{n+1})$ and dual coframe $(\theta^0, \theta^1, \ldots, \theta^n, \theta^{n+1})$ where by convention $K = \operatorname{span}(e_{n+1})$ and $K^{\perp} = \operatorname{Ann}(\theta^0)$. Then, since $Q \subset P$ is required to stabilise in addition a Hermitian structure on $\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K}}$, we obtain that

$$Q = (\mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{U}(m)) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^*,$$

=
$$\begin{cases} (\mathbf{e}^{\varphi}, \psi, \phi) := \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{e}^{\varphi} & 0 & 0 \\ -\mathbf{e}^{\varphi} \iota(\psi) \phi^\top \iota(\psi) & 0 \\ -\frac{\mathbf{e}^{\varphi}}{2} \phi \phi^\top & \phi & \mathbf{e}^{-\varphi} \end{pmatrix} \mid \substack{\varphi \in \mathbf{R}, \\ \psi \in \mathbf{U}(m), \\ \phi \in (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^* \end{cases}$$

where we have used the standard embedding $\iota : \mathbf{U}(m) \to \mathbf{SO}(2m)$. The reductive part $\mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{U}(m)$ of Q will be denoted Q_0 . Clearly, P_+ is also the nilpotent part of Q.

To describe the Lie algebra q of Q, we shall refer to the notation already introduced in [25]. Setting $\mathbb{V}^1 = \mathbb{V}_1 = \mathbb{K}$, $\mathbb{V}^0 = \mathbb{K}^{\perp}$, we have a filtration of *P*-modules

$$\{0\} =: \mathbb{V}^2 \subset \mathbb{V}^1 \subset \mathbb{V}^0 \subset \mathbb{V}^{-1} := \mathbb{V}, \tag{3.17}$$

which we shall conveniently split into a direct sum of P_0 -modules,

$$\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{V}_{-1} \oplus \mathbb{V}_0 \oplus \mathbb{V}_1, \tag{3.18}$$

where $P_0 = \mathbb{CO}^0(2m)$ is the reductive part of P. For each i = -1, 0, 1, we have $\mathbb{V}_i \cong \mathbb{V}^i / \mathbb{V}^{i+1}$ as vector spaces. In terms of our earlier notation $\mathbb{V}_{-1} = \mathbb{L}$ and $\mathbb{V}_0 = \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{L}}$.

Recall from [25] that the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g} \cong \wedge^2 \mathbb{V}^*$ of $G = \mathbf{SO}^0(n+1, 1)$ can then be expressed as a direct sum of P_0 -modules

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_{-1} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_1, \tag{3.19}$$

where $\mathfrak{g}_{\pm 1} \cong \mathbb{V}_{\pm 1}^* \otimes \mathbb{V}_0^*$ and $\mathfrak{g}_0 \cong (\mathbb{V}_{-1}^* \otimes \mathbb{V}_1^*) \oplus \wedge^2 \mathbb{V}_0^*$. Note that $\mathbb{V}_{-1}^* \otimes \mathbb{V}_1^*$ is the one-dimensional centre \mathfrak{z}_0 of \mathfrak{g}_0 .

Now, the complex structure splits ${}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{V}_0$ and its dual as

$${}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{V}_{0} = \mathbb{V}_{0}^{(1,0)} \oplus \mathbb{V}_{0}^{(0,1)}, \qquad {}^{\mathbf{C}}\mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} = (\mathbb{V}_{0}^{(1,0)})^{*} \oplus (\mathbb{V}_{0}^{(0,1)})^{*}, \qquad (3.20)$$

where $\mathbb{V}_0^{(1,0)} := \overline{\mathbb{N}} \cap {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}_0$ and $\mathbb{V}_0^{(0,1)} := \mathbb{N} \cap {}^{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{V}_0$. Writing

$$\mathbb{V}^{*} = \mathbb{V}_{-1}^{*} \oplus \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} \rrbracket \oplus \mathbb{V}_{1}^{*}, \qquad (3.21)$$

Deringer

we find that the summands in the P_0 -invariant decomposition of \mathfrak{g} given in (3.19) split further into irreducible Q_0 -modules:

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\pm 1} = \mathbb{V}_{\pm 1}^* \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket,$$

$$\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{z}_0 \oplus \left(\operatorname{span}(\omega) \oplus \llbracket \wedge^{(1,1)}_{\circ} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \oplus \llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \right),$$
(3.22)

where we recall that ω is the Hermitian 2-form on \mathbb{V}_0 . We identify the Lie algebra \mathfrak{q}_0 of Q_0 as the Lie subalgebra

$$\mathfrak{q}_0 = \mathfrak{z}_0 \oplus \operatorname{span}(\omega) \oplus [\wedge_{\circ}^{(1,1)} \mathbb{V}_0^*],$$

which can be seen to be isomorphic to $\mathbf{R} \oplus \mathfrak{u}(m)$. In addition, the Lie algebra q of the stabiliser Q of the Robinson structure is given by

$$\mathfrak{q} := \mathfrak{z}_0 \oplus \left(\operatorname{span}(\omega) \oplus \left[\wedge_{\circ}^{(1,1)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \right] \right) \oplus \left(\mathbb{V}_1^* \otimes \left[\!\!\left[\wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \right] \!\!\right] \right).$$
(3.23)

As expected, $q_0 = g_0 \cap q$.

Remark 3.13 In low dimensions, we note the following points:

- In dimension four, we have that $\mathfrak{p} \cong \mathfrak{q}$, i.e. an optical structure is a Robinson structure.
- In dimension six, the semi-simple part Λ² V₀^{*} of g₀ splits into a self-dual part and an anti-self-dual part. More explicitly, su⁺(2) = span(ω) ⊕ [[Λ^(2,0) V₀^{*}]] and su⁻(2) = [Λ₀^(1,1) V₀^{*}], where su[±](2) are isomorphic to two copies of su(2).

Remark 3.14 Clearly, the space of all (oriented) self-dual Robinson structures on (\mathbb{V}, g) is isomorphic to $\mathbf{SO}^0(2m + 1, 1)/Q$. It corresponds to the isotropic Grassmannian $\mathrm{Gr}_{m+1}^+(\mathbb{V}, g)$ of self-dual MTN planes in (\mathbb{V}, g) and has real dimension m(m + 1).

In addition, for a given optical structure \mathbb{K} on (\mathbb{V}, g) , the space of all (oriented) selfdual Robinson structures compatible with \mathbb{K} is isomorphic to $P/Q \cong \mathbf{SO}(2m)/\mathbf{U}(m)$, which has real dimension m(m-1). It will be denoted $\operatorname{Gr}_{m+1}^+(\mathbb{V}, g, \mathbb{K})$.

3.4 One-dimensional representations of Q

For any $w \in \mathbf{R}$, we define the one-dimensional representations $\mathbf{R}(w)$ and $\mathbf{C}(w, 0)$ of Q on \mathbf{R} of weight w and on \mathbf{C} of weight (w, 0) by

$$(e^{\varphi}, \psi, \phi) \cdot r = e^{w\varphi}r, \text{ for any } r \in \mathbf{R},$$

 $(e^{\varphi}, \psi, \phi) \cdot z = (e^{\varphi} \det A)^{w}z, \text{ for any } z \in \mathbf{C}.$

We also define $C(0, w) := \overline{C(w, 0)}$. One can check that

$$\mathbf{R}(-1) \cong \mathbb{K}, \quad \mathbf{C}(-1,0) \cong \wedge^{m+1} \operatorname{Ann}(\mathbb{N}), \quad \mathbf{C}(0,-1) \cong \wedge^{m+1} \operatorname{Ann}(\overline{\mathbb{N}}).$$

These leads to the one-dimensional representations $\mathbf{C}(w, w') := \mathbf{C}(w, 0) \otimes \mathbf{C}(0, w')$ for any real w, w'. We also note $\mathbf{C} \otimes \mathbf{R}(w) \cong \mathbf{C}(w, w)$ for any real w, and $\mathbf{R}(w) \otimes \mathbf{R}(w') \cong \mathbf{R}(w+w')$ for any real w, w', and similarly for the complex representations.

3.5 Space $\mathbb G$ of algebraic intrinsic torsions

Let us now consider the *Q*-module $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{V}^* \otimes (\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{q})$. We treat only the case m > 1 since for m = 1, we have Q = P, which is already dealt with [25].

Theorem 3.15 Assume m > 1. The *Q*-module $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{V}^* \otimes (\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{q})$ admits a filtration

$$\mathbb{G}^1 \subset \mathbb{G}^0 \subset \mathbb{G}^{-1} \subset \mathbb{G}^{-2} \tag{3.24}$$

of Q-modules $\mathbb{G}^i := (\mathbb{V}^*)^{i+1} \otimes (\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{q})$ for i = -2, -1, 0. The summands of its associated graded Q-module

$$\operatorname{gr}(\mathbb{G}) = \operatorname{gr}_{-2}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_{-1}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_0(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_1(\mathbb{G}),$$

where, for each i = -2, -1, 0, $\operatorname{gr}_i(\mathbb{G}) = \mathbb{G}^i/\mathbb{G}^{i+1}$, and $\operatorname{gr}_1(\mathbb{G}) = \mathbb{G}^1$, decompose into direct sums of irreducible *Q*-modules $\operatorname{gr}_i^{j,k}(\mathbb{G})$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{gr}_{-2}(\mathbb{G}) &= \mathrm{gr}_{-2}^{0,0}(\mathbb{G}), \\ \mathrm{gr}_{-1}(\mathbb{G}) &= \mathrm{gr}_{-1}^{0,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \left(\mathrm{gr}_{-1}^{1,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \mathrm{gr}_{-1}^{1,1}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \mathrm{gr}_{-1}^{1,2}(\mathbb{G})\right) \\ & \oplus \left(\mathrm{gr}_{-1}^{2,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \mathrm{gr}_{-1}^{2,1}(\mathbb{G})\right) \oplus \mathrm{gr}_{-1}^{3,0}, \\ \mathrm{gr}_{0}(\mathbb{G}) &= \mathrm{gr}_{0}^{0,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \left(\mathrm{gr}_{0}^{1,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \mathrm{gr}_{0}^{1,1}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \mathrm{gr}_{0}^{1,2}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \mathrm{gr}_{0}^{1,3}(\mathbb{G})\right), \\ \mathrm{gr}_{1}(\mathbb{G}) &= \mathrm{gr}_{1}^{0,0}(\mathbb{G}), \end{split}$$

where, for each *i*, *j*, *k*, the *Q*-module $\operatorname{gr}_{i}^{j,k}(\mathbb{G})$ is isomorphic to the Q_0 -module $\mathbb{G}_{i}^{j,k}$ as given in Table 1. Note that $\operatorname{gr}_{0}^{1,1}(\mathbb{G})$ and $\operatorname{gr}_{0}^{1,3}(\mathbb{G})$ do not occur when m = 2.

Proof We use the same strategy as in Proposition 3.3 of [25]: the filtration (3.17) induces the filtration (3.24) of *Q*-modules on $\mathbb{G} \subset \mathbb{V}^* \otimes (\mathfrak{g}^{-1}/\mathfrak{g}^1)$. We proceed as before using the decompositions (3.21), (3.22) and (3.23) to find

$$\mathbb{G} \cong \left(\mathbb{V}_{-1}^* \oplus \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \oplus \mathbb{V}_1^* \right) \otimes \left(\left(\mathbb{V}_{-1}^* \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \right) \oplus \llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \right).$$

The result follows by distributing this expression and splitting each summand into irreducibles:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{V}_{-1}^* \otimes \mathbb{V}_{-1}^* \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket &= \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{0,0}, \\ \mathbb{V}_{-1}^* \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket &= \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \end{split}$$

Q_0 -module	Description	Dimension
$\mathbb{G}^{0,0}_{-2}$	$\mathbb{V}_0^* \otimes \mathbf{R}(2)$	2m
$\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0}$	R (1)	1
$\mathbb{G}^{1,0}_{-1}$	R (1)	1
$\mathbb{G}^{1,1}_{-1}$	$\llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \otimes \mathbf{R}(1)$	m(m - 1)
$\mathbb{G}^{1,2}_{-1}$	$[\wedge^{(1,1)}_{\circ}\mathbb{V}^*_0]\otimes \mathbf{R}(1)$	(m+1)(m-1)
$\mathbb{G}^{2,0}_{-1}$	$[\wedge^{(1,1)}_{\circ}\mathbb{V}^*_0]\otimes \mathbf{R}(1)$	(m+1)(m-1)
$\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,1}$	$\llbracket \odot^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \otimes \mathbf{R}(1)$	m(m + 1)
$\mathbb{G}^{3,0}_{-1}$	$\llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \otimes \mathbf{R}(1)$	m(m - 1)
$\mathbb{G}_0^{0,0}$	\mathbb{V}_0^*	2 <i>m</i>
$\mathbb{G}_0^{1,0}$	$[[\wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^*]]$	2 <i>m</i>
$\mathbb{G}_0^{1,1}$	$[[\wedge^{(3,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^*]]$	$\frac{1}{3}m(m-1)(m-2)$
$\mathbb{G}_0^{1,2}$	$\llbracket \oplus \mathbb{V}_0^* rbracket$	$\frac{2}{3}m(m+1)(m-1)$
$\mathbb{G}_0^{1,3}$	$[[\wedge^{(1,2)}_{\circ}\mathbb{V}^*_0]]$	m(m+1)(m-2)
$\mathbb{G}_1^{0,0}$	$[\![\wedge^{(2,0)}\mathbb{V}_0^*]\!]\otimes \mathbf{R}(-1)$	m(m - 1)

Table 1	Irreduci	ble	
Q_0 -sub	modules	of	G

$$\begin{split} \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} \rrbracket \otimes \mathbb{V}_{-1}^{*} \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} \rrbracket &= \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \left(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \right) \oplus \left(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,1} \right), \\ \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} \rrbracket \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} \rrbracket &= \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,2} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,3}, \\ \mathbb{V}_{1}^{*} \otimes \mathbb{V}_{-1}^{*} \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)} \mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} \rrbracket &= \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0,0}, \mathbb{V}_{1}^{*} \otimes \llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_{0}^{*} \rrbracket &= \mathbb{G}_{1}^{0,0}, \end{split}$$

where, recalling that $\mathbb{V}_{+1}^* \cong \mathbf{R}(\mp 1)$, the modules are described in Table 1. \Box

Remark 3.16 Observe that the *P*-module $\mathbb{V}^* \otimes (\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{p})$ represents the space of intrinsic torsions of the underlying optical structure. This can be viewed as a *Q*-submodule of \mathbb{G} . In the next proposition, which is a direct consequence of Theorem 3.15, we single out the irreducible *P*-submodules of gr(\mathbb{G}), thereby making contact with the intrinsic torsion of an optical structure described in [25].

Proposition 3.17 Assume m > 1. Let $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{V}^* \otimes (\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{q})$ and consider the graded module $\operatorname{gr}(\mathbb{G})$ given in Theorem 3.15. Define

$$\begin{split} & gr_{-2}^0(\mathbb{G}) := gr_{-2}^{0,0}(\mathbb{G}), \quad gr_{-1}^0(\mathbb{G}) := gr_{-1}^{0,0}(\mathbb{G}), \\ & gr_{-1}^1(\mathbb{G}) := gr_{-1}^{1,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus gr_{-1}^{1,1}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus gr_{-1}^{1,2}(\mathbb{G}), \quad gr_{-1}^2(\mathbb{G}) := gr_{-1}^{2,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus gr_{-1}^{2,1}(\mathbb{G}), \\ & gr_0^0(\mathbb{G}) := gr_0^{0,0}(\mathbb{G}). \end{split}$$

and in dimension six,

$$\operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{1,+}(\mathbb{G}) := \operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{1,0}(\mathbb{G}) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{1,1}(\mathbb{G}), \quad \operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{1,-}(\mathbb{G}) := \operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{1,2}(\mathbb{G}).$$

Then, for each i, j, $\operatorname{gr}_{i}^{j}(\mathbb{G})$ is an irreducible P-module except in dimension six, where $\operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{1}(\mathbb{G})$ is not irreducible, but $\operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{1,\pm}(\mathbb{G})$ are.

Moreover, we define

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{0} := \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{0,0}, \quad \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0} := \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0}, \\ & \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1} := \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2}, \\ & \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2} := \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,1}, \quad \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0} := \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0,0}, \end{split}$$

and in dimension six,

$$\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,+} := \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1}, \quad \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,-} := \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2}.$$

Then, for each *i*, *j*, \mathbb{G}_i^j is an irreducible P_0 -module except in dimension six, where \mathbb{G}_{-1}^1 is not irreducible, but $\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,\pm}$ are.

3.6 Isotypic Q_0 -submodules of \mathbb{G}

Let us fix a splitting of \mathbb{G} into Q_0 -modules. Observe that the modules in each of the pairs $(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0}, \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0}), (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2}, \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}), (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1}, \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0})$ and $(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2}, \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0})$ are isotypic, i.e. they have the same dimensions. This means that one can construct further irreducible Q_0 -modules by assigning some algebraic relations among these in terms of parameters. To this end, we need to describe them by means of the projections

$$(\Pi_{-1}^{0\times1})_{[x:y]} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0}, \quad [x:y] \in \mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^1, (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times2})_{[x:y]} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \quad [x:y] \in \mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^1, (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[z:w]} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \quad [z:w] \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^1, (\Pi_0^{0\times1})_{[z:w]} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_0^{0,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_0^{1,0}, \quad [z:w] \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^1,$$
(3.25)

whose precise definitions have been relegated to Appendix 1 for convenience. Here, \mathbb{RP}^1 and \mathbb{CP}^1 are real and complex projective lines, respectively. We can then define the following additional Q_0 -submodules of \mathbb{G} :

$$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]} := \operatorname{im}(\Pi_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]} \subset \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0}, \quad \text{for } [x:y] \in \mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^{1}.$$

$$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]} := \operatorname{im}(\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]} \subset \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \quad \text{for } [x:y] \in \mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^{1}.$$

$$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]} := \operatorname{im}(\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]} \subset \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \quad \text{for } [z:w] \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{1}.$$

$$(\mathbb{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]} := \operatorname{im}(\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[z:w]} \subset \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \quad \text{for } [z:w] \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{1}.$$

$$(3.26)$$

Their descriptions and dimensions are given in Table 2.

Note that by definition,

$$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[1,0]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0}, \quad (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[1,0]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2}, \quad (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[1,0]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1}, \quad (\mathbb{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[1,0]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2},$$

🖄 Springer

Table 2 Q_0 -submodules of \mathbb{G} —here $[x : y] \in \mathbb{RP}^1$ and	Q_0 -module	Description	Dimension
$[z:w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$	$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0 \times 1})_{[x:y]}$	R (1)	1
	$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]}$	$[\wedge_{\circ}^{(1,1)}\mathbb{V}_{0}^{*}]\otimes\mathbf{R}(1)$	(m-1)(m+1)
	$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]}$	$\llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} \mathbb{V}_0^* \rrbracket \otimes \mathbf{R}(1)$	m(m-1)
	$(\mathbb{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]}$	\mathbb{V}_0^*	2 <i>m</i>

$$(\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[0,1]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0}, \quad (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[0,1]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \quad (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[0,1]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \quad (\mathbb{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[0,1]} = \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}.$$

3.7 The Q-submodules of \mathbb{G}

We are now in the position of determining all the Q-submodules of \mathbb{G} . For this purpose, we shall appeal to the Q_0 -module epimorphisms $\Pi_i^{j,k} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}, \Pi_i^j :$ $\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_i^j$ and (3.25), all of which are described in Appendix 1 with respect to some chosen splitting of \mathbb{G} . Any Q-submodule of \mathbb{G} must be a sum of the irreducible Q_0 -submodules $\mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}$ given in Table 1, together with the families of irreducibles Q_0 modules given in Table 2. Not every such sum is a Q-module. To determine which Q_0 -submodules of \mathbb{G} are also Q-submodules, we compute how a change of splitting (3.8) transforms the maps $\Pi_i^{j,k}$. This will tell us how the various modules $\mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}$ are related under the action of P_+ , the nilpotent part of Q. We will then be able to determine the Q-submodules of \mathbb{G} accordingly.

To facilitate the readability, we contract the projections (A.4) with suitable combinations of δ^i_{α} , $\delta^i_{\overline{\alpha}}$ to define

$$\begin{aligned}
\gamma_{\alpha} &:= \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha}, \\
\epsilon &:= \Pi_{-1}^{0,0}(\Gamma), \\
\tau^{\omega} &:= \Pi_{-1}^{1,0}(\Gamma), \\
\tau_{\alpha\beta} &:= \Pi_{-1}^{1,1}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta} = \Pi_{-1}^{\prime 1,1}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta}, \\
\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} &:= \Pi_{-1}^{2,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}, \quad \sigma_{\alpha\beta} &:= \Pi_{-1}^{2,1}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta}, \\
\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} &:= \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta}, \\
\xi_{\alpha\beta} &:= \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta}, \\
E_{\alpha} &:= \Pi_{0}^{0,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha} = \Pi_{0}^{\prime 0,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha}, \\
G_{\alpha} &:= \Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha}, \quad G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} &:= \Pi_{0}^{1,1}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \\
G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{P}} &:= \Pi_{0}^{1,2}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \quad G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ} &:= \Pi_{0}^{1,3}(\Gamma)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}, \\
B_{\alpha\beta} &:= \Pi_{0}^{0,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta}.
\end{aligned}$$
(3.27)

Their complex conjugates are defined similarly. Note that with these definitions,

$$\sigma_{\alpha\beta} = \sigma_{(\alpha\beta)}, \quad \tau_{\alpha\beta} = \tau_{[\alpha\beta]},$$

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}h^{\alpha\bar{\beta}} &= 0, \quad \tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}h^{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0, \\ \overline{\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}} &= \sigma_{\bar{\alpha}\beta} = \sigma_{\beta\bar{\alpha}}, \quad \overline{\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}} = \tau_{\bar{\alpha}\beta}^{\circ} = -\tau_{\beta\bar{\alpha}}^{\circ}, \\ \zeta_{\alpha\beta} &= -\zeta_{\beta\alpha}, \quad B_{\alpha\beta} = -B_{\beta\alpha}, \\ G_{(\alpha\beta)\gamma}^{\sharp} &= 0, \quad G_{[\alpha\beta\gamma]}^{\oplus} = 0, \quad G_{\bar{\beta}\alpha\gamma}^{\circ}h^{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 3.18 Define

$$\begin{split} & \mathscr{G}_{-2}^{0,0} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{0,0} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{-1}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,i} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{-1}^{1,i}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \quad i = 0, 1 \\ & \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{2,i} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{-1}^{2,i}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \quad i = 0, 1, 2 \\ & \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{3,0} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{0}^{0,0} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{0}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-1}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-1}^{1,1}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{2,1}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,0} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,1} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{0}^{1,1}(\Gamma) = (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[-4i,1]}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,2} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{0}^{1,2}(\Gamma) = (\Pi_{-1}^{1,3})_{[2i,1]}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{2,1}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,3} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{0}^{1,3}(\Gamma) = (\Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{2,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ & \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,3} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{0}^{1,3}(\Gamma) = (\Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-1}^{2,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \end{aligned}$$

and,

$$\begin{split} & {\mathbb{G}}_{1}^{0,0} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{1}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = (\Pi_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[2(m-1)i,-1]}(\Gamma) \\ &= \Pi_{0}^{1,1}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{0}^{1,2}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{0}^{1,3}(\Gamma) \\ &= \Pi_{-1}^{1,1}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-1}^{2}(\Gamma) \\ &= \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \quad \text{when } m > 2, \end{split}$$

while

$$\begin{split} & \not{\mathbb{G}}_{1}^{0,0} := \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} : \Pi_{1}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = (\Pi_{0}^{0\times1})_{[2i,-1]}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{0}^{1,1}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{0}^{1,2}(\Gamma) \\ &= (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[2i,1]}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-1}^{2}(\Gamma) \\ &= \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \quad when \ m = 2. \end{split}$$

In dimension six, i.e. m = 2, we always have $\mathfrak{G}_0^{1,1} = \mathfrak{G}_0^{1,3} = \mathfrak{G}$. Define further, for any $[x : y] \in \mathbb{RP}^1$, $[z : w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$,

$$\begin{split} (\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]} &:= \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : (\Pi_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \\ (\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]} &:= \{ \Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0 \} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right), \end{split}$$

D Springer

$$\begin{split} (\pounds_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[z:w]} &:= \{\Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[z:w]}(\Gamma) = (z+4iw)\Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0\}/\left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q}\right) \\ (\pounds_0^{0\times1})_{[z:w]} &:= \{\Gamma \in \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} : (\Pi_0^{0\times1})_{[z:w]}(\Gamma) = (2(m-1)iw+z)\Pi_{-1}^{0,0}(\Gamma) \\ &= (2(m-1)iw+z)\Pi_{-1}^{1,0}(\Gamma) = (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[z:w]}(\Gamma) = (2w\,i-z)\Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma) \\ &= (2w\,i-z)\Pi_{-1}^{2,0}(\Gamma) = z\Pi_{-1}^{2,1}(\Gamma) = \Pi_{-2}^{0,0}(\Gamma) = 0\}/\left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q}\right). \end{split}$$

Then, for each i, j, k, $\mathfrak{G}_{i}^{j,k}$ is the largest Q-submodule of \mathbb{G} that does not contain $\mathbb{G}_{i}^{j,k}$, and similarly for $(\mathfrak{G}_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]}$, $(\mathfrak{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]}$ and $(\mathfrak{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]}$. In particular, any Q-submodule of \mathbb{G} arises as the intersection of any of the ones above.

In addition, there are inclusions of *Q*-submodules, which are denoted by arrows in the diagrams below.

For m > 2*:*



For m = 2*:*



For any m > 1,



For any m > 1, any $[z : w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus \{[-2(m-1)i, 1], [2i, 1]\}$:



For m > 1, any $[-4i:1] \neq [z:w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$, and any $[x:y] \in \mathbb{RP}^1$:



Remark 3.19 We note that

(1) There is some redundancy in the inclusions: e.g.

$${\mathscr G}_{0}^{1,1} \cap {\mathscr G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap {\mathscr G}_{-1}^{3,0} = {\mathscr G}_{0}^{1,1} \cap {\mathscr G}_{-1}^{1,1} = {\mathscr G}_{0}^{1,1} \cap {\mathscr G}_{-1}^{3,0},$$

and, for m > 2,

$$\begin{split} & \not{\mathbb{G}}_{1}^{0,0} \subset (\not{\mathbb{G}}_{0}^{0\times1})_{[-2(m-1)i:1]} \cap \not{\mathbb{G}}_{0}^{1,2} \subset (\not{\mathbb{G}}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[2i:1]} \cap (\not{\mathbb{G}}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[2(m-1)i:1]} \\ & = \not{\mathbb{G}}_{-1}^{1,0} \cap \not{\mathbb{G}}_{-1}^{3,0}, \end{split}$$

(2) The only Q-submodules of \mathbb{G} that are not contained in $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{0,0}$ are $\mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,1} \subset (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[4i:-1]}$.

the quantities defined by (3.27) under the change (3.8):

$$\begin{split} &\gamma_{\alpha}\mapsto\gamma_{\alpha},\\ &\epsilon\mapsto\epsilon+\gamma_{\alpha}\phi^{\alpha}+\gamma^{\alpha}\phi_{\alpha},\\ &\tau^{\omega}\mapsto\tau^{\omega}-i\left(\gamma_{\alpha}\phi^{\alpha}-\gamma^{\alpha}\phi_{\alpha}\right),\\ &\tau_{\alpha\beta}\mapsto\tau_{\alpha\beta}-\gamma_{[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]},\\ &\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}\mapsto\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}+\left(-\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\alpha}\phi_{\bar{\beta}}+\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\bar{\beta}}\phi_{\alpha}\right)_{\circ},\\ &\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\mapsto\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}+\left(\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\alpha}\phi_{\bar{\beta}}+\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\bar{\beta}}\phi_{\alpha}\right)_{\circ},\\ &\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\mapsto\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}+\gamma_{(\alpha}\phi_{\beta)},\\ &\zeta_{\alpha\beta}\mapsto\zeta_{\alpha\beta}-4i\gamma_{[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]},\\ &E_{\alpha}\mapsto E_{\alpha}+\tau_{\alpha\beta}\phi^{\beta}-\sigma_{\alpha\beta}\phi^{\beta}+\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}\phi^{\bar{\beta}}-\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\phi^{\bar{\beta}}-\frac{i}{2m}\tau^{\omega}\phi_{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2m}\epsilon\phi_{\alpha}-\gamma_{\alpha}\phi^{\beta}\phi_{\beta},\\ &G_{\alpha}\mapsto G_{\alpha}-2i\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}\phi^{\bar{\beta}}+2i\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\phi^{\bar{\beta}}+\frac{m-1}{m}\tau^{\omega}\phi_{\alpha}-\frac{m-1}{m}i\epsilon\phi_{\alpha}\\ &+\phi^{\beta}\zeta_{\beta\alpha}-2i\phi^{\beta}\gamma_{\beta}\phi_{\alpha}+2i\phi^{\beta}\phi_{\beta}\gamma_{\alpha},\\ &G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp}\mapsto G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp}+\left(-4i\tau_{[\alpha\beta}+\zeta_{[\alpha\beta]})\phi_{\gamma}\right),\\ &G_{(\alpha\beta)\gamma}^{\oplus}\mapsto G_{(\alpha\beta)\gamma}^{\oplus}-\left(2i\tau_{\gamma(\alpha}+\zeta_{\gamma(\alpha)})\phi_{\beta}\right)+2i\sigma_{\gamma(\alpha}\phi_{\beta)}-2i\sigma_{\alpha\beta}\phi_{\gamma}-2i\phi_{(\alpha\gamma\beta)}\phi_{\gamma}\\ &+2i\phi_{\alpha}\phi_{\beta}\gamma_{\gamma},\\ &G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ}\mapsto G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ}+\left(4i\tau_{[\beta]\bar{\alpha}}\phi_{[\gamma]}-4i\sigma_{[\beta]\bar{\alpha}}\phi_{[\gamma]}\right)+\phi_{\bar{\alpha}}\zeta_{\beta\gamma}-4i\phi_{\bar{\alpha}}\gamma_{[\beta}\phi_{\gamma]}\right)_{\circ},\\ &B_{\alpha\beta}\mapsto B_{\alpha\beta}+\left(\frac{2}{m-1}G_{[\alpha}-4iE_{[\alpha]}\right)\phi_{\beta}]-\phi^{\gamma}G_{\gamma\alpha\beta}^{\sharp}-\phi^{\gamma}G_{\gamma\alpha\beta}^{\oplus}-\phi^{\bar{\gamma}}G_{\bar{\gamma}\alpha\beta}^{\circ}\\ &+4i\phi^{\gamma}\tau_{\gamma[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]}-\phi^{\gamma}\phi_{\gamma}\zeta_{\alpha\beta}+4i\phi^{\gamma}\sigma_{\gamma[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]}\\ &-4i\phi^{\bar{\gamma}}\tau_{[\alpha|\bar{\gamma}}\phi_{\beta]}+4i\phi^{\bar{\gamma}}\sigma_{[\alpha]\bar{\gamma}}\phi_{[\beta]}+4i\phi^{\gamma}\phi_{\gamma}\gamma_{[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]}. \end{split}$$

From these, we immediately deduce, for any $[x : y] \in \mathbb{RP}^1$, $[z : w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$,

$$\begin{aligned} x\epsilon + y\tau^{\omega} &\mapsto x\epsilon + y\tau^{\omega} + (x - \mathrm{i}y)\gamma_{\alpha}\phi^{\alpha} + (x + \mathrm{i}y)\gamma^{\alpha}\phi_{\alpha}, \\ x\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} - y\mathrm{i}\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ} &\mapsto x\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} - y\mathrm{i}\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ} + \left(-(x + y\mathrm{i})\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\alpha}\phi_{\bar{\beta}} + (x - y\mathrm{i})\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\bar{\beta}}\phi_{\alpha}\right)_{\circ}, \\ z\tau_{\alpha\beta} + w\zeta_{\alpha\beta} &\mapsto z\tau_{\alpha\beta} + w\zeta_{\alpha\beta} - (z + 4\mathrm{i}w)\gamma_{[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]}, \\ zE_{\alpha} + wG_{\alpha} &\mapsto zE_{\alpha} + wG_{\alpha} - z\phi^{\beta}\sigma_{\beta\alpha} + \left(-z\tau_{\beta\alpha} + w\zeta_{\beta\alpha}\right)\phi^{\beta} \\ &- (2w\,\mathrm{i} - z)\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}\phi^{\bar{\beta}} + (2w\,\mathrm{i} - z)\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\phi^{\bar{\beta}} \\ &- \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2m}(2(m-1)\mathrm{i}w + z)\tau^{\omega}\phi_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2m}(2(m-1)\mathrm{i}w + z)\epsilon\,\phi_{\alpha} \\ &- 2w\,\mathrm{i}\phi^{\beta}\gamma_{\beta}\phi_{\alpha} + (2w\,\mathrm{i} - z)\phi^{\beta}\phi_{\beta}\gamma_{\alpha}. \end{aligned}$$

Deringer

The result follows as in the proof of Proposition 3.4 of [25].

In dimension six, one has

$$\phi^{\gamma}\phi_{\gamma}\tau_{\alpha\beta} = -2\phi^{\gamma}\tau_{\gamma[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]}, \qquad G^{\natural}_{\gamma\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad G^{\circ}_{\bar{\gamma}\alpha\beta} = 0,$$

so that

$$B_{\alpha\beta} \mapsto B_{\alpha\beta} + \left(2G_{[\alpha} - 4iE_{[\alpha})\phi_{\beta]} - \phi^{\gamma}G^{\mathbb{P}}_{\gamma\alpha\beta} - \left(2i\tau_{\alpha\beta} + \zeta_{\alpha\beta}\right)\phi^{\gamma}\phi_{\gamma} + 4i\phi^{\gamma}\sigma_{\gamma[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]} - 4i\phi^{\bar{\gamma}}\tau^{\circ}_{[\alpha|\bar{\gamma}}\phi_{|\beta]} + 4i\phi^{\bar{\gamma}}\sigma_{[\alpha|\bar{\gamma}}\phi_{|\beta]} + 4i\phi^{\gamma}\phi_{\gamma}\gamma_{[\alpha}\phi_{\beta]}$$

This completes the proof. Some of these computations were verified using the symbolic computer algebra system cadabra [72, 73].

Finally, for future use, and to make contact with the intrinsic torsion of an optical structure given in [25], we also define

$$\begin{aligned}
& \mathcal{G}_{-2}^{0} := \mathcal{G}_{-2}^{0,0}, \\
& \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{0} := \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{0,0}, \quad \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1} := \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}, \quad \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2} := \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,1}, \\
& \mathcal{G}_{0}^{0} := \mathcal{G}_{0}^{0,0}.
\end{aligned}$$
(3.28)

4 Almost Robinson manifolds

4.1 Almost Robinson structures

Throughout we shall follow the notation and conventions of Sect. 3 now translated into the bundle setting.

Definition 4.1 [63, 102] Let (\mathcal{M}, g) be an oriented pseudo-Riemannian manifold of dimension 2m + 2. An *almost null structure* on (\mathcal{M}, g) is a complex distribution N of rank (m + 1) and totally null with respect to ^Cg. When N is involutive, i.e. $[N, N] \subset N$, we call N a *null structure*.

In other words, an almost null structure is a smooth assignment of a null structure to the tangent space at each point, and according to Definition 3.3, one may talk of the real index of an almost null structure at a point. When g is of Lorentzian signature, we make the following definition.

Definition 4.2 Let (\mathcal{M}, g) be an oriented and time-oriented Lorentzian manifold of dimension 2m + 2. An *almost Robinson structure* on (\mathcal{M}, g) consists of a pair (N, K) where N is a complex distribution of rank m + 1 totally null with respect to ${}^{\mathbf{C}}g$, and K a real line distribution such that ${}^{\mathbf{C}}K = N \cap \overline{N}$. We shall refer to the quadruple (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) as an *almost Robinson manifold* or *almost Robinson geometry*.

In addition, we call (N, K)

• a nearly Robinson structure when $[K, N] \subset N$, and

• a *Robinson structure* when $[N, N] \subset N$, i.e. N is involutive.

We shall accordingly refer to (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) as a *nearly Robinson manifold* or as a *Robinson manifold*.

Clearly, a Robinson manifold is a nearly Robinson manifold. Definitions involving weaker assumptions on orientability are possible.

Remark 4.3 Equivalently put, an almost Robinson structure is an almost null structure of real index one. By Lemma 3.5, any almost null structure on a Lorentzian manifold defines an almost Robinson manifold. The terminology 'almost null structure' will nevertheless be preferred in the case when we wish to emphasise the geometric aspects of the almost Robinson structure not particularly tied to the geometry of the real null line distribution K, as will be done in Sect. 4.10.

An almost Robinson structure (N, K) induces an optical structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) in the sense of [25], namely the filtration of vector bundles

$$K \subset K^{\perp} \subset T\mathcal{M}. \tag{4.1}$$

The orientation and time-orientation on \mathcal{M} induce an orientation on K, and the screen bundle $H_K := K^{\perp}/K$ of K inherits a positive-definite bundle metric h from g. Any section of K will be referred to as an *optical vector field*, while any section of Ann (K^{\perp}) will be referred to as an *optical 1-form*.

In addition, there is a bundle complex structure J on the screen bundle H_K compatible with h, which induces a splitting of its complexification

^C
$$H_K = H_K^{(1,0)} \oplus H_K^{(0,1)},$$
 ^C $H_K^* = (H_K^{(1,0)})^* \oplus (H_K^{(0,1)})^*,$

where $H_K^{(1,0)}$ and $H_K^{(0,1)}$ denote the +i- and -i-eigenbundles of *J*, respectively. In abstract index notation, we shall denote the bundle complex structure and the bundle Hermitian structure on H_K by $J_i{}^j$ and ω_{ij} , respectively, so that $\omega_{ij} = J_i{}^k h_{kj}$. Following the notation of Sect. 3.1, we also define the bundles, for any non-negative integer *p*, *q*,

$$\wedge^{(p,q)} H_K^* := \wedge^p (H_K^{(1,0)})^* \otimes \wedge^q (H_K^{(0,1)})^*,$$

$$\odot^{(p,q)} H_K^* := \odot^p (H_K^{(1,0)})^* \otimes \odot^q (H_K^{(0,1)})^*.$$

For $pq \neq 0$, the subbundles of elements of $\wedge^{(p,q)} H_K^*$ and $\bigcirc^{(p,q)} H_K^*$ that are tracefree with respect to the bundle Hermitian structure will be denoted by $\wedge_{\circ}^{(p,q)} H_K^*$ and $\bigcirc_{\circ}^{(p,q)} H_K^*$, respectively. Similarly, we introduce the subbundle $\boxplus H_K^*$ as a bundle analogue of (3.1). The corresponding real spans of these complex bundles will be enclosed between $\llbracket \cdot \rrbracket$ or $\lbrack \cdot \rrbracket$ or $\lbrack \cdot \rrbracket$ as described by (3.2).

As in Sect. 3, we split the complexified tangent bundle as

$$^{\mathbf{C}}T\mathcal{M} = N^* \oplus N$$

for some chosen complement N^* of N in ${}^{\mathbb{C}}T\mathcal{M}$, dual to N via ${}^{\mathbb{C}}g$. This splitting is not canonical in general. This induces a splitting of the filtration (4.1)

$$T\mathcal{M} = L \oplus H_{K,L} \oplus K, \tag{4.2}$$

where

$$L := N^* \cap T\mathcal{M}, \quad H_{K,L} := K^{\perp} \cap L^{\perp}.$$

Note that N^* defines the almost Robinson structure (N^*, L) on (\mathcal{M}, g) , where L is the real span of $N^* \cap \overline{N^*}$ and is dual to K. In addition,

^C
$$H_{K,L} = H_{K,L}^{(1,0)} \oplus H_{K,L}^{(0,1)}, \quad ^{C}H_{K,L}^{*} = (H_{K,L}^{(1,0)})^{*} \oplus (H_{K,L}^{(0,1)})^{*}.$$

where

$$H_{K,L}^{(1,0)} = \overline{N} \cap N^*, \quad H_{K,L}^{(0,1)} = N \cap \overline{N^*}.$$

We also have isomorphisms of vector bundles $H_{K,L} \cong H_K$, $H_{K,L}^{(1,0)} = H_K^{(1,0)}$, and so on, which depend on the choice of N^* .

The splitting operators and their duals, introduced in Sect. 3, that is,

$$\begin{aligned} & (\delta^{A}_{a}, \delta^{aA}), \quad (\ell^{a}, \delta^{a}_{i}, k^{a}), \quad (\delta^{i}_{\alpha}, \delta^{i}_{\bar{\alpha}}), \quad (\ell^{a}, \delta^{a}_{\alpha}, \delta^{a}_{\bar{\alpha}}, k^{a}), \\ & (\delta^{A}_{a}, \delta_{aA}), \quad (\kappa_{a}, \delta^{i}_{a}, \lambda_{a}), \quad (\delta^{\alpha}_{i}, \delta^{\bar{\alpha}}_{i}), \quad (\kappa_{a}, \delta^{\alpha}_{a}, \delta^{\bar{\alpha}}_{a}, \lambda_{a}), \end{aligned}$$

will be used throughout the article to convert index types, with the convention that $k^a \alpha_a = \kappa_a \alpha^a = \alpha^0$ and $\ell^a \alpha_a = \lambda_a \alpha^a = \alpha_0$ for any 1-form α_a .

In order to avoid ambiguity when taking components of the covariant derivative of some tensor $\alpha_{b...d}$, we shall often write

$$(\nabla \alpha)_{ab...d} := \nabla_a \alpha_{b...d}.$$

For instance,

$$(\nabla \alpha)^{0}_{\alpha 0 i} = k^{a} \delta^{b}_{\alpha} \ell^{c} \delta^{d}_{i} (\nabla_{a} \alpha_{bcd}).$$

The splitting operators will also be used as injectors. Thus, if ω_{ij} is the Hermitian 2-form on H_K , we can set $\omega_{ab} = \omega_{ij} \delta^i_a \delta^j_b$ for some chosen splitting operators, and construct the *Robinson* 3-form $\rho_{abc} := 3\kappa_{[a}\omega_{bc]}$ associated to the optical 1-form κ_a .

4.2 Pure spinors

Whenever (\mathcal{M}, g) is assumed to be spin, we introduce a spin bundle *S* and translate the theory of spinors summarised in Sect. 3.2.6 to the language of bundles. We shall

denote the spinor bundle by *S* and its irreducible parts by S_+ and S_- . We shall not distinguish notationally between the Levi-Civita connection ∇ and the induced spin connection. We now view the van der Waerden symbols $\gamma_{aA'}{}^{B}$ and $\gamma_{aA}{}^{B'}$, the bilinear forms (3.15) as fields on \mathcal{M} compatible with ∇ . There is also an antilinear map on each fibre of *S*, induced from the reality structure on (${}^{C}T\mathcal{M}, {}^{C}g$), and thus, a notion of charge conjugate of a spinor field.

An almost Robinson structure (N, K), where we assume for specificity that N is self-dual, can therefore be expressed by a non-vanishing section $v^{A'}$ of S_+ that is pure at every point, i.e. the kernel of the map

$$\nu_a^{\mathbf{A}} := \gamma_{a\mathbf{B}'}{}^{\mathbf{A}}\nu^{\mathbf{B}'} : \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}) \to \Gamma(S^-)$$

is precisely *N*. Since the kernel *N* of the map $\nu_a^{\mathbf{A}}$ is invariant under rescaling of the spinor $\nu^{\mathbf{A}'}$, the almost Robinson structure is in fact equivalent to the existence of a complex line subbundle S_+^N of S_+ , which is spanned by $\nu^{\mathbf{A}'}$. The bundle S_+^N can be viewed as a square root of the line bundle $\wedge^{m+1}\operatorname{Ann}(N)$. Indeed, we have an isomorphism of bundles

$$\wedge^{m+1}\operatorname{Ann}(N) \cong S^N_+ \otimes S^N_+. \tag{4.3}$$

Any spinor $v^{A'}$ annihilating the almost null structure N will be referred to as a *Robinson* spinor, and any section of $\wedge^{m+1}Ann(N)$ a *complex Robinson* (m + 1)-form.

A completely parallel analysis can be carried out starting with the charge conjugate of $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$, which spans the complex conjugate bundle $\overline{S_+^N}$. The invariants 1-form κ_a , 3form ρ_{abc} , (m + 1)-forms $v_{a_1...a_{m+1}}$ and $\overline{v}_{a_1...a_{m+1}}$ of the almost Robinson structure can then be recovered from $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ and its charge conjugate using (3.16).

We are now in the position of stating the direct translation of Proposition 3.11 into the language of manifolds:

Proposition 4.4 Let (\mathcal{M}, g) be an oriented and time-oriented smooth Lorentzian manifold of dimension 2m + 2. The following statements are equivalent.

- (1) (\mathcal{M}, g) is endowed with an almost Robinson structure (N, K).
- (2) (\mathcal{M}, g) admits a simple totally null complex (m + 1)-form.
- (3) (\mathcal{M}, g) is endowed with an optical structure K whose screen bundle (H_K, h) is equipped with a bundle complex structure compatible with the bundle metric h.
- (4) (\mathcal{M}, g) admits a null 1-form κ_a and a 3-form ρ_{abc} such that

$$\rho_{ab}{}^{e}\rho_{cde} = -4\kappa_{[a}g_{b][c}\kappa_{d]}.\tag{4.4}$$

(5) when (\mathcal{M}, g) is spin, it admits a pure spinor (of real index one).

Remark 4.5 In general, if one assumes that (\mathcal{M}, g) is spin, any geometric statement on a complex Robinson (m + 1)-form can equivalently be expressed in terms of a Robinson spinor.

4.3 Almost Robinson structures as G-structures

From the discussion of [25], we shall also view an almost Robinson structure as a reduction of the frame bundle to the *Q*-bundle \mathcal{F}^Q where $Q = (\mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{U}(m)) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^*$, and given any *Q*-module \mathbb{A} , we will construct associated vector bundles $\mathcal{F}^Q(\mathbb{A}) := \mathcal{F}^Q \times_Q \mathbb{A}$. Similarly, a choice of splitting gives rise to the Q_0 -invariant vector bundles where $Q_0 = \mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{U}(m)$. It will often be more convenient to deal with the reduced coframe bundle \mathcal{F}^{*Q} . A section of \mathcal{F}^{*Q} will then consist of a null complex coframe ($\kappa, \theta^{\alpha}, \overline{\theta^{\alpha}}, \lambda$) such that

(1) κ annihilates K^{\perp} , or equivalently, $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$ for some section k of K;

- (2) $(\kappa, \theta^{\alpha})$ annihilate N, or equivalently, $(\kappa, \overline{\theta}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ annihilate \overline{N} ;
- (3) (θ^{α}) are unitary with respect to the screen bundle metric;
- (4) the metric takes the form

$$g = 2\kappa\lambda + 2h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\theta^{\alpha}\overline{\theta}^{\beta}.$$

We shall refer to $(\kappa, \theta^{\alpha}, \overline{\theta}^{\overline{\alpha}}, \lambda)$ as a *Robinson coframe*.

Any two Robinson coframes $(\kappa, \theta^{\alpha}, \overline{\theta}^{\overline{\alpha}}, \lambda)$ and $(\widehat{\kappa}, \widehat{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}}, \widehat{\lambda})$ are related by a transformation of the form

$$\widehat{\kappa} = e^{\varphi}\kappa, \quad \widehat{\theta}^{\alpha} = \psi_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}\theta^{\beta} + \phi^{\alpha}\kappa, \quad \widehat{\lambda} = e^{-\varphi}\left(\lambda - \psi_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\phi_{\beta}\theta^{\alpha} - \psi_{\bar{\alpha}}{}^{\bar{\beta}}\phi_{\bar{\beta}}\theta^{\bar{\alpha}} - \phi_{\alpha}\phi^{\alpha}\kappa\right),$$

$$(4.5)$$

where φ is a smooth real-valued function, and ϕ^{α} , $\psi_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}$ are smooth complex-valued functions on \mathcal{M} with $\psi_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ being a U(*m*)-transformation at any point, i.e. $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = h_{\gamma\bar{\delta}}\psi_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}\psi_{\bar{\beta}}{}^{\bar{\delta}}$, and $\phi_{\alpha}\phi^{\alpha} = h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\phi^{\alpha}\phi^{\bar{\beta}}$.

Associated to the representations $\mathbf{R}(w)$ and $\mathbf{C}(w, w')$ defined in Sect. 3.4, where w and w' are real, we define the bundle $\mathcal{E}(w)$ of *boost densities* of weight w, already introduced in [25], and the bundle $\mathcal{E}(w, w')$ of *boost-spin densities* of weight (w, w'). In particular, we have the identifications

$$K \cong \mathcal{E}(-1), \quad L \cong \mathcal{E}(1),$$

$$\mathcal{E}(-1,0) := \wedge^{m+1} \operatorname{Ann}(N), \quad \mathcal{E}(0,-1) := \overline{\mathcal{E}(-1,0)} = \wedge^{m+1} \operatorname{Ann}(\overline{N}).$$
(4.6)

If (\mathcal{M}, g) is assumed to be spin, we define the smooth complex line bundles

$$\mathcal{E}\left(\frac{1}{2},0\right) := \left(S_{+}^{N}\right)^{-1}, \qquad \mathcal{E}\left(0,\frac{1}{2}\right) := \left(\overline{S_{+}^{N}}\right)^{-1}, \\ \mathcal{E}\left(-\frac{1}{2},0\right) := \left(\mathcal{E}(\frac{1}{2},0)\right)^{*}, \quad \mathcal{E}\left(0,-\frac{1}{2}\right) := \left(\mathcal{E}\left(0,\frac{1}{2}\right)\right)^{*}.$$
(4.7)

In particular, we recover (4.6) by virtue of (4.3). Our definitions are consistent with those of the real line bundles $\mathcal{E}(w)$ in the sense that

$$\mathcal{E}(w) = \mathcal{E}(\frac{w}{2}, \frac{w}{2})/S^1$$
, for any real w .

Deringer

This can be readily be checked using (3.16).

4.4 Intrinsic torsion

As explained in Section 2 of [25], the intrinsic torsion of an almost Robinson structure is given by a section $T^*\mathcal{M}\otimes\mathcal{F}^Q(\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{q})$, which we identify with the *Q*-invariant subbundle $\mathcal{G} := \mathcal{F}^Q \times_Q \mathbb{G}$ where $\mathbb{G} := \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{q}$. We shall accordingly call \mathcal{G} the bundle of intrinsic torsions of (N, K). Its Q_0 -invariant subbundles and *Q*-invariant subbundles will presently be defined with reference to Sect. 3, and in particular Theorem 3.15.

The filtration (3.24) on \mathbb{G} induces a filtration of *Q*-invariant subbundles

$$\mathcal{G} =: \mathcal{G}^{-2} \supset \mathcal{G}^{-1} \supset \mathcal{G}^0 \supset \mathcal{G}^{-1}$$

where $\mathcal{G}^i := \mathcal{F}^Q \times_Q \mathbb{G}^i$. Correspondingly, the associated graded vector bundle

$$\operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{G}) = \operatorname{gr}_{-2}(\mathcal{G}) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_{-1}(\mathcal{G}) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_{0}(\mathcal{G}) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_{1}(\mathcal{G}),$$

where $\operatorname{gr}_i(\mathcal{G}) := \mathcal{F}^Q \times_Q \operatorname{gr}_i(\mathbb{G})$, splits into irreducible *Q*-invariant subbundles $\operatorname{gr}_i^{j,k}(\mathcal{G}) := \mathcal{F}^Q \times_{Q_0} \operatorname{gr}_i^{j,k}(\mathbb{G})$. For each choice of splitting, these are isomorphic to the Q_0 -invariant subbundles

$$\mathcal{G}_i^{j,k} := \mathcal{F}^Q \times_{Q_0} \mathbb{G}_i^{j,k},$$

and we introduce further

$$\begin{split} (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]} &:= \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}} (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]}, & \text{for each } [x:y] \in \mathbb{RP}^{1}, \\ (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]} &:= \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}} (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]}, & \text{for each } [x:y] \in \mathbb{RP}^{1}, \\ (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]} &:= \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}} (\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]}, & \text{for each } [z:w] \in \mathbb{CP}^{1}, \\ (\mathcal{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]} &:= \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}} (\mathbb{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]}, & \text{for each } [z:w] \in \mathbb{CP}^{1}, \end{split}$$

with reference to Tables 1 and (3.26).

We correspondingly define the Q-invariant subbundles

$$\begin{split} & \mathcal{G}_{i}^{j,k} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}} \mathfrak{G}_{i}^{j,k}, \\ & (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{0,1})_{[x:y]} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}} (\mathfrak{G}_{-1}^{0,\times 1})_{[x:y]}, \quad \text{ for each } [x:y] \in \mathbb{RP}^{1}, \\ & (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,\times 2})_{[x:y]} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}} (\mathfrak{G}_{-1}^{1,\times 2})_{[x:y]}, \quad \text{ for each } [x:y] \in \mathbb{RP}^{1}, \\ & (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,\times 3})_{[z:w]} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}} (\mathfrak{G}_{-1}^{1,\times 3})_{[z:w]}, \quad \text{ for each } [z:w] \in \mathbb{CP}^{1}, \\ & (\mathcal{G}_{0}^{0,\times 1})_{[z:w]} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Q}} \times_{\mathcal{Q}} (\mathfrak{G}_{0}^{0,\times 1})_{[z:w]}, \quad \text{ for each } [z:w] \in \mathbb{CP}^{1}, \end{split}$$

where the Q-modules are all defined in Theorem 3.18.

Deringer
$$\mathcal{G}_i^j := \mathcal{F}^P \times_{P_0} \mathbb{G}_i^j, \quad \mathcal{G}_i^j := \mathcal{F}^P \times_P \mathbb{G}_i^j,$$

where \mathbb{G}_{i}^{j} are defined in Proposition 3.17, and \mathbb{G}_{i}^{j} are defined by (3.28).

To determine the algebraic properties of the intrinsic torsion of an almost Robinson structure, we choose an optical 1-form κ_a and its associated Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} , compute their respective covariant derivatives $\nabla_a \kappa_b$ and $\nabla_a \rho_{bcd}$, and project these tensors onto the various Q_0 -invariant subbundles of \mathcal{G} by means of splitting operators (ℓ^a , δ^a_{α} , δ^a_{α} , δ^a_{α} , k^a). This is achieved by extending the projections $\Pi_i^{j,k}$ defined in Appendix 1 to bundle projections, where we identify the tensor $\Gamma_{ab}{}^c$ as a connection 1-form of ∇_a adapted to the splitting operators. We shall make use of the notation already introduced in Sect. 3, mirroring the definition (3.27). Let us set

$$\gamma_i := (\nabla \kappa)^0_i,$$

$$\epsilon := (\nabla \kappa)_{ij} h^{ij}, \quad \tau_{ij} := (\nabla \kappa)_{[ij]}, \quad \sigma_{ij} := (\nabla \kappa)_{(ij)_o},$$

$$E_i := (\nabla \kappa)_{0i},$$
(4.8)

These components split further into irreducible Q_0 -components. In particular, the component $\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ splits as

$$\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2m} \tau^{\omega} h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} + \tau^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}},$$

where

$$\tau^{\omega} := \omega^{ij} \tau_{ij} = -2i\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}h^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}, \quad \tau^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} := \left(\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\right)_{\circ},$$

In addition, the components of the covariant derivative of the Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} of interest are

$$\zeta_{\alpha\beta} := \left(\nabla\rho\right)^0{}_{\alpha\beta0},\tag{4.9}$$

$$G_{i\beta\gamma} := (\nabla \rho)_{i\beta\gamma 0}, B_{\alpha\beta} := (\nabla \rho)_{0\alpha\beta 0}.$$
(4.10)

the second of which splits further into the irreducible components

$$\begin{split} G^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} &:= G_{[\alpha\beta\gamma]}, \quad G^{\oplus}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} &:= \frac{2}{3} \left(G_{(\alpha\beta)\gamma} - G_{(\alpha\gamma)\beta} \right), \\ G^{\circ}_{\bar{\gamma}\alpha\beta} &:= \left(G_{\bar{\gamma}\alpha\beta} \right)_{\circ}, \quad G_{\alpha} &:= h^{\beta\bar{\gamma}} G_{\bar{\gamma}\beta\alpha}, \end{split}$$

so that

$$G_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = G^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} + G^{\mathbb{P}}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \quad G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} = G^{\circ}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} - \frac{2}{m-1}G_{[\beta}h_{\gamma]\bar{\alpha}},$$

🖄 Springer

Table 3 Irreducible

 P_0 -submodules of \mathcal{G}

P ₀ -bundle	Description	Tensor		
\mathcal{G}_{-2}^0	$H^*_{K,L} \otimes \mathcal{E}(2)$	Ϋ́i		
\mathcal{G}_{-1}^0	$\mathcal{E}(1)$	ĕ		
\mathcal{G}_{-1}^1	$\wedge^2 H^*_{K,L} \otimes \mathcal{E}(1)$	$\breve{ au}_{ij}$		
\mathcal{G}_{-1}^2	$\bigcirc^2_{\circ} H^*_{K,L} \otimes \mathcal{E}(1)$	$\check{\sigma}_{ij}$		
\mathcal{G}_0^0	$H^*_{K,L}$	\check{E}_i		

$$G_{i\beta\gamma} = \delta_i^{\alpha} G_{\alpha\beta\gamma} + \delta_i^{\alpha} G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}.$$

The other relevant components of $\nabla_a \rho_{bcd}$ can be found below:

$$\begin{split} (\nabla\rho)_{a}{}^{0}{}_{jk} &= 0, \quad (\nabla\rho)_{a\alpha\beta\gamma} = 0, \\ (\nabla\rho)^{00}{}_{0\alpha} &= -\mathrm{i}\gamma_{\alpha}, \quad (\nabla\rho)^{0}{}_{\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}} = 2\mathrm{i}\gamma_{[\alpha}h_{\beta]\bar{\gamma}}, \\ (\nabla\rho)_{\alpha\beta}{}^{0}{}_{0} &= -\mathrm{i}\tau_{\alpha\beta} - \mathrm{i}\sigma_{\alpha\beta}, \quad (\nabla\rho)_{\alpha\beta\gamma\bar{\delta}} = 2\mathrm{i}\left(\tau_{\alpha[\beta} + \sigma_{\alpha[\beta}\right)h_{\gamma]\bar{\delta}}, \\ (\nabla\rho)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta}{}^{0}{}_{0} &= -\mathrm{i}\frac{1}{2m}\epsilon h_{\beta\bar{\alpha}} + \mathrm{i}\tau_{\beta\bar{\alpha}} - \mathrm{i}\sigma_{\beta\bar{\alpha}}, \quad (\nabla\rho)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma\bar{\delta}} = 2\mathrm{i}\left(\frac{1}{2m}\epsilon h_{[\beta]\bar{\alpha}} - \tau_{[\beta]\bar{\alpha}} + \sigma_{[\beta]\bar{\alpha}}\right)h_{[\gamma]\bar{\delta}}, \\ (\nabla\rho)_{0\alpha}{}^{0}{}_{0} &= -\mathrm{i}E_{\alpha}, \quad (\nabla\rho)_{0\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}} = 2\mathrm{i}E_{[\alpha}h_{\beta]\bar{\gamma}}, \\ (\nabla\rho)^{0}{}_{0\beta\bar{\gamma}} &= \mathrm{i}(\nabla\kappa)^{0}{}_{0}h_{\beta\bar{\gamma}}, \quad (\nabla\rho)_{i0\beta\bar{\gamma}} = \mathrm{i}(\nabla\kappa)_{i0}h_{\beta\bar{\gamma}}, \\ (\nabla\rho)_{00\beta\bar{\gamma}} &= \mathrm{i}(\nabla\kappa)_{00}h_{\beta\bar{\gamma}}. \end{split}$$

The elements defined above should be regarded as trivialisations of sections of $\mathcal{G}_i^{j,k}$. Such sections generally carry a boost weight. These will be adorned with a breve accent. To be clear, we have collected them in Tables 3 and 4—the bracket notation $\llbracket \cdot \rrbracket$ and $\llbracket \cdot \rrbracket$ therein should be understood as taking the real span of the quantities enclosed therebetween. For instance,

$$\llbracket \check{G}^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \rrbracket \sim \check{G}^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \delta^{\alpha}_{i} \delta^{\beta}_{j} \delta^{\gamma}_{k} + \check{G}^{\sharp}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}} \delta^{\bar{\alpha}}_{i} \delta^{\bar{\beta}}_{j} \delta^{\bar{\gamma}}_{k}, \quad \text{and} \quad [\check{\tau}^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}] \sim 2\check{\tau}^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} \delta^{\alpha}_{[i} \delta^{\bar{\beta}}_{j]},$$

and so on.

We shall also introduce the quantity

$$\breve{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \frac{1}{2m}\breve{\tau}^{\omega}h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} + \breve{\tau}^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$$

which we identify as a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$.

Finally, to characterise sections of the bundles $\mathcal{G}_i^{j,k}$, we simply apply the results of Theorem 3.18. For instance, the intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,2}$ if and only if its weighted components in any splitting satisfy

$$\breve{\gamma}_i = \breve{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = 2i\breve{\tau}_{\alpha\beta}^\circ + \breve{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{P}} = 0.$$

Table 4Irreducible O_0 -submodules of \mathcal{G}	Q_0 -bundle	Description	Tensor		
~0 ~	$\mathcal{G}_{-2}^{0,0}$	$H^*_{K,L} \otimes \mathcal{E}(2)$	$\check{\gamma}_i$		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{0,0}$	$\mathcal{E}(1)$	$\check{\epsilon}$		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}$	$\mathcal{E}(1)$	$\breve{ au}^\omega$		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}$	$\llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} H^*_{K,L} \rrbracket \otimes \mathcal{E}(1)$	[[<i>τ</i> _{αβ}]]		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$	$\left[\wedge_{\circ}^{(1,1)}H_{K,L}^{*}\right]\otimes\mathcal{E}(1)$	$\begin{bmatrix} \breve{\tau}^{\circ}_{\alpha \bar{\beta}} \end{bmatrix}$		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0}$	$\left[\wedge_{\circ}^{(1,1)}H_{K,L}^{*}\right]\otimes\mathcal{E}(1)$	$\left[\breve{\sigma}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\right]$		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,1}$	$\llbracket \odot^{(2,0)} H^*_{K,L} \rrbracket \otimes \mathcal{E}(1)$	[[ŏ _{αβ}]]		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$	$\llbracket \wedge^{(2,0)} H^*_{K,L} \rrbracket \otimes \mathcal{E}(1)$	[[<i>ζ</i> _{αβ}]]		
	$\mathcal{G}_0^{0,0}$	$H^*_{K,L}$	\breve{E}_i		
	$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,0}$	$[[\wedge^{(1,0)} H^*_{K,L}]]$	$\llbracket \check{G}_{\alpha} \rrbracket$		
	$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1}$	$\llbracket \wedge^{(3,0)} H^*_{K,L} \rrbracket$	$\llbracket \check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\blacksquare} \rrbracket$		
	$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,2}$	$\llbracket \mathbb{P} H_{K,L}^* rbracket$	$\llbracket \check{G}^{\mathbb{P}}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \rrbracket$		
	$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$	$\llbracket \wedge_{\circ}^{(1,2)} H_{K,L}^* \rrbracket$	$\llbracket \check{G}_{\bar{\gamma}\alpha\beta}^{\circ} \rrbracket$		
	$\mathcal{G}_1^{0,0}$	$[\![\wedge^{(2,0)}H^*_{K,L}]\!]\otimes \mathcal{E}(-1)$	$\llbracket \breve{B}_{\alpha\beta} \rrbracket$		
Table 5 Geometric properties of \mathcal{K} and intrinsic torsion \mathring{T}	Intrinsic torsior	1	Congruence		
	$\mathcal{G}_{-2}^0 = \mathcal{G}^{-1}$		Geodesic		
	\mathcal{G}_{-1}^0		Non-expanding		
	\mathscr{G}_{-1}^1		Non-twisting		
	\mathscr{G}_{-1}^2		Non-shearing		
	$\mathcal{G}_0^0 = \{0\}$		Parallel		

Remark 4.6 We can also express some of the properties of the almost Robinson structure in terms of a Robinson spinor—this will be done in Sect. 4.10.

4.5 Congruences of null geodesics

Since an almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) defines in particular an optical geometry, there is a congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} associated to it. The algebraic properties of the intrinsic torsion of the optical geometry (\mathcal{M}, g, K) can be related to the geometric properties of \mathcal{K} as reviewed in [25]. We summarise the correspondence in Table 5.

We also record the following lemma, whose proof is straightforward.

Lemma 4.7 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves K. Denote by J_i^{j} the complex structure on the screen bundle H_K . Suppose

- $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}$, *i.e.* $\check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, *if and only if* $\check{\tau}_{ij}$ and $J_i{}^j$ commute, *i.e.* $J_{[i}{}^k\check{\tau}_{j]k} = 0$;
- $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,1}$, *i.e.* $\breve{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, *if and only if* $\breve{\sigma}_{ij}$ and $J_i^{\ j}$ commute, *i.e.* $J_{(i}^{\ k}\breve{\sigma}_{j)k} = 0$;
- $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$, *i.e.* $\check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0$, *if and only if* $\check{\tau}_{ij}$ and $J_i^{\ j}$ anti-commute, *i.e.* $J_{(i}{}^k\check{\tau}_{j)k} = 0$;
- $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0}$, *i.e.* $\check{\sigma}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0$, *if and only if* $\check{\sigma}_{ij}$ and $J_i{}^j$ anti-commute, *i.e.* $J_{[i}{}^k\check{\sigma}_{j]k} = 0$.

Locally, we shall identify an almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) of dimension 2m + 2 as a surjective submersion over a (2m + 1)-dimensional smooth manifold \mathcal{M} , namely, the local leaf space of \mathcal{K} . This leaf space will be endowed with various geometric structures depending on the geometric properties of \mathcal{K} . In the next sections, we shall examine the relation between the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) with the induced geometric structures on the leaf space. As a notational rule followed in this article, tensor fields on \mathcal{M} will be underlined to distinguish them from tensor fields on \mathcal{M} .

Remark 4.8 We briefly recall the results of [25] (see also [89]) that pertain to the optical structure K associated to an almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) . In the following, we shall denote the conformal class of g by [g]. If the congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} tangent to K is geodesic, there is a subclass $[g]_{n.e.}$ of metrics in [g] for which \mathcal{K} is also non-expanding. By extension, [g] and [g]_{n.e.} determine conformal subclasses of bundle metrics [h] and $[h]_{n.e.}$, respectively, on the screen bundle H_K . We then have the following relations between the geometric properties of \mathcal{K} and its leaf space:

- If \mathcal{K} is geodesic, H_K descends to a rank-2m distribution \underline{H} on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. In this case, there is a one-to-one correspondence between optical vector fields k such that $\pounds_k \kappa = 0$, where $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$, and sections of Ann(\underline{H}).
- If \mathcal{K} is geodesic and non-twisting, the induced distribution H on \mathcal{M} is involutive.
- If *K* is geodesic and non-shearing, the screen bundle metric *H_K* induces a bundle conformal structure <u>**c**</u>_{*H*} on (*M*, *H*). There is a one-to-one correspondence between metrics in [g]_{n.e.} (or equivalently, screen bundle metrics in [h]_{n.e.}) and metrics in <u>**c**</u>_{*H*}. It follows that if *K* is already non-expanding for g, then h descends to a distinguished bundle metric <u>h</u> on <u>H</u>.

Dually, we thus have that the bracket condition $[K, K^{\perp}] \subset K^{\perp}$ is equivalent to \mathcal{K} being geodesic, and the condition $[K^{\perp}, K^{\perp}] \subset K^{\perp}$ to \mathcal{K} being geodesic and non-twisting. The latter can split into the two following obvious subcases.

Proposition 4.9 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a (2m + 2)-dimensional almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} with leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. The following statements are equivalent:

(1) $[N, \overline{N}] \subset {}^{\mathbf{C}}K^{\perp};$ (2) the intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$, i.e.

$$\breve{\gamma}_i = \breve{\tau}^\omega = \breve{\tau}^\circ_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0;$$

(3) \mathcal{K} is geodesic and its twist anti-commutes with the screen bundle complex structure.

Proposition 4.10 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a (2m+2)-dimensional almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} with leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. The following statements are equivalent:

(1) $[N, N] \subset {}^{\mathbf{C}}K^{\perp}$; (2) the intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}$, i.e.

$$\breve{\gamma}_i = \breve{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = 0;$$

(3) \mathcal{K} is geodesic and its twist commutes with the screen bundle complex structure.

We shall deal with the remaining bracket conditions, namely $[K, N] \subset N$ and $[N, N] \subset N$ in Propositions 4.16 and 4.45, respectively.

Remark 4.11 In the context of almost Robinson geometry, there are many candidates generalising the notion of non-shearing congruence of null geodesics from four to higher even dimensions. All of them should be almost Robinson structures whose intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,1}$, i.e. $\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$,

Remark 4.12 It is clear from Theorem 3.18 that the only proper subbundles of \mathcal{G} that are not contained in \mathcal{G}^{-1} are

$$\mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1} \subset (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[4i:-1]},\tag{4.11}$$

i.e. $-4 i\tau_{\alpha\beta} + \zeta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and $G^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = -4 i\tau_{\alpha\beta} + \zeta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. This means that the congruence of null curves associated to an almost Robinson structure whose intrinsic torsion lies in any proper subbundles of \mathcal{G} except for (4.11) must be geodesic. We leave it as a conjecture whether one can construct almost Robinson manifolds whose intrinsic torsion lies in (4.11) but whose congruence is not geodesic.

4.6 Almost CR geometry

The geometric structure that an almost Robinson structure may induce on the leaf space of its associated congruence of null curves is an almost CR structure, of which we now recall some notions. For a friendly introduction, see [42].

4.6.1 General definitions

An *almost CR structure* on a (2m + 1)-dimensional smooth manifold $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ consists of a pair $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$, where \underline{H} is a rank-2m distribution equipped with a bundle complex structure \underline{J} . A *CR structure* is an almost CR structure for which the -i-eigenbundle $\underline{H}^{(0,1)}$ of \underline{J} , or equivalently its *i*-eigenbundle $\underline{H}^{(1,0)}$, is in involution. We call an almost CR structure $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ together with a choice of 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$ annihilating \underline{H} an *almost pseudo-Hermitian structure*.

There are two notions of *Levi forms* that we can associate to $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$:

• Following [18], we define the *Levi form of the distribution* <u>*H*</u> to be the bundle homomorphism \underline{L} : Ann(\underline{H}) $\rightarrow \wedge^2 (T^* \underline{\mathcal{M}} / \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H}))$ given by the composition

$$\operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H}) \longrightarrow T^* \underline{\mathcal{M}} \stackrel{\mathrm{d}}{\longrightarrow} \wedge^2 T^* \underline{\mathcal{M}} \longrightarrow \wedge^2 \left(T^* \underline{\mathcal{M}} / \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H}) \right)$$

Concretely, for any section $\underline{\theta}^0$ of $\operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H})$, $\underline{\theta}^0 \circ \underline{\mathsf{L}}(v, w) = \underline{d}\underline{\theta}^0(v, w)$ for any sections v and w of \underline{H} . We shall refer to $\underline{\mathsf{L}} := \underline{\theta}^0 \circ \underline{\mathsf{L}}$ as the *Levi form of* $(\underline{H}, \underline{\theta}^0)$.

• Given a 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$ annihilating <u>H</u>, the Levi form of the almost pseudo-Hermitian structure $(\underline{H}, \underline{J}, \underline{\theta}^0)$ is the Hermitian form <u>h</u> on <u>H</u>^(1,0) defined by

$$\underline{\mathbf{h}}(v,w) := -2\mathrm{id}\underline{\theta}^0(v,\overline{w}), \qquad \text{for any } v,w \in \Gamma(\underline{H}^{(1,0)}).$$

By extension, the *Levi form* $\underline{\mathbf{h}}$ of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is the Hermitian form taking values in $\mathbf{C} \otimes (T\underline{\mathcal{M}}/\underline{H})$ defined by $\underline{\mathbf{h}} := \underline{\theta}^0 \circ \underline{\mathbf{h}}$.

Note that the definition of $\underline{\mathbf{h}}$ depends on both \underline{H} and \underline{J} , but that of $\underline{\mathbf{L}}$ depends on \underline{H} alone. One can identify $\underline{\mathbf{h}}$ in a suitable way with the (1, 1)-part of $\underline{\mathbf{L}}$ with respect to \underline{J} —see below.

A coframe $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ adapted to the almost CR structure $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ consists of a real 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$ and *m* complex 1-forms $\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}$ with $\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}} = \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\alpha}$, such that $\underline{H} = \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{\theta}^0)$, and $\underline{H}^{(0,1)} = \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha})$. For simplicity, we shall assume that $\operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H})$ is oriented, although this assumption can easily be dropped. Any other coframe $(\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^0, \underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\widehat{\theta}}}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ adapted to $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is related to $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ by

$$\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{0} = \mathbf{e}^{\underline{\varphi}} \underline{\underline{\theta}}^{0}, \quad \underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha} = \underline{\psi}_{\beta}^{\ \alpha} \underline{\underline{\theta}}^{\beta} + \underline{\underline{\phi}}^{\alpha} \underline{\underline{\theta}}^{0}, \tag{4.12}$$

where $\underline{\varphi}, \underline{\psi}_{\beta}^{\alpha}$, and $\underline{\phi}^{\alpha}$ are smooth functions on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$, with the requirement that the determinant of $\underline{\psi}_{\beta}^{\alpha}$ be non-vanishing.⁴ Even with a choice of an almost pseudo-Hermitian structure $\underline{\theta}^{0}$ on $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$, there is no canonical choice for $(\underline{\theta}^{\alpha})$ in general. Any choice of vector field \underline{e}_{0} dual to $\underline{\theta}^{0}$ splits $T\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ as

$$T\underline{\mathcal{M}} = \underline{H} \oplus \operatorname{span}(\underline{e}_0). \tag{4.13}$$

The structure equations for a given CR coframe $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ can be expressed as

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{d}\underline{\theta}^{0} &= \mathbf{i}\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\,\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}\wedge\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}} + \underline{\mathbf{L}}_{\alpha\beta}\,\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}\wedge\underline{\theta}^{\beta} + \underline{\mathbf{L}}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}\,\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}}\wedge\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}} + \underline{\alpha}\wedge\underline{\theta}^{0},\\ \mathbf{d}\underline{\theta}^{\alpha} &= \underline{\theta}^{\beta}\wedge\underline{\Gamma}_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} + \underline{A}^{\alpha}{}_{\bar{\beta}}\,\underline{\theta}^{0}\wedge\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}} - \frac{1}{2}\underline{\mathbf{N}}_{\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}}{}^{\alpha}\,\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}}\wedge\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\gamma}},\\ \mathbf{d}\underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}} &= \underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}}\wedge\overline{\underline{\Gamma}}_{\bar{\beta}}{}^{\bar{\alpha}} + \underline{A}^{\bar{\alpha}}{}_{\beta}\,\underline{\theta}^{0}\wedge\underline{\theta}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\underline{\mathbf{N}}_{\beta\gamma}{}^{\bar{\alpha}}\,\underline{\theta}^{\beta}\wedge\underline{\theta}^{\gamma}, \end{split}$$
(4.14)

for some complex functions $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$, $\underline{L}_{\alpha\beta}$, $\underline{A}^{\bar{\alpha}}{}_{\beta}$, $\underline{N}_{\beta\gamma}{}^{\bar{\alpha}}$ and 1-forms $\underline{\Gamma}_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}$ and $\underline{\alpha}$ on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$, where $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ is Hermitian, $\underline{\alpha}$ is real, and the remaining quantities are defined by complex

⁴ One could also include negative rescalings of $\underline{\theta}^0$ if one drops the assumption of orientability of Ann(<u>H</u>).

conjugation. Here, we identify $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ as the components of the Levi form of the pseudo-Hermitian structure (H, J, θ^0) .

There are two important invariants of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ at a point of $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$, namely

the *rank* of <u>L</u>, that is, the largest integer *r* for which <u>θ</u>⁰ ∧ (d<u>θ</u>⁰)^r does not vanish;
the *signature* of <u>h</u>, i.e. the signature of the Hermitian matrix <u>h</u>_v_d.

Clearly, these do not depend on the choice of CR coframe. We shall assume regularity of the rank and signature throughout the article, i.e. these will be constant everywhere. We say that the almost CR structure (H, J) is

- *contact* or *non-degenerate* if $\underline{\mathbf{L}}$ has maximal rank, i.e. $\underline{\theta}^0 \wedge (\underline{d\theta}^0)^m$ does not vanish at any point, i.e. \underline{H} is a contact distribution;
- totally degenerate if $\underline{\mathbf{L}}$ vanishes identically, i.e. $\underline{\mathbf{L}}_{\alpha\beta} = \underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0$, i.e. $\underline{\theta}^0 \wedge d\underline{\theta}^0 = 0$ everywhere, i.e. \underline{H} is involutive;
- *partially integrable* if \underline{L} is of type (1, 1), i.e. $\underline{L}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ —in this case, \underline{L} can be identified with the imaginary part of \underline{h} ;
- *integrable* or *involutive* if $\underline{\underline{H}}^{(0,1)}$ is involutive, i.e. $\underline{\underline{L}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \underline{\underline{N}}_{\beta\bar{\nu}}^{\alpha} = 0$.

The first two properties pertain to \underline{H} alone while the latter two depend on the pair $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$.

Example 4.13 The model for a contact CR manifold is the CR sphere S^{2m+1} viewed as a hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^{2m+2} . More generally, any real hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^{2m+2} is a CR manifold.

Remark 4.14 As a special case of almost CR manifold, consider an almost complex manifold $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{J})$. Then, one can take \mathcal{M} to be a bundle over \mathcal{M} with one-dimensional fibres such as $\mathbf{R} \times \mathcal{M}, \mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathcal{M}$ and $S^1 \times \mathcal{M}$, and choose (\mathcal{Q}^{α}) to be a frame of (1, 0)-forms for \mathcal{M} , extend it to a coframe $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ on $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ by adjoining a vertical 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$. Then clearly $(\mathcal{M}, \underline{H}, J)$ is an almost CR manifold, where $\underline{H} = \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{\theta}^0)$, and the -i-eigenbundle of \underline{J} is $\underline{H}^{(0,1)} = \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha})$.

4.6.2 Partially integrable contact almost CR manifolds

Suppose that $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is both contact and partially integrable. Then $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is equipped with a subconformal contact structure $\underline{\mathbf{c}}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$ compatible with the bundle complex structure \underline{J} . Indeed, $\underline{\mathbf{L}}$ is now a (1, 1)-form, which we may identify with $\underline{\mathbf{h}}$, and with a slight abuse of notation, $\underline{\mathbf{h}} = 2 \underline{\mathbf{L}} \circ \underline{J}$ is a *subconformal metric* on $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$. Note that $\underline{H}^{(1,0)}$ and $\underline{H}^{(0,1)}$ are totally null with respect to $\underline{\mathbf{c}}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$. In particular, we have a oneto-one correspondence between contact forms in Ann(\underline{H}) and metrics in $\underline{\mathbf{c}}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$, each metric being given by $\underline{\mathbf{h}} = 2 \underline{\mathbf{L}} \circ \underline{J}$ where $\underline{\mathbf{L}} = \underline{\theta}^0 \circ \underline{\mathbf{L}}$ for some contact form $\underline{\theta}^0$.

Furthermore, each choice of contact 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$ determines a unique vector field \underline{e}_0 , the *Reeb* vector field, satisfying $\underline{\theta}^0(\underline{e}_0) = 1$ and $\underline{d}\underline{\theta}^0(\underline{e}_0, \cdot) = 0$, which induces a canonical splitting (4.13), and one can choose an *adapted coframe* $(\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\tilde{\alpha}})$ for <u>H</u> such that

$$\mathrm{d}\underline{\theta}^{0} = \mathrm{i}\underline{\mathsf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\underline{\theta}^{\alpha} \wedge \underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}}.$$

🖄 Springer

Any two such coframes must be related by a change (4.12) where $\underline{\phi}^{\alpha} = i\underline{h}^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}(d\underline{\phi})_{\bar{\beta}}$. With no loss, one can always choose $(\underline{\theta}^{\alpha})$ to be unitary with respect to $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$.

Finally, to each choice of contact 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$, there exists a unique connection $\underline{\nabla}$, namely the *Webster–Tanaka connection*, that preserves $\underline{\theta}^0$ and $d\underline{\theta}^0$, with prescribed torsion [108, 116]: with reference to the structure equations (4.14), we identity $\underline{\Gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ with the connection 1-form of $\underline{\nabla}$, $\underline{A}_{\alpha\beta} = \underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\gamma}} \underline{A}^{\bar{\gamma}}{}_{\beta}$ with the so-called *pseudo-Hermitian torsion tensor*, and $\underline{N}_{\beta\gamma\alpha} = \underline{N}_{\beta\gamma}{}^{\bar{\delta}}\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\delta}}$ with the so-called *Nijenhuis torsion tensor*. By virtue of the Bianchi identities, these satisfy $\underline{A}_{[\alpha\beta]} = \underline{N}_{[\beta\gamma\alpha]} = 0$. While $\underline{N}_{\beta\gamma\alpha}$ is a CR invariant—it is the obstruction to the involutivity of $\underline{H}^{(1,0)}$ —the torsion tensor $\underline{A}_{\alpha\beta}$ depends on the choice of contact form, and is an invariant of the almost pseudo-Hermitian structure only. It may be interpreted as the obstruction to the Reeb vector field being a transverse symmetry of the CR structure. If $\underline{A}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ vanishes, we call $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, J, \theta^0)$ a *Sasaki* almost pseudo-Hermitian contact manifold.

Further invariants of the partially integrable contact structure $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ can be obtained from the curvature of $\underline{\nabla}$. Of interest are the *Chern–Moser tensor* when m > 1, and the *Cartan tensor* when m = 1. If $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is integrable, then the vanishing of these tensors is equivalent to the CR manifold being locally diffeomorphic to the CR sphere—see, for example, [14].

Remark 4.15 There are close analogies between partially integrable contact almost CR geometry and conformal geometry by virtue of the existence of the subconformal structure $\underline{c}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$: here, an almost pseudo-Hermitian structure can be seen as a choice of a bundle metric in $\underline{c}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$, and one may define an almost pseudo-Hermitian analogue of the Einstein condition in terms of the $\underline{\theta}^0$ -dependent *Webster–Ricci tensor* and the pseudo-Hermitian torsion tensor $\underline{A}_{\alpha\beta}$. This condition was introduced in the integrable case in [12, 51], and generalised to the non-integrable case in [106] where it is referred to as an *almost CR–Einstein structure*.⁵ As shown in [51, 106], such a structure can be constructed on the anti-canonical bundle of an almost Kähler–Einstein manifold. Conversely, any almost CR–Einstein manifold locally arises in this way.

We shall leave aside analytical questions related to CR manifolds, especially in connection with embeddability, and we refer the reader to [42, 113] and references therein for further details.

4.7 Nearly Robinson structures and almost CR structures

In this section, we restrict our attention to nearly Robinson structures. These lie at the junction between Lorentzian geometry and almost CR geometry, as the next proposition makes clear.

⁵ It is rather unfortunate that the terminology "almost CR–Einstein structure" is used in different ways in [12, 106]: in the former reference, "almost" refers to the Einstein condition, meaning that the manifold is a CR manifold that is CR–Einstein off the zero set of some density. In the latter reference, "almost" refers to an almost CR structure that is not necessarily integrable.

Proposition 4.16 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a (2m+2)-dimensional almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} with leaf space \mathcal{M} . The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) (N, K) is a nearly Robinson structure, i.e. $[K, N] \subset N$, i.e. for any optical vector field k, and any $v \in \Gamma(N)$, $\pounds_k v \in \Gamma(N)$;
- (2) any complex Robinson (m + 1)-form v is preserved along K, i.e. for any optical vector field k, $\pounds_k v = f v$ for some smooth function f; (3) the intrinsic torsion is a section of $(\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[-2i:1]} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0}$, i.e.

$$\breve{\gamma}_i = \breve{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad \breve{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 2i\breve{\tau}_{\alpha\beta};$$

(4) (N, K) induces an almost CR structure (H, J) on \mathcal{M} .

If any of these conditions holds, \mathcal{K} is geodesic and its shear commutes with the screen bundle complex structure.

Remark 4.17 Condition (1) tells us that the splitting of ${}^{\mathbf{C}}H_{K}$ into $H_{K}^{(1,0)}$ and $H_{K}^{(0,1)}$ is preserved along the integral curves of \mathcal{K} . In particular, the distribution \underline{H} on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ inherits this splitting, which is equivalent to an almost CR structure, as claimed by (4).

Proof The equivalence between (1) and (2) is clear. For the almost Robinson structure to be preserved along K, i.e. $\pounds_k v \in \Gamma(\overline{N})$ for any $k \in \Gamma(K), v \in \Gamma(\overline{N})$, we must have

$$0 = \kappa \left(\pounds_k e_\alpha \right) = -\nabla \kappa \left(k, e_\alpha \right) = -\gamma_\alpha,$$

$$0 = g \left(\pounds_k e_\alpha, e_\beta \right) = g \left(\nabla_k e_\alpha, e_\beta \right) - \nabla \kappa \left(e_\alpha, e_\beta \right) = \frac{1}{2i} \zeta_{\alpha\beta} - \tau_{\alpha\beta} - \sigma_{\alpha\beta}.$$

for any adapted frame $(\ell, e_{\alpha}, e_{\bar{\alpha}}, k)$ and $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$. It now follows that $\gamma_{\alpha} = 0$, and taking the symmetric and skew-symmetric parts yields $-2i\tau_{\alpha\beta} + \zeta_{\alpha\beta} = \sigma_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. This computation shows that conditions (1) and (3) are equivalent.

The equivalence between (1) and (2) can be proved following [63]. One can always find a complex Robinson (m + 1)-form ν such that $\pounds_k \nu = 0$ for some optical vector field k. So v is the pullback of a complex (m + 1)-form v on \mathcal{M} . This v clearly shares the same algebraic properties of v. In particular, it is simple, and $\theta^0 \wedge v = 0$, where θ^0 is a real 1-form that pulls back to an optical 1-form on \mathcal{M} , and annihilates a rank-2*m* distribution *H* on \mathcal{M} . This means that span(ν) = \wedge^{m+1} Ann($H^{(0,1)}$) for some complex rank-*m* vector subbundle $H^{(0,1)}$ of ^C*H*. The story for the complex conjugate of v is entirely analogous, and yields a complex rank-*m* vector subbundle <u> $H^{(1,0)}$ </u> of ^C<u>H</u>. It is then straightforward to check <u> $H^{(1,0)} \cap \underline{H}^{(0,1)} = \{0\}$ at any point, i.e. ^C<u> $H = \underline{H}^{(1,0)} \oplus \underline{H}^{(0,1)}$, which defines the almost CR structure on <u> \mathcal{M} </u> as required.</u></u> The last claim of the proposition follows from Lemma 4.7.

In [63], the authors show how to construct Robinson manifolds as trivial lines bundles over CR manifolds. Here, we generalise the construction to nearly Robinson manifolds. The proof of the following result is self-evident.

Proposition 4.18 Let $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ be a (2m+1)-dimensional oriented almost CR manifold, and $\mathcal{M} := \mathbf{R} \times \underline{\mathcal{M}} \xrightarrow{\overline{\omega}} \underline{\mathcal{M}}$ be a trivial line bundle over $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. Fix a triplet $\left((\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\tilde{\alpha}}), h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}, \lambda\right)$ where

- $(\underline{\theta}^{0}, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ is a CR-coframe on $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$,
- $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ is a positive-definite Hermitian matrix depending smoothly on \mathcal{M} , and
- λ is a 1-form on \mathcal{M} such that $\lambda \wedge \overline{\omega}^* \underline{\varepsilon}$ does not vanish at any point for any non-vanishing (2m + 1)-form $\underline{\varepsilon}$ on \mathcal{M} .

Then (\mathcal{M}, g) is an oriented and time-oriented Lorentzian manifold with metric

$$g = 4\,\varpi^*\underline{\theta}^0\,\lambda + 2\,h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\,\varpi^*\underline{\theta}^\alpha\,\varpi^*\underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}},\tag{4.15}$$

and (N, K), where $N = \operatorname{Ann}(\varpi^* \underline{\theta}^0, \varpi^* \underline{\theta}^\alpha)$ and $K = \operatorname{Ann}(\varpi^* \underline{\theta}^0)^{\perp}$, defines a nearly Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) . In particular, $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ is the leaf space of the congruence of null geodesics tangent to K.

Any two such triplets $((\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}}), h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}, \lambda)$ and $((\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^0, \underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\widehat{\theta}}}^{\overline{\alpha}}), \widehat{h}_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}, \widehat{\lambda})$ where $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ and $(\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^0, \underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\widehat{\theta}}}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ are related by (4.12) define the same metric (4.15) if and only if $\psi_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}$ is an element of $\mathbf{U}(m)$ at every point, i.e.

$$\widehat{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = h_{\gamma\bar{\delta}}(\underline{\psi}^{-1})_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}(\underline{\psi}^{-1})_{\bar{\beta}}{}^{\bar{\delta}},$$

and λ transforms as

$$\widehat{\lambda} = \mathrm{e}^{-\underline{\varphi}} \lambda - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\psi}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \underline{\phi}_{\beta} \underline{\theta}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\psi}_{\bar{\alpha}}{}^{\bar{\beta}} \underline{\phi}_{\bar{\beta}} \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\phi}_{\beta} \underline{\phi}^{\beta} \underline{\theta}^{0}.$$

Remark 4.19 Variations of the above construction are possible by replacing the **R**-factor of \mathcal{M} by $\mathbf{R}_{>0}$ or S^1 for instance.

Definition 4.20 We shall refer to any nearly Robinson structure constructed on $\mathcal{M} := \mathbf{R} \times \underline{\mathcal{M}} \longrightarrow \underline{\mathcal{M}}$ as in Proposition 4.18, as a *lift* of the almost CR manifold $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$. The pullbacks of the 1-forms $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^\alpha, \overline{\theta}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ will be referred to as *horizontal*, and the 1-form λ as *vertical* (with respect to the fibration $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$).

Remark 4.21 We emphasise that the metric constructed in Proposition 4.18 is *not* canonical in general. To do away with the choice of CR coframe and 1-form λ , while fixing the conformal class $[h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}]$, one needs to introduce the notion of *generalised* almost Robinson geometry, which is dealt with in Sect. 6—see Proposition 6.3.

Before we proceed, we give the converse of Proposition 4.18—see [63] for the involutive case.

Proposition 4.22 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} . Then \mathcal{M} is locally diffeomorphic to the trivial line bundle $\mathbf{R} \times \underline{\mathcal{M}} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \underline{\mathcal{M}}$, where $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ is the local leaf space of \mathcal{K} and is equipped with an almost CR structure

(<u>*H*</u>, <u>*J*</u>). Further, locally, g takes the form (4.15) for some CR coframe ($\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\tilde{\alpha}}$), Hermitian matrix $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ depending smoothly on \mathcal{M} , and 1-form λ on \mathcal{M} that never vanishes on K.

Proof Note that \mathcal{M} is locally diffeomorphic to the line bundle $\mathbf{R} \times \underline{\mathcal{M}} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \underline{\mathcal{M}}$, where each fibre is a null curve of \mathcal{K} . By Proposition 4.16, (N, K) descends to an almost CR structure $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ on the local leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ of \mathcal{K} : following our convention, $N/^{\mathbb{C}}K$ and $\overline{N}/^{\mathbb{C}}K$ descend to the eigenbundles $\underline{H}^{(0,1)}$ and $\underline{H}^{(1,0)}$ of \underline{J} , respectively. Let $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ be a coframe on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ where $\operatorname{span}(\underline{\theta}^0) = \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H})$ and $\operatorname{span}(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}) =$ $\operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H}^{(0,1)})$. Then $\operatorname{span}(\varpi^*\underline{\theta}^0) = \operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H})$ and $\operatorname{span}(\varpi^*\underline{\theta}^0, \varpi^*\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}) = \operatorname{Ann}(N)$, and it follows immediate that g must be of the form (4.15) where $h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}$ and λ have the required properties.

Propositions 4.18 and 4.22 thus allow us to relate the geometric properties of a nearly Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) with those of the almost CR leaf space $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ of its associated congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} . This can be seen at four levels:

- the involutivity of N is equivalent to that of $\underline{H}^{(0,1)}$ —see Sect. 4.10;
- the twist *τ*_{ij} of *K* encodes the geometric and algebraic properties of the Levi form <u>L</u> of <u>H</u>;
- what remains of the shear, that is, its (1, 1)-part σ_{αβ̄}, and the expansion ϵ of K obstruct the existence of a conformal or metric structure on <u>H</u>;
- further degeneracy conditions of the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) will also depend on the choice of the 1-form λ —see Lemma 4.55 for instance.

Unlike *N* and $\check{\tau}_{ij}$, which are tied to the properties of (<u>*H*</u>, <u>*J*</u>), the shear and expansion depend only on the screen bundle metric of (4.15)—see also Remark 4.30 below.

To delve into this matter further, we must bear in mind that the coframe $(\underline{\theta}^0, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ does *not* in general pull back to a Robinson coframe on \mathcal{M} by simply adjoining the 1-form λ , in the sense that $(\underline{\theta}^{\alpha})$ do *not* form a unitary coframe with respect to $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$. This essentially depends on the choice of $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$. To be precise, a Robinson coframe $(\kappa, \theta^{\alpha}, \overline{\theta}^{\bar{\alpha}}, \lambda)$ for the metric (4.15), so that (θ^{α}) is unitary for $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$, is related to $(\theta^0, \theta^{\alpha}, \overline{\theta}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ via

$$\kappa = 2\overline{\varpi}^* \underline{\theta}^0, \quad \theta^\alpha = \psi_\beta{}^\alpha \left(\overline{\varpi}^* \underline{\theta}^\beta\right) + \phi^\alpha \underline{\theta}^0, \tag{4.16}$$

for some smooth functions ψ^{α} and ψ_{β}^{α} on \mathcal{M} , where ψ_{β}^{α} takes values in **GL**(*m*, **C**). Note that one can always choose our Robinson coframe such that $\psi^{\alpha} = 0$ in (4.16). When m = 1, we have the decomposition **GL**(1, **C**) \cong **C**^{*} \cong **R**_{>0} · **U**(1), in which case we always have $\psi_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = r e^{i\phi} \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}$ where r, ϕ are real with r > 0. Now, the space of all Hermitian forms on **C**^m is isomorphic to the homogeneous space **GL**(*m*, **C**)/**U**(*m*) of real dimension m^2 . Thus, the failure of ($\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}$) to be unitary with respect to some scalar multiple of $h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}$ at any point is measured by an element of **GL**(*m*, **C**) mod **U**(*m*).

At present, let us relate the twist of \mathcal{K} to the Levi forms of \underline{H} and $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$. Using (4.16), we find

$$\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \tau_{\gamma\bar{\delta}} \psi_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma} \overline{\psi}_{\bar{\beta}}{}^{\bar{\delta}}, \quad 2 \underline{\mathbf{L}}_{\alpha\beta} = \tau_{\gamma\delta} \psi_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma} \psi_{\beta}{}^{\delta}.$$

From the first of these equations, we conclude that the $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$ -component $\check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ of the intrinsic torsion encodes the signature of the Levi form of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$, while the $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}$ -component $\check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta}$ of the intrinsic torsion encodes the partial integrability of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$. As a direct consequence, we obtain the following three propositions:

Proposition 4.23 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and almost CR leaf space $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}, J)$. The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) the intrinsic torsion has non-degenerate \mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 -component $\check{\tau}_{ij}$;
- (2) *K* is maximally twisting;
- (3) $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is contact.

Proposition 4.24 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and almost CR leaf space $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}, J)$. The following statements are equivalent:

(1) the intrinsic torsion is also a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}$, i.e.

$$\breve{\gamma}_i = \breve{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 0;$$

- (2) the twist of \mathcal{K} commutes with the screen bundle complex structure;
- (3) $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is partially integrable.

Proposition 4.25 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and almost CR leaf space $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}, J)$. The following statements are equivalent:

(1) the intrinsic torsion is also a section of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$ with non-degenerate $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$ component, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 0,$$
 with non-degenerate $\check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$;

- (2) \mathcal{K} is maximally twisting, and the twist commutes with the screen bundle complex *structure;*
- (3) $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is partially integrable and contact, and is thus endowed with a subconformal contact structure $\mathbf{c}_{H,J}$.

Remark 4.26 The metrics in the subconformal structure $\underline{\mathbf{c}}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$ of Proposition 4.25 are in one-to-one correspondence with optical vector fields \overline{k} such that $\underline{\mathbf{f}}_k \kappa = 0$ where $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$.

Remark 4.27 Special cases of the nearly Robinson manifolds given in Propositions 4.23, 4.24 and 4.25 are those for which $\check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ} = 0$, i.e. the twist determines the almost Robinson structure—see Sect. 4.9.

As has already been treated in [25], the absence of shear induces a subconformal structure $\mathbf{c}_{\underline{H}}$ on \underline{H} , in which metrics are in one-to-one correspondence with metrics in $[g]_{n.e.}$ —see Remark 4.8. This subconformal structure is however *not* compatible with the complex structure \underline{J} in general. Combining this fact with Proposition 4.25 yields the following result:

Proposition 4.28 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and almost CR leaf space $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{J})$. The following statements are equivalent:

(1) the intrinsic torsion is also a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$ with non-degenerate $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$ -component, i.e.

$$\breve{\gamma}_i = \breve{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{\sigma}_{ij} = \breve{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 0,$$
 with non-degenerate $\breve{\tau}_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}$?

- (2) \mathcal{K} is maximally twisting and non-shearing, and the twist commutes with the screen bundle complex structure;
- (3) (<u>H</u>, <u>J</u>) is partially integrable and contact, and thus equipped with a subconformal structure $\mathbf{c}_{H,J}$, and also inherits a subconformal structure \mathbf{c}_{H} from $[g]_{n.e.}$.

Remark 4.29 The subconformal structures $\underline{c}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$ and $\underline{c}_{\underline{H}}$ are distinct in general. They can however be related in the following way. Since \mathcal{K} is maximally twisting and non-shearing, we know from [25] that there exists a unique optical vector field k^a such that the twist of k^a is normalised to $\tau_{ij}\tau^{ij} = 2m$ for any metric g in $[g]_{n.e.}$. With this normalisation, for each choice of metric g in $[g]_{n.e.}$, the Levi form of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is related to the twist of k by

$$\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} + \underline{\tau}^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}.$$
(4.17)

We thus see that $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ is a deformation of the metric $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ by the trace-free part of the twist $\underline{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ}$. In particular, $\underline{\mathbf{c}}_{\underline{H},\underline{J}}$ and $\underline{\mathbf{c}}_{\underline{H}}$ coincide if and only if $\underline{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ} = 0$, i.e. the nearly Robinson structure is twist-induced. In Sect. 4.9, we shall focus on a special case of the aforementioned results where the only non-vanishing of the twist lies in $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}$.

Remark 4.30 Proposition 4.18 allows us to construct an almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) with prescribed intrinsic torsion from a chosen almost CR manifold $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$. While (N, K), including the twist of the congruence \mathcal{K} , is determined by $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$, there is more freedom as to the choice of Hermitian matrix $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$, which will impact the (1, 1)-part of the shear $\check{\sigma}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ and the expansion $\check{\epsilon}$ of \mathcal{K} . In fact, using (4.16), we compute

$$\frac{\epsilon}{m}h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} + \sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = h_{\gamma\bar{\beta}}\dot{\psi}_{\delta}{}^{\gamma}(\psi^{-1})_{\alpha}{}^{\delta} + h_{\alpha\bar{\delta}}\dot{\overline{\psi}}_{\bar{\gamma}}{}^{\bar{\delta}}(\overline{\psi}^{-1})_{\bar{\beta}}{}^{\bar{\gamma}},$$

where $\dot{\psi}_{\delta}^{\gamma} := \pounds_k \psi_{\delta}^{\gamma}$ for the optical vector field $k = g^{-1}(\kappa, \cdot)$. In particular, we interpret the $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0}$ -component $\check{\sigma}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ of the intrinsic torsion as the infinitesimal obstruction to $(\underline{\theta}^{\alpha})$ being unitary with respect to $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$.

Various considerations may dictate the choice of screen bundle Hermitian form $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$. For \mathcal{K} to be non-shearing, we may set $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = e^{2\varphi}\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ for some Hermitian form $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ on $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ and smooth function φ on \mathcal{M} . If φ is a function on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \mathcal{K}$ is non-expanding too. There are two extreme cases to consider:

- If $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ is positive-definite, we may take $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$. This is the case if $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is partially integrable and contact: the resulting (N, K) is then said to be *twist-induced*, of which we shall say more in Sect. 4.9.
- If the almost CR structure is totally degenerate, \mathcal{K} is also non-twisting, and the resulting nearly Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is either of *Kundt type* or of *Robinson–Trautman type*—see Sects. 4.12 and 4.13.

There are further, intermediate, situations where the Levi form of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is degenerate but not identically zero. This allows for screen bundle metrics to be constructed partly from the Levi form.

4.8 Conditions on the Robinson 3-forms

The purpose of this section is to highlight the fact that for a given almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) , conditions on Robinson 3-forms do not necessarily entail that (N, K) is nearly Robinson. The next two propositions illustrate the point.

Proposition 4.31 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} with leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) any Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} is preserved along K, i.e. $\pounds_k \rho_{abc} = f \rho_{abc}$ for some smooth function f, and any optical vector field k.
- (2) the intrinsic torsion is a section of $(\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[2i:1]} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,1}$, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\sigma}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0, \quad \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = -2i\check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta}.$$

(3) any Robinson 3-form induces a 3-form on the leaf space $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H})$.

If any of these conditions holds, \mathcal{K} is geodesic and its shear anticommutes with the screen bundle complex structure.

Proof Choose splitting operators $(\ell^a, \delta^a_{\alpha}, \delta^a_{\alpha}, k^a)$ and let ρ_{abc} be the Robinson 3-form associated to the optical 1-form $\kappa_a = g_{ab}k^b$. The condition that ρ_{abc} be preserved along K gives

$$k^d \nabla_d \rho_{abc} - 3k^d \nabla_{[a} \rho_{bc]d} = f \rho_{abc}.$$

Now, contracting with $\delta^a_{\alpha} \delta^b_{\beta} \delta^c_{\tilde{\gamma}}$, $\delta^a_{\alpha} \delta^b_{\beta} \ell^c$ and $\delta^a_{\alpha} \delta^b_{\tilde{\beta}} \ell^c$ yields $\gamma_{\alpha} = 0$, $\zeta_{\alpha\beta} = -2i\tau_{\alpha\beta}$ and $\sigma_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} = 0$, respectively. This proves the equivalence between conditions (1) and (2). The equivalence with condition (3) follows from the geometric interpretation of condition (1). An application of Lemma 4.7 completes the proof.

Proposition 4.32 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent:

(1) the intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 0.$$

- (2) any Robinson 3-form is recurrent along K.
- (3) N is parallel along K.

If any of these conditions holds, K is geodesic.

Proof The equivalence between (1) and (2) is tautological, while the equivalence between (2) and (3) follows from the definition of $\zeta_{\alpha\beta}$. That \mathcal{K} is geodesic in this case follows from $\check{\gamma}_i = 0$.

Returning to nearly Robinson manifolds, we have the following lemma:

Lemma 4.33 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and almost CR leaf space $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{J})$. The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) any Robinson 3-form is parallel along K;
- (2) N is parallel along K;
- (3) the twist of K commutes with the screen bundle complex structure;
- (4) $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is partially integrable.

Proof For a nearly Robinson manifold, the intrinsic torsion is a section of \mathcal{G}_{-1}^2 , and so in particular, $\xi_{\alpha\beta} = 2i \tilde{\tau}_{\alpha\beta}$. Hence $\xi_{\alpha\beta}$ and $\tilde{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, and the result follows immediately by Lemma 4.7, Proposition 4.24 and Proposition 4.32.

It can readily be checked that the nearly Robinson manifolds of Propositions 4.24, 4.25 and 4.28 all satisfy this property.

4.9 Twist-induced almost Robinson structures

We shall now present a special case of almost Robinson structures, which arise from the twist of an optical geometry.

Proposition 4.34 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, K) be an optical geometry of dimension 2m + 2 with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . Let κ_a be an optical 1-form and set $\tau_{abc} := 3 \kappa_{[a} \nabla_b \kappa_{c]}$. The following two conditions are equivalent:

(1) the 3-form τ_{abc} satisfies

$$\tau_{ab}{}^{e}\tau_{ecd} = -\frac{2}{m}\tau_{[a}{}^{ef}g_{b][c}\tau_{d]ef} \neq 0;$$
(4.18)

(2) \mathcal{K} is geodesic and twisting, and there exists a unique optical vector field k whose twist endormorphism $h^{-1} \circ \tau$ is a bundle complex structure J compatible with h on the screen bundle (H_K, h) , i.e. $J = h^{-1} \circ \tau$. In particular, the twist of \mathcal{K} induces an almost Robinson structure (N, K) on (\mathcal{M}, g, K) , and $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$ determines a unique Robinson 3-form given by

$$\rho_{abc} = \kappa_{[a} \nabla_b \kappa_{c]}. \tag{4.19}$$

Proof Choose splitting operators $(\ell^a, \delta^a_i, k^a)$. Then we can write $\nabla_{[a\kappa_b]} = \lambda_{[a}\gamma_{b]} + \tau_{ab} + \alpha_{[a\kappa_b]}$ for some γ_a, τ_{ab} and α_a , where $\ell^a \gamma_a = \ell^a \tau_{ab} = k^a \gamma_a = k^a \tau_{ab} = 0$. Contracting (4.18) with $k^a \ell^b k^c \ell^d$ and $\delta^a_i \ell^b \delta^c_j \ell^d$ yields

$$\gamma_i \gamma^i = 0, \tag{4.20}$$

$$\tau_i^{\ k}\tau_k^{\ j} = -\frac{1}{2m}\tau_{k\ell}\tau^{k\ell}\delta_i^j \neq 0, \tag{4.21}$$

respectively, where $\gamma_i = \gamma_a \delta_i^a$ and $\tau_{ij} = \tau_{ab} \delta_i^a \delta_j^b$. Since h_{ij} is positive-definite, equation (4.20) tells us that $\gamma_i = 0$, i.e. \mathcal{K} is geodesic. Equation (4.21) tells us that we can rescale *k* by $\frac{\sqrt{2m}}{\|\tau\|}$ so that the twist of the rescaled optical vector field satisfies

$$\tau_i{}^k\tau_k{}^j = -\delta_i^j,$$

i.e. $h^{-1} \circ \tau$ is a bundle complex structure on H_K . The uniqueness of k follows from the assumption that K is oriented.

Remark 4.35 That equation (4.19) singles out an optical 1-form also follows from the fact that LHS has boost weight 2 and the RHS boost weight 1.

Definition 4.36 We shall refer to the almost Robinson structure given in Proposition 4.34 as a *twist-induced almost Robinson structure*.

Remark 4.37 Let us re-emphasise that by Proposition 4.34, the congruence associated to a twist-induced almost Robinson structure is always geodesic and maximally twisting.

It is clear that an almost Robinson structure (N, K) is twist-induced if and only if its intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$ with non-vanishing $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}$ -component, i.e.

$$\breve{\gamma}_i = \breve{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{\tau}^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0, \quad \breve{\tau}^{\omega} \neq 0.$$

However, the following proposition tells us that the intrinsic torsion must in fact be a section of a subbundle thereof.

Proposition 4.38 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) (N, K) is a twist-induced almost Robinson structure;
- (2) the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1}$ with non-vanishing $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}$ -component, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^\circ = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} = 0, \quad \check{\tau}^{\omega} \neq 0.$$

If any of these conditions holds, N is parallel along K.

Proof That (2) implies (1) is immediate since $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{3,0} \cap \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,1}$ is a subbundle of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \cap \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,1}$. For the converse, we note that a twist-induced almost Robinson structure singles out a preferred optical 1-form κ such that $(d\kappa)_{ab} = \omega_{ab} + \kappa_{[a}\alpha_{b]}$ for some 1-form α_a , where ω_{ab} is a representative of the screen bundle Hermitian structure. Note that the associated Robinson 3-form is given by $\rho_{abc} = 3\kappa_{[a}\omega_{bc]}$. Taking the exterior derivative of $d\kappa$ yields

$$0 = (\mathrm{d}\omega)_{abc} + \omega_{[ab}\alpha_{c]} - \kappa_{[a}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)_{bc]}. \tag{4.22}$$

Choose a splitting $(\ell^a, \delta^a_{\alpha}, \delta^a_{\overline{\alpha}}, k^a)$. Contracting (4.22) with $k^a \delta^b_{\alpha} \delta^c_{\beta}$ leads to

$$0 = 3(d\omega)^{0}{}_{\alpha\beta}$$

= $(\nabla\omega)^{0}{}_{\alpha\beta} - 2i\omega_{ab}\delta^{a}_{\alpha}\delta^{b}_{\beta}$
= $(\nabla\rho)^{0}{}_{\alpha\beta0} = \zeta_{\alpha\beta},$

i.e. \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathscr{G}^{3,0}_{-1}$. Now, contract (4.22) with $\delta^a_{\alpha} \delta^b_{\beta} \delta^c_{\gamma}$ yields

$$0 = (\mathbf{d}\omega)_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$$
$$= (\nabla\rho)_{[\alpha\beta\gamma]0} = G^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}.$$

i.e. \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathscr{G}_0^{1,1}$, which completes the proof.

Remark 4.39 Proposition 4.38 tells us that if the intrinsic torsion of a given almost Robinson manifold is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$ but not of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}$, then it must be a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1}$. This should be contrasted with the situation regarding the Gray–Hervella classification of almost Hermitian manifolds [30], which is briefly reviewed in Sect. 4.11: the sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifolds can be naturally arranged in terms of inclusions, which are shown to be strict in the sense that each class contains an almost Hermitian metric that does not belong to any of the other fifteen classes.

The next result is a direct consequence of Propositions 4.25 and 4.38.

Proposition 4.40 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) (N, K) is a twist-induced almost Robinson structure and the shear of K commutes with the screen bundle complex structure;
- (2) the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{3,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1}$ with non-vanishing $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}$ -component, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^\circ = \check{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} = 0, \qquad \qquad \check{\tau}^\omega \neq 0.$$

If any of these conditions holds, (N, K) is a nearly Robinson structure and the induced almost CR leaf space $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ of \mathcal{K} is partially integrable and contact, and is thus equipped with a subconformal structure $\mathbf{c}_{H,J}$ compatible with \underline{J} .

The next proposition, which collects some of the results found in [106], is a special case of Proposition 4.28 applied to a twist-induced almost Robinson structure—see also Remark 4.29 where equation (4.17) reduces to $\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{B}} = \underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{B}}$.

Proposition 4.41 [106] Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) (N, K) is a twist-induced almost Robinson structure and K is a non-shearing congruence of null geodesics;
- (2) the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{3,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,3}$ with non-zero $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}$ -component, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ} = \check{\sigma}_{ij} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} = \check{G}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ} = 0, \qquad \check{\tau}^{\omega} \neq 0.$$

If any of these conditions holds, (N, K) is a nearly Robinson structure and the almost CR leaf space $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ of \mathcal{K} is partially integrable and contact.

In particular, $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ is equipped with a positive-definite subconformal structure $\underline{\mathbf{c}}_{H,J}$ compatible with \underline{J} , which is also induced from $[g]_{n.e.}$.

Remark 4.42 In both Propositions 4.40 and 4.41, the $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,2}$ -component $\check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{P}}$ of the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) can be identified with the Nijenhuis tensor of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$.

Remark 4.43 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a twist-induced almost Robinson manifold with non-shearing congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} . Applying Proposition 4.35 of [25], one can show that for each metric \widehat{g} in $[g]_{n.e}$, there exists a unique generator k of \mathcal{K} and a null vector field ℓ such that $\widehat{g}(k, \ell) = 1$ and $\kappa = \widehat{g}(k, \cdot)$ satisfies

$$d\kappa(k, \cdot) = 0, \quad d\kappa(\ell, \cdot) = 0.$$

We shall elaborate on this result in the conformal setting in Sect. 5.

4.10 Almost Robinson structures as almost null structures

To obtain further geometric interpretations of the subbundles of \mathcal{G} , we shall presently regard the almost Robinson structure (N, K) as an almost null structure N on $(\mathcal{M}, {}^{\mathbf{C}}g)$ in its own right, i.e. without any reference to the complex conjugate \overline{N} . This perspective is in part motivated by the potential involutivity of N. The structure group of N is the stabiliser R of an MTN vector subspace of \mathbf{C}^{2m+2} in $\mathbf{SO}(2m + 2, \mathbf{C})$. As we shall be using a spinorial approach, we shall assume with no loss of generality, at least locally, that R is a subgroup of $\mathbf{Spin}(2m + 2, \mathbf{C})$. We shall then identify Nas the kernel of the map $v_a^{\mathbf{A}} := \gamma_{a\mathbf{B}'}{}^{\mathbf{A}}v^{\mathbf{B}'} : \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}) \to \Gamma(S_-)$ for some Robinson spinor $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$. In particular, with a choice of dual N^* , the image of $v_a^{\mathbf{A}}$ is isomorphic to $N^* \cong T\mathcal{M}/N$ —see the discussion in Sect. 3.2.6. The intrinsic torsion of such a structure is already investigated in [102], and we shall appeal to the results contained therein for the subsequent analysis.

Theorem 4.44 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, K, N) be a (2m + 2)-dimensional almost Robinson manifold with intrinsic torsion \mathring{T} . Let $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ be a Robinson spinor and set $v_a^{\mathbf{A}} := \gamma_{a\mathbf{B}'}{}^{\mathbf{A}}v^{\mathbf{B}'}$. Then, for m > 2,

$$\mathring{T} \in \Gamma(\mathscr{G}_0^{1,1}) \iff \left(\nu^{a[\mathbf{A}} \nabla_a \nu^{b\mathbf{B}}\right) \nu_b^{\mathbf{C}]} = 0, \tag{4.23}$$

$$\mathring{T} \in \Gamma(\mathscr{G}_0^{1,2}) \iff \left(\nu^{a(\mathbf{A}} \nabla_a \nu^{b\mathbf{B}}\right) \nu_b^{\mathbf{C}} = 0, \tag{4.24}$$

$$\mathring{T} \in \Gamma(\mathscr{G}_{1}^{0,0}) \iff \left(\nabla_{a} \nu^{b\mathbf{B}}\right) \nu_{b}^{\mathbf{C}} + \frac{2}{m} \left(\nu_{a}^{[\mathbf{B}} \nabla_{b} \nu^{b\mathbf{C}]} + \nu^{b[\mathbf{B}} \nabla_{b} \nu_{a}^{\mathbf{C}]}\right) = 0,$$
(4.25)

$$\mathring{T} \in \Gamma\left((\mathscr{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[2i:1]}\right) \Longleftrightarrow \nu^{\mathbf{A}'} \nabla_a \nu^{a\mathbf{B}} - \nu^{a\mathbf{B}} \nabla_b \nu^{\mathbf{A}'} = 0.$$
(4.26)

In dimension six, i.e. m = 2, equivalences (4.24) and (4.26) hold, but equivalences (4.23) and (4.25) are replaced by

$$\mathring{T} \in \Gamma((\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[4i:-1]}) \Longleftrightarrow \left(\nu^{a[\mathbf{A}}\nabla_a \nu^{b\mathbf{B}}\right)\nu_b^{\mathbf{C}]} = 0, \tag{4.27}$$

and

$$\mathring{T} \in \Gamma(\mathscr{G}_{1}^{0,0}) \iff \left(\nabla_{a}\nu^{b\mathbf{B}}\right)\nu_{b}^{\mathbf{C}} + \left(\nu_{a}^{[\mathbf{B}}\nabla_{b}\nu^{b\mathbf{C}]} + \nu^{b[\mathbf{B}}\nabla_{b}\nu_{a}^{\mathbf{C}]}\right) - \frac{2}{3}\nu^{b\mathbf{A}}\nabla_{b}\nu_{\mathbf{A}}\gamma_{a}^{\mathbf{B}\mathbf{C}} = 0,$$
(4.28)

respectively. For the last equation, we have used the bundle isomorphisms $S_{\pm} \cong S_{\mp}^*$ and ${}^{\mathbb{C}}T\mathcal{M} \cong \wedge^2 S_+ \cong \wedge^2 S_-$.

Proof We choose a splitting ${}^{C}T\mathcal{M} = N^* \oplus N$. With reference to the notation of Sect. 3.2.6, we may choose a connection 1-form $\Gamma_{ab}{}^{c}$ with values in $\mathfrak{so}(2m+2, \mathbb{C})$ for ∇ , so that $(\nabla_a v^{b\mathbf{B}}) v_b^{\mathbf{C}} = \Gamma_a{}^{BC} \delta^{\mathbf{B}}_B \delta^{\mathbf{C}}_C$ and in particular, $(v^{a\mathbf{A}} \nabla_a v^{b\mathbf{B}}) v_b^{\mathbf{C}} = \Gamma^{ABC} \delta^{\mathbf{A}}_A \delta^{\mathbf{B}}_B \delta^{\mathbf{C}}_C$. Then, one can show [102]

RHS of (4.23) and (4.27)
$$\iff \Gamma^{[ABC]} = 0$$
,
RHS of (4.24) $\iff \Gamma^{(AB)C} = 0$,
RHS of (4.25) $\iff \left(\Gamma_A{}^{BC}\right)_\circ = \Gamma^{ABC} = 0$,
RHS of (4.26) $\iff \Gamma_B{}^{BA} = \Gamma^{ABC} = 0$,

and in dimension six

RHS of (4.28)
$$\iff \left(\Gamma_A{}^{BC}\right)_\circ = \Gamma^{(AB)C} = 0.$$

🖄 Springer

Here $(\Gamma_A{}^{BC})_{\circ} = \Gamma_A{}^{BC} - \frac{2}{m}\delta_A^{[B]}\Gamma_D{}^{D[C]}$. We can immediately deduce that

$$\begin{split} \Gamma^{[ABC]} &= 0 \iff G^{\sharp}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}} = \zeta_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} + 4i\tau_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} = 0, \\ \Gamma^{(AB)C} &= 0 \iff G^{\oplus}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}} = \sigma_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} = 2i\tau_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} - \zeta_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} = \gamma_{\bar{\alpha}} = 0, \\ \left(\Gamma_{A}{}^{BC}\right)_{\circ} &= 0 \iff B_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} = G^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}} = 2i(m-1)E_{\bar{\alpha}} + G_{\bar{\alpha}} = \tau^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0, \\ \Gamma_{B}{}^{BA} &= 0 \iff -2iE_{\bar{\alpha}} + G_{\bar{\alpha}} = \tau^{\omega} = \epsilon = 0, \end{split}$$

where $B_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}, G^{\sharp}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}}, G^{\oplus}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}}, G^{\circ}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}\bar{\gamma}}, \zeta_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}, \tau_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}, E_{\bar{\alpha}}$ and $\gamma_{\bar{\alpha}}$ are the complex conjugates of the tensors defined in Sect. 4.4. The result now follows immediately from the definition of the *Q*-invariant bundles and Theorem 3.18—this is clearly independent from the choice of dual N^* .

As a consequence, we obtain:

Proposition 4.45 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent:

(1) any Robinson spinor $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ satisfies

$$\left(\nu^{a\mathbf{A}}\nabla_{a}\nu^{b\mathbf{B}}\right)\nu_{b}^{\mathbf{C}}=0;$$
(4.29)

(2) any Robinson spinor $v^{\mathbf{A}'}$ is recurrent along N, i.e.

$$\left(\nu^{a\mathbf{A}}\nabla_{a}\nu^{[\mathbf{B}']}\right)\nu^{\mathbf{C}'] = 0; \tag{4.30}$$

(3) the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,2}$, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{G}^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \check{G}^{\oplus}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = 0;$$

(4) *N* is in involution, i.e. for any $v, w \in \Gamma(N)$, $[v, w] \in \Gamma(N)$;

(5) *N* is parallel along itself, i.e. for any $v, w \in \Gamma(N)$, $\nabla_v w \in \Gamma(N)$;

(6) (N, K) induces a CR structure on the leaf space of \mathcal{K} .

If any of these conditions holds, \mathcal{K} is geodesic, its twist and shear commute with the screen bundle complex structure, and N is parallel along K.

Proof One can show [102] that equations (4.29) and (4.30) are equivalent, from which follows the equivalence (1) and (2). The equivalence between (1) and (3) is a direct consequence of Theorem 4.44. The equivalence between (1) and (6) is already given in [41, 102], while the equivalence between (4) and (5) is established in [104], and that between (4) and (6) in [63].

Remark 4.46 It is important to note that the involutivity of the almost Robinson structure (N, K) does *not* imply that the Robinson 3-form is preserved along K, and thus,

may not descend to the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ —see Proposition 4.31. If it did, it would imply that the congruence of null geodesics is non-shearing, which is not true in general except in dimension four.

Remark 4.47 In the analytic category, one may complexify (\mathcal{M}, g) to a complex Riemannian manifold $(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}, \widetilde{g})$, and extend N analytically to $(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}, \widetilde{g})$ [20, 117, 119]. By the Frobenius theorem, condition (4) of Proposition 4.45 is equivalent to the local existence of a complex foliation of $(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}, \widetilde{g})$ by (m + 1)-dimensional complex submanifolds on which \widetilde{g} is totally degenerate. Condition (5) then tells us that these leaves are totally geodesic with respect to the Levi-Civita connection of \widetilde{g} . See also [41, 77, 107] for further details.

The following proposition gives a characterisation of a certain class of almost Robinson manifolds, not necessarily nearly Robinson.

Proposition 4.48 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent:

(1) any Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} satisfies

$$d\rho = \alpha \wedge \rho$$
, for some $1 - form \alpha$; (4.31)

(2) the intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$ (or $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$ in dimension six), i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^\circ = \check{\sigma}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} = \check{G}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^\circ = 0.$$

Further, assuming that any of these conditions holds:

- \mathcal{K} is geodesic, its shear anti-commutes with the screen bundle complex structure.
- (N, K) is twist-induced if and only if K is twisting.
- (N, K) is in addition nearly Robinson if and only if K is also non-shearing.

Proof Choose an optical 1-form κ_a with Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} . Then, using $(d\rho)_{abcd} = \nabla_{[a}\rho_{bcd]}$, we compute the various components of (4.31) to find

$(\mathrm{d}\rho - \alpha \wedge \rho)_{\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}}{}^0 = 0$	\iff	$\gamma_{\alpha}=0,$
$(\mathrm{d}\rho - \alpha \wedge \rho)_{\alpha\beta0}{}^0 = 0$	\iff	$2\mathrm{i}\tau_{\alpha\beta}+\zeta_{\alpha\beta}=0,$
$(\mathrm{d}\rho - \alpha \wedge \rho)_{\alpha\bar{\beta}0}{}^0 = 0$	\iff	$\sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}=0,$
$(\mathrm{d}\rho - \alpha \wedge \rho)_{\alpha\beta\gamma0} = 0$	\iff	$G^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = 0,$
$(\mathrm{d}\rho - \alpha \wedge \rho)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma 0} = 0$	\iff	$G^{\circ}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} = 0,$
$(\mathrm{d}\rho - \alpha \wedge \rho)_{\alpha\beta\gamma\bar{\delta}} = 0$	\iff	$\tau_{\alpha\beta}=0,$
$(\mathrm{d}\rho - \alpha \wedge \rho)_{\alpha\bar{\beta}0}{}^0 = 0$	\iff	$\tau^{\circ}_{lphaar{eta}}=0.$

The remaining contractions are vacuous. The equivalence between (1) and (2) now follows.

The properties of \mathcal{K} and its leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ follow from $\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^\circ = \check{\sigma}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. In particular, the only non-vanishing component of the twist is $\check{\tau}^{\omega}$, which tells us that (N, K) is induced from the twist if and only if $\check{\tau}^{\omega} \neq 0$. Finally, with reference to Proposition 4.16, we see that the only obstruction to (N, K) being nearly Robinson is given by the (2, 0)-part of the shear $\check{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}$.

Remark 4.49 Proposition 4.48 reduces to Proposition 4.41 when \mathcal{K} is (maximally) twisting and non-shearing.

We now present a couple of examples illustrating notably the results of this section and that of Sect. 4.7.

Example 4.50 (The Kerr–NUT–(A)dS metric) In [16], the authors present the *Kerr–NUT–(A)dS metric* in arbitrary dimensions, which partly generalises the Plebański–Demiański metric [79], and admits a Euclidean analogue under a Wick rotation. In dimension 2m + 2, in coordinates $(r, x_{\alpha}, t, \psi_i)$, where $\alpha, i = 1, ..., m$, this Einstein metric takes the form

$$g = \frac{U}{X} dr^2 - \frac{X}{U} \left(dt + \sum_{k=1}^m A^{(k)} d\psi_k \right)^2 + \sum_{\alpha=1}^m \left(\frac{U_{\alpha}}{X_{\alpha}} dx_{\alpha}^2 + \frac{X_{\alpha}}{U_{\alpha}} \left(dt + \sum_{k=1}^m A^{(k)}_{\alpha} d\psi_k \right)^2 \right),$$

where

$$U = \prod_{\beta=1}^{m} (r^2 + x_{\beta}^2), \qquad X = \sum_{k=1}^{m+1} (-1)^k c_k r^{2k} + Mr, \qquad A^{(k)} = \sum_{\nu_1 < \dots < \nu_k} x_{\nu_1}^2 \dots x_{\nu_k}^2,$$

and, for $\alpha = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$U_{\alpha} = (r^{2} + x_{\alpha}^{2}) \prod_{\alpha \neq \beta} (x_{\beta}^{2} - x_{\alpha}^{2}), \quad X_{\alpha} = \sum_{k=1}^{m+1} c_{k} x_{\alpha}^{2k} + L_{\alpha} r,$$

$$A_{\alpha}^{(k)} = \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1} < \ldots < \beta_{k} \\ \beta_{i} \neq \alpha}} x_{\beta_{1}}^{2} \dots x_{\beta_{k}}^{2} - r^{2} \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1} < \ldots < \beta_{k-1} \\ \beta_{i} \neq \alpha}} x_{\beta_{k-1}}^{2} \dots x_{\beta_{k-1}}^{2}.$$

Here, M, L_{α} , $\alpha = 1, ..., m$ and c_{α} are constants related to the mass, NUT parameters, the cosmological constant and rotation parameters of the black hole.

Define

$$\kappa = \sqrt{\frac{U}{2X}} \left(\mathrm{d}r + \frac{X}{U} \left(\mathrm{d}t + \sum_{k=1}^{m} A^{(k)} \mathrm{d}\psi_k \right) \right),$$

🖉 Springer

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{U}{2X}} \left(dr - \frac{X}{U} \left(dt + \sum_{k=1}^{m} A^{(k)} d\psi_k \right) \right),$$

$$\theta^{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{U_{\alpha}}{2X_{\alpha}}} \left(dx_{\alpha} + i \frac{X_{\alpha}}{U_{\alpha}} \left(dt + \sum_{k=1}^{m} A^{(k)}_{\alpha} d\psi_k \right) \right), \quad (\alpha = 1, \dots, m).$$

The set of null 1-forms $(\kappa, \theta^{\alpha})$, where κ is real and θ^{α} are complex, defines an almost Robinson structure (N, K). We compute the intrinsic torsion of (N, K), and find, suspending the summation convention,

$$\begin{split} \gamma_i &= \sigma_{\alpha\beta} = \tau_{\alpha\beta} = \zeta_{\alpha\beta} = G_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = 0\\ \frac{\epsilon}{2m} h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} + \sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} + \tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \sqrt{\frac{X}{2U}} \frac{r - ix_{\alpha}}{r^2 + x_{\alpha}^2} \delta_{\alpha\bar{\beta}},\\ E_{\alpha} &= i \sqrt{\frac{X_{\alpha}}{2U_{\alpha}}} \frac{r + ix_{\alpha}}{r^2 + x_{\alpha}^2} \delta_{\alpha\bar{\beta}},\\ G_{\bar{\gamma}\alpha\beta} &= -i \sqrt{\frac{2X_{\beta}}{U_{\beta}}} \frac{1}{x_{\alpha} + x_{\beta}} \delta_{\alpha\bar{\gamma}},\\ B_{\alpha\beta} &= 0. \end{split}$$

We see at once that the conditions of Proposition 4.45 are met. In particular, (N, K) is involutive, i.e. any of the associated spinors satisfies (4.29), but none of the stronger conditions (4.25), (4.28) and (4.26). Thus, the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,2}$, and does not degenerate further.⁶ In particular, when m > 1, the Robinson structure is not twist-induced.

In addition, the congruence \mathcal{K} tangent to K is geodesic, expanding, maximally twisting and shearing, when m > 1—see also [85]—and non-shearing when m = 1 as is well-known.

Hence, by Propositions 4.23 and 4.45, the Robinson structure (N, K) descends to a contact CR structure on the leaf space of \mathcal{K} .

Similarly, the set of null 1-forms $(\lambda, \theta^{\alpha})$ also defines an almost Robinson structure whose intrinsic torsion share the same properties as (N, K). More generally, it is shown in [59] that this metric admits 2^{m+1} almost null structures, which yield 2^{m-1} Robinson structures associated to each of the optical structures *K* and *L*, all sharing the same properties.

These findings also apply to other related metrics such as the Myers–Perry metric [61] that may be viewed as a special case of the Kerr–NUT–(A)dS metric in the limit where the NUT parameters and cosmological constant tend to zero.

Example 4.51 (Taub–NUT–(A)dS and Fefferman–Einstein metrics) It is shown in [106] that any conformal optical geometry $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c}, K)$ of dimension 2m + 2 greater

⁶ This can be seen by inspection of the above computation bearing in mind that here, the vanishing of $B_{\alpha\beta}$ is not invariant under the structure group of (N, K).

than four, whose associated congruence is geodesic, twisting and non-shearing, and whose Weyl tensor satisfies

$$W(k, v, k, v) = 0,$$
 for any sections k of K, v of K^{\perp} , (4.32)

admits a twist-induced almost Robinson structure (N, K). Here, we recall that **c** denotes an equivalence class of conformally related Lorentzian metrics. The description of the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is then described by Proposition 4.41. In particular, the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ of \mathcal{K} is endowed with a partially integrable contact almost CR structure $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ whose associated subconformal structure coincides with that induced by ${}^{n}\mathbf{c}$. The involutivity of (N, K) (or equivalently, the vanishing of the Nijenhuis tensor $\underline{N}_{\alpha\beta\nu}$ of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$) is equivalent to the Weyl tensor satisfying

$$W(k, u, v, w) = 0,$$
 for any sections k of K, u, v, w of N.

Let us now assume further that the Weyl tensor satisfies

$$W(k, v, k, \cdot) = 0,$$
 for any sections k of K, v of K^{\perp} .

Then locally any Einstein metric \widehat{g} in **c** determines a contact form $\underline{\theta}^0$ on $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ such that its corresponding almost pseudo-Hermitian structure is almost CR–Einstein. Such a structure is briefly discussed in Remark 4.15—see references therein for more precise definitions. Suffices to say that locally $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J}, \underline{\theta}^0)$ is fibred over an almost Kähler–Einstein manifold $(\underline{M}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$ of dimension 2m, and the Levi form \underline{h} of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J}, \underline{\theta}^0)$ can be identified as the pullback of the almost Kähler–Einstein metric \underline{h} .

Further, one can choose a coordinate ϕ on the fibres $\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \mathcal{M}$ so that

$$\widehat{g} = \sec^2 \phi g$$
, for $-\frac{\pi}{2} < \phi < \frac{\pi}{2}$,

where

$$g = 4 \, \varpi^* \underline{\theta}^0 \left(\mathrm{d}\phi + \lambda_0 \, \varpi^* \underline{\theta}^0 \right) + \varpi^* \underline{h},$$

with

$$\lambda_{0} = \frac{\Lambda}{2m+2} + \left(\frac{\Lambda}{2m+1} - \frac{\Lambda}{2m+2}\right) \left(\sum_{j=0}^{m} a_{j} \cos^{2j} \phi - 2a_{m} \cos^{2m+2} \phi\right) + \underline{c} \cos^{2m+1} \phi \sin \phi, a_{0} = 1, a_{j} = \frac{2m-2j+4}{2m-2j+1} a_{j-1}, \quad j = 1, \dots, m,$$

and Λ , $\underline{\Lambda}$ and \underline{c} are constant. Here, the Ricci scalars of $(\mathcal{M}, \hat{g}, K)$ and $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$ are proportional to Λ and $\underline{\Lambda}$, respectively.

We can compute the intrinsic torsion of $(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{g}, N, K)$ explicitly. We find

$$\gamma_i = \sigma_{ij} = \tau_{\alpha\beta} = \tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ} = 0, \quad \tau^{\omega} = \sec^2 \phi, \, \epsilon = 2m \tan \phi,$$
$$E_{\alpha} = G_{\alpha} = G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ} = G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} = 0, \, G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} = -2i \sec^4 \phi \, \underline{N}_{\beta\gamma\alpha}, \, B_{\alpha\beta} = 0.$$

Therefore, the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of

- $(\mathscr{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[2(m-1)i:-1]} \cap \mathscr{G}_0^{1,3} \cap \mathscr{G}_0^{1,1}$, and $\mathscr{G}_1^{0,0}$ when (N, K) is involutive.

In particular, any of the Robinson spinors associated to (N, K) satisfies (4.23), and if (N, K) is involutive, (4.25). We shall see in Sect. 5 that these bundles do not depend on the metric \hat{g} but solely on the conformal structure c. In fact, the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) with respect to the metric g is similar except that $\tau^{\omega} = 1, \epsilon = 0$ and $G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{P}} = -2i\underline{N}_{\beta\gamma\alpha}.$

Furthermore we remark that for certain values of Λ , $\underline{\Lambda}$ and c, and when (N, K)is involutive, the metric \hat{g} is locally isometric to the Taub–NUT–(A)dS metric of [4, 6, 8] generalising the four-dimensional one of [62, 109], or the Fefferman–Einstein metric given in [51].

Finally, there is a secondary almost Robinson structure (N^*, L) , dual to (N, K), with non-shearing congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{L} . If the function λ_0 is non-vanishing, then \mathcal{L} is twisting and (N^*, L) is twist-induced. Otherwise, \mathcal{L} is non-twisting.

Details can be found in [106].

Remark 4.52 One reason why non-shearing congruences of null geodesics in higher dimensions are not as common as in dimension four has to do with curvature. Let us review the various geometric interpretations of the algebraic condition on the Weyl tensor (4.32). These are as follows:

- In dimension four, if \mathcal{K} is geodesic and non-shearing regardless of whether \mathcal{K} is non-twisting or not, then condition (4.32) holds—see, for example, [77, 96].
- In dimensions greater than four, if \mathcal{K} is non-shearing and non-twisting, then condition (4.32) holds—in fact, the Weyl tensor satisfies an even stronger condition **[70]**.
- In odd dimensions greater than four, if \mathcal{K} is twisting and condition (4.32) holds, then \mathcal{K} must also be shearing [70].
- In even dimensions greater than four, if \mathcal{K} is twisting and non-shearing, and condition (4.32) holds, then the twist induces an almost Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) [106].

4.11 Analogies between almost Robinson geometry and almost Hermitian geometry

Recall that an almost Hermitian manifold consists of a triple (\mathcal{M}, g, J) , where (\mathcal{M}, g) is a (2m + 2)-dimensional smooth Riemannian manifold, and J is an almost complex structure compatible with g, i.e. $J \circ g = -g \circ J$. An equivalent definition of an almost Hermitian structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) is as an almost null structure N of real index zero, i.e. the complexified tangent bundle splits as ${}^{\mathbf{C}}T\mathcal{M} = N \oplus \overline{N}$ [63]—since in Riemannian signature, an almost null structure always has real index zero, we may dispense of this attribute. The equivalence between the two definitions is established by identifying Nand \overline{N} as the eigenbundles of J. Dually, one can express the almost Hermitian structure in terms of a non-vanishing section of $\wedge^{m+1}Ann(N)$, which can be normalised up to a phase against its complex conjugate. Locally, or globally if (\mathcal{M}, g) is spin, this section is the 'square' of a pure spinor field (of real index 0). It annihilates N, while its charged conjugate annihilates \overline{N} . Their pairing yields the almost Hermitian 2-form of (\mathcal{M}, g, J) and powers thereof [48].

As emphasised in [63], the point of contact between almost Robinson geometry and almost Hermitian geometry is their underlying almost null structure, and the only distinguishing feature between them is its real index, which is itself determined by the metric signature.

The relation between almost Robinson structures and almost null structures was already investigated in the previous section, especially in Theorem 4.44, using the results of [102]. One can play the same game by studying the geometry of an almost Hermitian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, J) in the light of its underlying almost null structure $(\mathcal{M}, {}^{C}g, N)$. To this end, we recall the Gray–Hervella classification of almost Hermitian manifolds given in [30]. Following the notation of that reference, the bundle \mathcal{W} of intrinsic torsions of (\mathcal{M}, g, J) splits into irreducible $\mathbf{U}(m + 1)$ -invariant subbundles as

$$\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \mathcal{W}_3 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4, \tag{4.33}$$

where at any point

$$\mathcal{W}_{1} \cong \llbracket \wedge^{(3,0)}(\mathbf{R}^{2m+2})^{*} \rrbracket, \quad \mathcal{W}_{2} \cong \llbracket \boxplus (\mathbf{R}^{2m+2})^{*} \rrbracket, \mathcal{W}_{3} \cong \llbracket \wedge^{(1,2)}_{\circ}(\mathbf{R}^{2m+2})^{*} \rrbracket, \quad \mathcal{W}_{4} \cong \llbracket \wedge^{(1,0)}(\mathbf{R}^{2m+2})^{*} \rrbracket.$$

$$(4.34)$$

There are various ways to characterise the intrinsic torsion \mathring{T} of (\mathcal{M}, g, J) . For instance, (\mathcal{M}, g, J) is *almost Kähler*, i.e. \mathring{T} is a section of \mathcal{W}_2 , if and only if the almost Hermitian 2-form $\omega = g \circ J$ is closed. It is Hermitian, i.e. \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathcal{W}_3 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4$, if and only if the Nijenhuis tensor of the complex structure vanishes. But only a subset of the Gray–Hervella classes will be relevant to the present discussion, namely those that reflect the geometric properties of the underlying almost null structure. For instance, one can characterise a Hermitian manifold in terms of a pure spinor field that is recurrent along the totally null distribution it defines [41, 49, 102]: this is equivalent to the eigenbundles of J being in involution—see Proposition 4.45 for the Robinson analogue. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 4.44, one can easily prove the equivalence between the first and last columns of Table 6, which summarises the correspondences between the various classes of almost null structures, almost Robinson structures and almost Hermitian structures. The equivalence between the first and second columns follows directly from Theorem 4.44. We leave the details for the reader.

🖄 Springer

Almost null structures	Almost Robinson structures	Almost Hermitian structures
Equation (4.23)	$\mathscr{G}_0^{1,1}$	$\mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \mathcal{W}_3 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4$
Equation (4.24)	$\mathscr{G}_0^{1,2}$	$\mathcal{W}_1\oplus\mathcal{W}_3\oplus\mathcal{W}_4$
Equations. (4.23) and (4.24)	$\mathscr{G}_0^{1,1}\cap \mathscr{G}_0^{1,2}$	$\mathcal{W}_3\oplus\mathcal{W}_4$
Equation (4.25) in dim> 6	$\mathscr{G}_1^{0,0}$	\mathcal{W}_4
Equation (4.28) in dim 6	$\mathscr{G}_{1}^{0,0}$	$\mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4$
Equation (4.26)	$(\mathcal{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[2i:1]}$	\mathcal{W}_3
Equations (4.25) and (4.26)	{0}	{0}

 Table 6
 Comparison of the intrinsic torsion of almost Robinson structures and the Gray–Hervella classification of almost Hermitian manifolds on the basis of the properties of their underlying null structure

4.12 Almost Robinson manifolds of Kundt type

Definition 4.53 An almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is said to be *of Kundt type* if (\mathcal{M}, g, K) is a Kundt spacetime, i.e. K is tangent to a non-expanding, non-shearing, non-twisting congruence of null geodesics.

Equivalently, the intrinsic torsion of such manifolds is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^0 \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^2$, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\epsilon} = \check{\tau}_{ij} = \check{\sigma}_{ij} = 0.$$

For most of this section, however, we shall restrict ourselves to nearly Robinson manifolds of Kundt type, in which case the intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}^0 = \mathcal{G}_{-1}^0 \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^2 \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\epsilon} = \check{\tau}_{ij} = \check{\sigma}_{ij} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 0.$$

Note that this implies that *N* is parallel along *K*. From Sect. 4.7, (*N*, *K*) induces an almost CR structure with totally degenerate Levi form on the leaf space ($\underline{M}, \underline{H}$), and the screen bundle metric *h* on H_K descends to a bundle metric \underline{h} on \underline{H} . This tells us that ($\underline{H}, \underline{h}, \underline{J}$) is a Hermitian vector bundle. In addition, since K^{\perp} is in involution, so is \underline{H} . Thus, ($\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{h}$) admits a local Riemannian foliation. Putting these two facts together allows us to characterise nearly Robinson manifolds of Kundt type in the following terms.

Proposition 4.54 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a (2m+2)-dimensional nearly Robinson manifold of Kundt type with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} . Then the local leaf space $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$ of \mathcal{K} is foliated by a smooth one-parameter family of 2m-dimensional almost Hermitian manifolds, each tangent to \underline{H} .

In the neighbourhood of every point of \mathcal{M} , we can apply Proposition 4.22 to express the metric g in terms of a Robinson coframe adapted to the Kundt geometry in terms of the leaf space \mathcal{M} as follows. Locally, we shall refer to a Robinson

$$\kappa := 2\varpi^* \underline{\theta}^0, \quad \theta^\alpha = \varpi^* \underline{\theta}^\alpha,$$

for some exact 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$ annihilating \underline{H} , and coframe $(\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ on \underline{H} unitary with respect to \underline{h} . As before, $\overline{\varpi}$ is the local projection from \mathcal{M} to $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. The 1-form λ must be vertical with respect to $\overline{\varpi}$.

In addition, one can find local coordinates u, v on $\mathcal{M} := \mathbf{R} \times \underline{\mathcal{M}} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \underline{\mathcal{M}}$ such that

$$\kappa = 2\overline{\omega}^* \underline{\theta}^0 = \mathrm{d}u, \text{ and } k = g^{-1}(\kappa, \cdot) = \frac{\partial}{\partial v}$$

i.e. u is a smooth function on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ parametrising the leaves of the almost Hermitian foliation, and v is an affine parameter along the geodesics of \mathcal{K} . This allows us to write λ in the form

$$\lambda = \mathrm{d}v + \lambda_{\alpha} \varpi^* \underline{\theta}^{\alpha} + \lambda_{\bar{\alpha}} \varpi^* \underline{\theta}^{\bar{\alpha}} + \lambda_0 \varpi^* \underline{\theta}^0, \qquad (4.35)$$

where λ_{α} , $\lambda_{\bar{\alpha}}$ and λ_0 are smooth functions on \mathcal{M} .

Any two Kundt coframes $(\kappa, \theta^{\alpha}, \overline{\theta}^{\overline{\alpha}}, \lambda)$ and $(\widehat{\kappa}, \widehat{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\overline{\alpha}}, \widehat{\lambda})$ are related by the transformations (4.5) where ϕ^{α} and $\psi_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}$ are now required to be constant along *K*, and φ constant along K^{\perp} . Such a transformation can be induced from a transformation of adapted coframes on $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{h})$, a change of parameter for the almost Hermitian foliation thereon, or a change of affine parameter along \mathcal{K} .

We shall streamline the notation by setting $(\kappa, \theta^i, \lambda) = (\kappa, \theta^\alpha, \overline{\theta}^{\overline{\alpha}}, \lambda)$. In the following, we fix a 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$ annihilating \underline{H} and a splitting $T\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{span}(\underline{e}_0) \oplus \underline{H}$ where \underline{e}_0 is dual to $\underline{\theta}^\alpha(\underline{e}_0) = 0$. Note that this fixes the freedom in choosing $(\underline{\theta}^\alpha, \overline{\theta}^{\overline{\alpha}})$, up to unitary transformations. We introduce a connection $\underline{\nabla}$ on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ that preserves $\underline{h}_{ij}, \underline{\theta}^0$ and \underline{e}_0 with torsion tensor $\underline{A}_{ii} = \underline{A}_{(ii)}$, i.e.

$$(\underline{\nabla}_0 \underline{\nabla}_i - \underline{\nabla}_i \underline{\nabla}_0) \underline{f} = -\underline{A}_i^{\ j} \underline{\nabla}_j \underline{f},$$
 for any smooth function \underline{f} on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$.

Note this connection depends on the choice of $\underline{\theta}^i$ up to orthogonal transformations, and thus on the choice of \underline{e}_0 . Dropping the pullback maps, we can express the Levi-Civita connection ∇ of g in the following way:

$$\nabla \kappa = 2 \kappa \odot E,$$

$$\nabla \theta^{i} = \underline{\nabla} \theta^{i} - 2 B^{i}{}_{j} \underline{\theta}^{j} \odot \kappa - C^{i} \kappa \otimes \kappa - \frac{1}{2} \underline{A}^{i}{}_{j} \underline{\theta}^{j} \otimes \kappa - 2 E^{i} \lambda \odot \kappa, \qquad (4.36)$$

$$\nabla \lambda = -2E \wedge \lambda - E_{0} \kappa \odot \lambda + \kappa \otimes C + \frac{1}{2} \underline{A} - B,$$

where

$$\underline{A} = \underline{A}_{ij}\underline{\theta}^{i} \otimes \underline{\theta}^{j}, \quad B = B_{ij}\underline{\theta}^{i} \otimes \underline{\theta}^{j}, \quad E = E_{i}\underline{\theta}^{i} + E_{0}\underline{\theta}^{0}, \quad C = C_{i}\underline{\theta}^{i},$$

with $B_{ij} = B_{[ij]}$, E_i , E_0 and C_i being functions on \mathcal{M} satisfying

$$\begin{split} B_{ij} &= -\underline{\nabla}_{[i}\lambda_{j]} + \lambda_{[i}\dot{\lambda}_{j]}, \\ C_{i} &= -\frac{1}{2} \left(\underline{\nabla}_{i}\lambda_{0} - \underline{\nabla}_{0}\lambda_{i} - \lambda_{i}\dot{\lambda}_{0} + \lambda_{0}\dot{\lambda}_{i} - \underline{A}_{ij}\lambda^{j} \right), \\ E_{i} &= \frac{1}{2}\dot{\lambda}_{i}, \\ E_{0} &= \frac{1}{2}\dot{\lambda}_{0}. \end{split}$$

This choice of notation is of course not fortuitous since we can then identify the components E_{α} and $B_{\alpha\beta}$ of the intrinsic torsion.

Lemma 4.55 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold of Kundt type with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and leaf space $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$. Then, for any Kundt coframe $(\kappa, \theta^{\alpha}, \overline{\theta^{\alpha}}, \lambda)$, the 1-form λ satisfies

$$E_i = -(\nabla \lambda)_i^{\ 0} = -(\mathrm{d}\lambda)_i^{\ 0},$$

and \check{E}_i is an invariant of (N, K).

If the intrinsic torsion is in addition a section of $(\mathcal{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[-2(m-1)i:1]} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$, then

$$B_{\alpha\beta} = (\nabla \lambda)_{\alpha\beta} = -(\mathrm{d}\lambda)_{\alpha\beta}.$$

In particular, $\check{B}_{\alpha\beta}$ is an invariant of (N, K).

Proof The expressions for E_i and $B_{\alpha\beta}$ follow from reading off the components of the Levi-Civita connections from equations (4.36). The statements on the invariance of the corresponding weighted quantities \check{E}_i and $\check{B}_{\alpha\beta}$ can be checked from the transformations in the proof of Theorem 3.18.

Since both κ_a and ρ_{abc} are the pull-backs of some 1-form and 3-form from $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ to \mathcal{M} , we can relate the present classification of almost Robinson structures with the Gray–Hervella classification [30] of almost Hermitian manifolds. To this end, we simply note that for any splitting $(\ell^a, \delta_i^a, k^a)$, using (4.36), we have

$$(\nabla \rho)_{ijk0} = \underline{\nabla}_i \underline{\omega}_{jk}, \tag{4.37}$$

where $\underline{\omega}_{ij} = \underline{J}_i^k \underline{h}_{kj}$ is the smooth family of Hermitian 2-form associated to the almost Hermitian foliation on $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$. One can readily check that this does not depend on the choice of coframe—this essentially follows from equations (A.1) and the fact that the optical invariants $\check{\gamma}_i, \check{\epsilon}, \check{\sigma}_{ij}$ and $\check{\tau}_{ij}$ all vanish. The Gray–Hervella classes can be easily obtained by comparing the LHS and the RHS of equation (4.37) with references to (4.33) and (4.34). We have collected the findings in Table 7.

Type of almost Hermitian structure on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$	Intrinsic torsion $\underline{\mathring{T}}$				Intrinsic torsion \mathring{T}			
	$\overline{\mathcal{W}_1}$	\mathcal{W}_2	\mathcal{W}_3	\mathcal{W}_4	$\overline{\mathscr{G}_0^{1,0}}$	$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1}$	$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,2}$	$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$
Almost Hermitian	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
\mathcal{G}_2		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		
\mathcal{G}_1	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	
	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark				\checkmark
Semi-Kähler	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark			
Hermitian			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	
Incl. locally conformally almost Kähler		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		
	\checkmark			\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark
	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	
Quasi-Kähler	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark			\checkmark
Nearly Kähler	\checkmark				\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Almost Kähler		\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Special Hermitian			\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
Incl. locally conformally Kähler				\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Kähler					\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

Table 7 Relation between the intrinsic torsions \mathring{T} and \mathring{T} for nearly Robinson manifolds of Kundt type

The following proposition gives a characterisation of an almost Robinson manifold of Kundt type in the case where the leaves of the Riemannian foliation on the leaf space are Kähler manifolds. We leave the proof to the reader.

Proposition 4.56 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifold of Kundt type with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and leaf space $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$. The following statements are equivalent.

(1) the intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,0} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\epsilon} = \check{\tau}_{ij} = \check{\sigma}_{ij} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{G}_{\alpha} = \check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\natural} = \check{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\ominus} = \check{G}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ} = 0.$$

(2) any Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} is recurrent along K^{\perp} , i.e.

$$\kappa_{[a} \nabla_{b]} \rho_{cde} = \kappa_{[a} \alpha_{b]} \rho_{cde}$$
, for some $1 - form \alpha_a$;

- (3) N is parallel along K^{\perp} .
- (4) Each leaf of the almost Hermitian foliation on $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h}, J)$ is a Kähler manifold.

Besides the classes of nearly Robinson manifolds of Kundt type enumerated in Table 7, other interesting degeneracy conditions on the intrinsic torsion are also possible. In fact, these can be partly characterised by the covariant derivative of the 1-form λ using Lemma 4.55.

Proposition 4.57 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be a nearly Robinson manifolds of Kundt type with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and leaf space $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$. Let $[z : w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$ such that $z \neq 0$. The following two statements are equivalent.

(1) the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of $(\mathcal{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]}$, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\epsilon} = \check{\tau}_{ij} = \check{\sigma}_{ij} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad z\check{E}_{\alpha} + w\,\check{G}_{\alpha} = 0.$$

(2) for any choice of Kundt coframe, the components λ_{α} of the vertical 1-form λ given by (4.35) are determined by

$$\lambda_{\alpha} = \underline{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{(0)} - 2\frac{w}{z}v\underline{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{(1)}, \qquad (4.38)$$

for some smooth functions $\underline{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{(0)}$ and $\underline{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{(1)}$ on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ such that

$$\underline{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{(1)} = G_{\alpha} = \underline{h}^{ij} (\underline{\nabla} \underline{\omega})_{ij\alpha}, \qquad \text{where } \underline{\omega}_{ij} = \underline{J}_i^{\ k} \underline{h}_{kj}. \tag{4.39}$$

Finally, for any optical vector field k, with $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$, the Weyl tensor satisfies

$$k^a W_{abc[d} \kappa_{e]} k^c = 0. aga{4.40}$$

Proof This is a straightforward computation. By definition, the condition $zE_{\alpha} + wG_{\alpha} = 0$ can be rewritten as $z\dot{\lambda}_{\alpha} + 2wG_{\alpha} = 0$, which has solution given precisely by (4.38) and (4.39).

For the last part, it is shown in [82] that condition (4.40) on Weyl tensor is equivalent to λ_i being linear in v.

Remark 4.58 Weaker conditions, where one takes z and w to be non-constant complexvalued smooth functions in Proposition 4.57, are possible. In this case, it is no longer true that λ_i is linear in v.

The next proposition follows from the interpretation of the vanishing of the intrinsic torsion as the reduction of the holonomy of the Levi-Civita connection to Q, or equivalently, to the parallelism of the distribution N. The last item follows from Lemma 4.55.

Proposition 4.59 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent.

(1) the intrinsic torsion vanishes identically, i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\epsilon} = \check{\tau}_{ij} = \check{\sigma}_{ij} = \check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \check{E}_i = \check{G}_{\alpha} = \check{G}^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \check{G}^{\mathfrak{P}}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \check{G}^{\circ}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} = \check{B}_{\alpha\beta} = 0.$$

(2) the holonomy of the Levi-Civita connection is reduced to $Q = (\mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{U}(m)) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^*$, the structure group of (N, K).

(3) any Robinson 3-form ρ_{bcd} is recurrent, i.e.

$$\nabla_a \rho_{bcd} = \alpha_a \rho_{bcd}$$
, for some $1 - form \alpha_a$.

- (4) N is parallel, i.e. for any $v \in \Gamma(N)$, $\nabla v \in \Gamma(N)$.
- (5) any Robinson spinor v is recurrent, i.e.

$$\left(\nabla_a \nu^{b\mathbf{A}}\right) \nu_b^{\mathbf{B}} = 0, \quad i.e. \left(\nabla_a \nu^{[\mathbf{A}']}\right) \nu^{\mathbf{B}']} = 0.$$

(6) (M, g, N, K) is of Kundt type with leaf space (<u>M</u>, <u>H</u>, <u>h</u>, <u>J</u>) where <u>h</u> is a smooth one-parameter family of Kähler metrics, and for any choice of Kundt coframe, the components λ_i of the vertical 1-form λ given by (4.35) are smooth functions <u>λ</u>_i⁽⁰⁾ on <u>M</u>, and, at any point, <u>∇_iλ</u>_i⁽¹⁾ is an element of u(m)

Remark 4.60 We note that if a Robinson 3-form is recurrent, so is any optical 1-form.

Remark 4.61 One can also weaken the assumptions of Proposition 4.59, by supposing that on each leaf tangent to <u>H</u>, the metric <u>h</u>_{ij} is almost Kähler, i.e. the Hermitian 2-form is closed, rather than Kähler. Then locally one may take $\underline{\lambda}_i^{(0)}$ to be any potential 1-form for the Hermitian 2-form. Then $\underline{\nabla}_{[i}\underline{\lambda}_{j]}^{(0)}$ is an element of $\mathfrak{u}(m)$. This implies that $B_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, i.e. the $\mathcal{G}_1^{0,0}$ -component of the intrinsic torsion vanishes.

Finally, the next two results, stated without proofs, are concerned with further holonomy reduction.

Proposition 4.62 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves K. The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) the holonomy of the Levi-Civita connection is reduced to a subgroup of $\mathbf{U}(m) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^*$;
- (2) (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) admits a parallel Robinson 3-form ρ_{bcd} , i.e. $\nabla_a \rho_{bcd} = 0$;
- (3) (M, g, N, K) is of Kundt type with leaf space (M, H, h) where h is a smooth one-parameter family of Kähler metrics, and for any choice of Kundt coframe, the components λ_i and λ₀ of the vertical 1-form λ given by (4.35) are smooth functions <u>λ_i⁽⁰⁾</u> and <u>λ₀⁽⁰⁾</u> on <u>M</u>, and, at any point, <u>∇_iλ_i⁽⁰⁾</u> is an element of u(m).

If any of these conditions holds, (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) admits a parallel optical vector field.

Proposition 4.63 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson spin manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) the holonomy of the Levi-Civita connection is reduced to a subgroup of $SU(m) \ltimes (\mathbb{R}^{2m})^*$;
- (2) (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) admits a parallel Robinson spinor v, i.e. $\nabla_a v = 0$;
- (3) (M, g, N, K) admits a parallel optical vector field and a parallel Robinson 3form;

(4) (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is of Kundt type with leaf space $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h})$ where \underline{h} is a smooth one-parameter family of Ricci-flat Kähler metrics, and for any choice of Kundt coframe, the components λ_i and λ_0 of the vertical 1-form λ given by (4.35) are smooth functions $\underline{\lambda}_i^{(0)}$ and $\underline{\lambda}_0^{(0)}$ on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$, and, at any point, $\underline{\nabla}_{[i}\underline{\lambda}_{j]}^{(0)}$ is an element of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$.

Example 4.64 (*Metrics of supergravity*) Parallel Robinson structures are relevant to the study of solutions to the supergravity equations. These equations are rather restrictive. For instance, it is shown in [15] (see also [32]) that solutions known as (1, 0)-vacua (up to local isometry) are six-dimensional Lie groups admitting a bi-invariant Lorentzian metric and an anti-self-dual 3-form induced from the Lie bracket. In the same reference, it is proved that these must be either Minkowski space, a one-parameter family of so-called Freud–Rubin vacua on $AdS_3 \times S^3$ with equal radii, or a six-dimensional Nappi–Witten vacuum. The latter is locally isometric to a certain Cahan–Wallach space. In coordinates $(u, v, x^1, x^2, x^3, x^4)$, the metric is given by

$$g = \mathrm{d}u \left(\mathrm{d}v - \frac{1}{2} \underline{h}_{ij} x^i x^j \mathrm{d}u \right) + \underline{h}_{ij} \mathrm{d}x^i \mathrm{d}x^j, \tag{4.41}$$

where \underline{h}_{ij} is the standard Euclidean metric on \mathbf{R}^4 . The anti-self-dual 3-form induced from the Lie bracket takes the form

$$\rho = 2\mathrm{d}u \wedge \left(\mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}x^2 + \mathrm{d}x^3 \wedge \mathrm{d}x^4\right). \tag{4.42}$$

It can be checked that ρ defines a Robinson 3-form with optical 1-form $\kappa = du$. Both κ and ρ are parallel with respect to the Levi-Civita connection.

One may start with a Kundt geometry (\mathcal{M}, g, K) with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} whose leaf space \mathcal{M} of \mathcal{K} is a fibre bundle over a smooth 2m-dimensional Riemannian manifold $(\mathcal{M}, \underline{h})$. Then any almost complex structure on \mathcal{M} compatible with \underline{h} lifts to an almost Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) compatible with K. Depending on its topology, $(\mathcal{M}, \underline{h})$ may admit many almost Hermitian structures, each with a specific intrinsic torsion, or even families thereof. For instance, let us take $(\mathcal{M}, \underline{h})$ to be Euclidean space. Then locally there are infinitely many Hermitian structures (see, for example, [21]) that can be lifted to an almost Robinson structure (N, K) on (\mathcal{M}, g) .

A less trivial example follows.

Example 4.65 Let (\mathcal{M}, h) be the Iwasawa manifold, that is, the quotient of the threedimensional complex Heisenberg group by a discrete subgroup. In [2], the authors construct almost Hermitian structures in the following Gray–Hervella classes

$$\mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \mathcal{W}_3 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4, \quad \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_3 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4, \quad \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4, \quad \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \mathcal{W}_3.$$

Of these, the set of all invariant Hermitian structures on (\mathcal{M}, h) is known to consist of the union of a point (its bi-invariant Hermitian structure) and a 2-sphere [1, 45]. These are in fact special Hermitian, i.e. their intrinsic torsion is of class \mathcal{W}_3 . For topological

reasons, \mathcal{M} cannot admit any Kähler structure. It is also conjectured that \mathcal{M} cannot admit almost Hermitian structures in the classes \mathcal{W}_1 and \mathcal{W}_4 .

The Kundt geometry (\mathcal{M}, g, K) associated to (\mathcal{M}, h) admits almost Robinson structures corresponding to the almost Hermitian structures on (\mathcal{M}, h) , and their classes of intrinsic torsion can be read off from Table 7.

As illustrated in the following example, not every almost Robinson structure on a Kundt spacetime is a nearly Robinson structure.

Example 4.66 Take $\mathcal{M} = \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}^{2m} \cong \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{C}^m = (u, v, z^{\alpha}, \overline{z}^{\overline{\alpha}})$, and let g be the metric on \mathcal{M} given by

$$g = 2\mathrm{d}u\left(\mathrm{d}v + \lambda_{\alpha}\mathrm{d}z^{\alpha} + \lambda_{\bar{\alpha}}\mathrm{d}\bar{z}^{\bar{\alpha}} + \lambda_{0}\mathrm{d}u\right) + 2\,\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\mathrm{d}z^{\alpha}\mathrm{d}\bar{z}^{\bar{\beta}},$$

where λ_{α} , $\lambda_{\bar{\alpha}}$ and λ_0 are arbitrary smooth functions on \mathcal{M} , and $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ is the standard Hermitian form on \mathbb{C}^m . Let $k = \frac{\partial}{\partial v}$ and set $K := \operatorname{span}(k)$. Then (\mathcal{M}, g, K) is a Kundt spacetime, and any almost Robinson structure (N, K) on \mathcal{M} compatible with K is annihilated by the set of 1-forms

$$\kappa = g(k, \cdot) = \mathrm{d}u, \qquad \theta^{\alpha} = \mathrm{d}z^{\alpha} + \phi^{\alpha}{}_{\bar{B}}\mathrm{d}\bar{z}^{\beta},$$

for some complex-valued functions $\phi^{\alpha\beta}$ on \mathcal{M} with $\phi^{\alpha\beta} = \phi^{[\alpha\beta]}$ —the functions $\phi^{\alpha\beta}$ are essentially the components of a section of the bundle $\operatorname{Gr}_{m+1}^+(\mathcal{M}, g, K)$ of (selfdual) almost Robinson structures compatible with K—see Remark 3.14. Note that (θ^{α}) does *not* constitute a unitary coframe for $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ in general. Choosing the $\phi^{\alpha\beta}$ such that $\underline{f}_k \phi^{\alpha\beta} \neq 0$ anywhere yields a coframe that does not descend to the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ of \mathcal{K} . Since the manifold is Kundt, it is clear that the remaining obstruction to (N, K)being nearly Robinson is the $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$ -component $\check{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta}$ of the intrinsic torsion, which, here, can be identified with $\underline{f}_k \phi_{\alpha\beta}$. Take for instance, $\phi^{\alpha\beta} = f(v)\underline{\phi}^{\alpha\beta}$ for some smooth function f of v and smooth functions $\underline{\phi}^{\alpha\beta}$ on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. For definiteness, let us assume m = 2. The bundle of all almost Hermitian structures on \mathbb{R}^4 has fibres isomorphic to \mathbb{CP}^1 . Any unitary frame (θ^1, θ^2) for h takes the form

$$\theta^{1} = (a\bar{a} + b\bar{b})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(a \, \mathrm{d}z^{1} + b \, \mathrm{d}\overline{z}^{2} \right), \quad \theta^{2} = \left(a\bar{a} + b\bar{b} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(a \, \mathrm{d}z^{2} - b \, \mathrm{d}\overline{z}^{1} \right).$$

for some smooth complex-valued functions *a* and *b* on \mathcal{M} with *a*, *b* not both vanishing. Note that this expression is invariant under non-zero rescaling of (a, b), so at any point, [a : b] defines an element of \mathbb{CP}^1 as expected. Take a = 1 and *b* any smooth complex-valued function depending on *v*, i.e. $\pounds_k b \neq 0$. Then (N, K) is an almost Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g, K) that does not descend to $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{h})$, i.e. it is not nearly Robinson.

4.13 Almost Robinson manifolds of Robinson–Trautman type

In complete analogy with Definition 4.53, we make the following definition.

Definition 4.67 An almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is said to be *of Robinson–Trautman type* if (\mathcal{M}, g, K) is a Robinson–Trautman spacetime, i.e. the congruence of curves tangent to K is geodesic, expanding, non-shearing and non-twisting.

The intrinsic torsion of such a manifold is a section of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^2$, with non-degenerate \mathscr{G}_{-1}^0 -component i.e.

$$\check{\gamma}_i = \check{\sigma}_{ij} = \check{\tau}_{ij} = 0, \quad \check{\epsilon} \neq 0.$$

Again, it is natural to consider nearly Robinson manifolds of Robinson–Trautman type. These manifolds enjoy properties similar to those of their Kundt counterparts. In particular, the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ of the congruence \mathcal{K} tangent to K is foliated by 2m-dimensional almost Hermitian manifolds. The intrinsic torsion of (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) can also be related to the Gray–Hervella class of the almost Hermitian foliation as in Table 7 *except* in cases where $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,0}$ is involved—this would contradict the fact that \mathcal{K} is expanding. This means that the only Gray–Hervella classes allowed would be those containing \mathcal{W}_4 .

However, since a Robinson–Trautmann spacetime is conformal to a Kundt spacetime [25, 84], one may still consider the full Gray–Hervella classification applied to the almost Hermitian foliation on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. For instance, a nearly Robinson manifold of Robinson–Trautman type with intrinsic torsion in $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$ will arise from an almost Hermitian foliation on \mathcal{M} of either class $\mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \mathcal{W}_4$ or class \mathcal{W}_2 .

Example 4.68 (The Tangherlini–Schwarzschild metric) The smooth manifold $\mathcal{M} = \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}_{>0} \times S^{2m}$ admits the Tangherlini–Schwarzschild metric—see, for example, [80]. Then (\mathcal{M}, g, K) is a Ricci-flat Robinson–Trautman spacetime which does not admit any global Robinson structure except in the case m = 1. This follows from the fact that the 2m-sphere admits a Hermitian structure if and only if m = 1. However, since S^{2m} is conformally flat, it locally admits infinitely many Hermitian structures—these correspond precisely to holomorphic sections of the twistor bundles over S^{2m} , a Riemannian articulation of the Kerr theorem—see, for example, [21].

In the above example, there is no distinguished (almost) Robinson structure on the Robinson–Trautman manifold. However, as the following example due to [69] shows, the Einstein–Maxwell equations may single out an almost Robinson structure on a Robinson–Trautman spacetime.

Example 4.69 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, K) be a Robinson–Trautman optical geometry of dimension 2m + 2. Suppose g satisfies the Einstein–Maxwell equations with an electromagnetic field $F_{ab} = F_{[ab]}$, that is, F_{ab} is closed and co-closed, and the Einstein field equations take the form

$$\operatorname{Ric}_{ab} = \frac{1}{m} \Lambda g_{ab} + 8\pi T_{ab} + \frac{m-1}{2m} g_{ab} T_{cd} T^{cd},$$

where Λ is the cosmological constant, and the energy-momentum tensor is given by

$$T_{ab} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left(F_{ac} F_{b}{}^{c} - \frac{1}{4} g_{ab} F_{cd} F^{cd} \right).$$

We assume further that F_{ab} satisfying $k^a F_a{}^{[b}k^{c]} = 0$ for any section k of K. For definiteness, assume m > 2. Then [69], there exist coordinates (r, u, x^i) such that the metric takes the form

$$g = -2\mathrm{d} u\mathrm{d} r - 2H(r)(\mathrm{d} u)^2 + r^2 \underline{h}_{ij}(x)\mathrm{d} x^i \mathrm{d} x^j,$$

where \underline{h}_{ij} is a metric on each slice of constant (r, u),

$$2H(r) = K - \frac{2\Lambda}{2m(2m+1)}r^2 - \frac{\mu}{r^{2m-1}} + \frac{2Q^2}{2m(2m-1)}\frac{1}{r^{2(2m-1)}} - \frac{\|E\|^2}{2m(2m-3)}\frac{1}{r^2},$$

and the electromagnetic field is given by

$$F = \frac{Q}{r^{2m}} \mathrm{d}r \wedge \mathrm{d}u + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{E}_{ij}(x) \mathrm{d}x^i \wedge \mathrm{d}x^j.$$

Here, $K \in \{-1, 0, 1\}, \mu, Q$ and $\|\mathcal{E}\|^2 = \mathcal{E}_{ij} \mathcal{E}^{ij}$ are constants, and $k = \frac{\partial}{\partial r}$ is a null vector field tangent to K whose congruence is also geodetsic, non-twisting and non-shearing. The vector field $\ell = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} - H(r)\frac{\partial}{\partial r}$ defines a optical structure L dual to K. Set $\kappa = g(k, \cdot) = du$ and $\lambda = g(\ell, \cdot) = -dr - H(r)du$. Assuming $\|\mathcal{F}\|^2 \neq 0$, the electromagnetic 2-form F_{ab} determines two almost Robinson structures (N_K, K) and (N_L, L) : their associated 3-forms are proportional to $\kappa \wedge F$ and $\lambda \wedge F$, respectively. By virtue of the Maxwell equations, it can be shown [69] that the metric \underline{h}_{ij} is almost Kähler–Einstein. It follows from Table 7 that the intrinsic torsion of each of these almost Robinson structures must be a section of $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$.

The six-dimensional case is similar, and further generalisations of these results can be found in [46].

As for Kundt spacetimes, one can associate to any smooth 2m-dimensional Riemannian manifold $(\mathcal{M}, \underline{h})$ a Robinson–Trautman geometry (\mathcal{M}, g, K) with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} such that the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ of \mathcal{K} is the trivial line bundle $\mathbf{R} \times \mathcal{M}$. Any almost complex structure on \mathcal{M} compatible with \underline{h} lifts to an almost Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) compatible with K.

4.14 Compatible linear connections

We end Sect. 4 with a brief consideration of linear connections compatible with a given almost Robinson structure.

Proposition 4.70 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold. Fix a splitting $(\ell^a, \delta^a_i, k^a)$. Define a linear connection ∇' with

$$\nabla_a' \xi_b = \nabla_a \xi_b - Q_{ab}{}^c \xi_c, \quad \text{for any } 1 - \text{form } \xi_a, \tag{4.43}$$
where Q_{abc} is a tensor such that

$$Q^{000} = Q_i^{\ 00} = Q_0^{\ 00} = Q_0^{\ 0} = 0,$$

$$Q^0{}_j{}^0 = -Q^{00}{}_j = \gamma_j,$$

$$Q_{ij}{}^0 = -Q_i{}^0{}_j = \frac{1}{2m}\epsilon h_{ij} + \tau_{ij} + \sigma_{ij}, \quad Q^0{}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = -\frac{1}{2m}\epsilon h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} - \tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}},$$

$$Q_{i(jk)} = -\frac{1}{i(m-1)}G_ih_{jk},$$

$$Q_{0j}{}^0 = Q_{j0}{}^0 = -Q_0{}^0{}_j = -Q^0{}_{0k} = E_j,$$

$$Q_{0(jk)} = -\frac{1}{2m}f_0h_{jk},$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} Q^{0}{}_{\beta\gamma} &= -\tau_{\beta\gamma} + \frac{1}{2\mathrm{i}}\zeta_{\beta\gamma}, \\ Q_{\alpha\beta\gamma} &= \frac{1}{2\mathrm{i}}G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \quad Q_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} = \frac{1}{2\mathrm{i}}G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}, \\ Q_{\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}} &= -\frac{2}{\mathrm{i}(m-1)}G_{(\alpha}h_{\beta)\bar{\gamma}}, \quad Q_{\alpha\bar{\gamma}\beta} = -\frac{1}{\mathrm{i}(m-1)}G_{\alpha}h_{\beta\bar{\gamma}}, \\ Q_{0\beta\gamma} &= \frac{1}{2\mathrm{i}}B_{\alpha\beta}. \end{aligned}$$

Then ∇' *is a connection compatible with K and* [*h*]*, i.e.*

$$\nabla'_{u}\kappa(v) = 0, \quad \text{for any } u \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}), v \in \Gamma(K^{\perp}),$$

$$\nabla'_{u}g(v, w) = 0, \quad \text{for any } u \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}), v, w \in \Gamma(K^{\perp}),$$

with torsion tensor satisfying

$$T^{0}{}_{j}{}^{0} = -\gamma_{j},$$

$$T_{ij}{}^{0} = -2\tau_{ij}, \quad T^{0}{}_{jk} = -\sigma_{jk},$$

$$T^{0}{}_{0}{}^{0} = T^{0}{}_{0k} = T_{0j}{}^{0} = 0,$$

and

$$T^{0}{}_{[\beta\gamma]} = -\frac{1}{2i}\zeta_{\beta\gamma} - \tau_{\beta\gamma}, \quad T^{0}{}_{(\beta\gamma)} = -\sigma_{\beta\gamma},$$
$$T_{[\alpha\beta\gamma]} = -\frac{1}{2i}G^{\sharp}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \quad T_{\alpha(\beta\gamma)} = \frac{1}{4i}G^{\sharp}_{(\beta\gamma)\alpha},$$
$$T_{\bar{\alpha}[\beta\gamma]} = -\frac{1}{2i}G^{\circ}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma},$$
$$T_{\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}} = T_{\bar{\alpha}(\beta\gamma)} = T_{0[\beta\gamma]} = 0.$$

D Springer

Proof This is a straightforward computation using (4.43) and the fact that the torsion tensor is given by $T_{abc} = -2 Q_{[ab]c}$.

Remark 4.71 The linear connection defined in the proposition above depends in general on the choice of splitting. Note however that even with fixed k and λ , ∇' as defined in the proof of the proposition is not unique, the undefined components of Q_{abc} in the proposition above being entirely arbitrary and not affecting the property of the torsion.

We may set all the remaining components of $Q_{[ab]c}$ to zero, and obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 4.72 Let (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) be an almost Robinson manifold. Suppose that the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_0^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_0^2 \cap \mathcal{G}_0^3$. Then (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) admits a torsion-free connection that preserves (N, K) and (the conformal class of) the screen bundle metric.

5 Conformal almost Robinson structures

As for optical geometry and almost Hermitian geometry, the notion of almost Robinson structure, or indeed almost null structure, finds a very natural setting in conformal geometry. We shall follow the conventions set up in [7, 25], and denote a conformal structure on a smooth manifold \mathcal{M} by **c**. For each $w \in \mathbf{R}$, the bundle of conformal densities of weight w is denoted by $\mathcal{E}[w]$. In particular, a choice of ray subundle $\mathcal{E}_+[1]$ of $\mathcal{E}[1]$ is referred to as the bundle of conformal scales. The conformal structure can be encoded by means of the *conformal metric* g_{ab} , that is a non-degenerate global section of $\odot^2 T^*\mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{E}[2]$. For each $w \in \mathbf{R}$. The exterior covariant derivative will be denoted by d^{∇} . Further details can be found in the aforementioned references.

Definition 5.1 Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ be an oriented and time-oriented Lorentzian conformal manifold of dimension 2m + 2. An *almost Robinson structure* on $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ consists of a pair (N, K) where N is a complex distribution of rank m + 1 totally null with respect to g, and K a real line distribution such that ${}^{\mathbf{C}}K = N \cap \overline{N}$. We shall call (N, K) a *nearly Robinson structure* when $[K, N] \subset N$, and a *Robinson structure* when $[N, N] \subset N$.

We shall accordingly refer to the quadruple $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c}, N, K)$ as an *almost (conformal) Robinson manifold*, as a *nearly (conformal) Robinson manifold* or as a *(conformal) Robinson manifold*.

Remark 5.2 As in the metric case, one can describe an almost conformal Robinson manifold as an almost null structure (of real index one).

The conformal metric g_{ab} induces a conformal bundle metric h_{ij} on H_K . Proposition 4.4 can immediately be translated into the conformal setting as follows:

Proposition 5.3 Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ be an oriented and time-oriented Lorentzian manifold of dimension 2m + 2. The following are equivalent:

(1) $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ is endowed with an almost Robinson structure (N, K);

- (2) $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ admits a totally null complex (m + 1)-form of conformal weight m + 2;
- (3) $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ is endowed with an optical structure K whose screen bundle $H_K = K^{\perp}/K$ is equipped with a bundle complex structure compatible with the induced conformal structure;
- (4) $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ admits a 1-form κ_a of conformal weight 2, and a 3-form ρ_{abc} of conformal weight 4 such that

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{ab}^{\ e}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{cde} = -4\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{[a}\boldsymbol{g}_{b][c}\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{d]};$$

(5) $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c})$ admits a pure spinor of real index one.

We shall follow the terminology already introduced in Sect. 4: thus the 1-form κ_a and 3-form ρ_{abc} given in Proposition 5.3 will be referred to as *optical* 1-form and Robinson 3-form, respectively, and so on.

With reference to the proposition above, the bundle complex structure $J_i{}^j$ yields a bundle Hermitian structure $\omega_{ij} = J_i{}^k h_{kj}$ of conformal weight 2. For a given optical 1-form κ_a we obtain a Robinson 3-form $\rho_{abc} = 3\kappa_{[a}\omega_{bc]}$ of conformal weight 4, where ω_{ab} is such that $k^c \omega_{c[a} \kappa_{b]} = 0$, $\omega_{ij} = \omega_{ab} \delta_i^a \delta_j^b$. The complex (m + 2)-form $v_{a_0a_1...a_m}$ is required to have conformal m + 1 since

$$\mathbf{v}_{aa_1...a_m} \overline{\mathbf{v}}_b^{a_1...a_m} \propto \mathbf{\kappa}_a \mathbf{\kappa}_b.$$

The relation with pure spinor fields is analogous to the Lorentzian case. Here, neither a Robinson spinor nor its charge conjugate are conformally weighted, but the van der Waerden symbols carry some conformal weight. This means that for each k = 0, ..., m+1, the spinor bilinear form with values in (complex) *k*-forms has conformal weight k + 1. We omit the details, which will play no rôle in the subsequent discussion.

5.1 Conformal invariants of an almost Robinson structure

An optical geometry with a congruence of null geodesics has two conformal invariants, the shear and the twist, which we may view as fields of conformal weight two [25, 90]. To determine the conformal invariants of an almost Robinson manifold (\mathcal{M} , \mathbf{c} , N, K), we examine how the covariant derivative of the Robinson 3-form changes under a change of metrics $\hat{g} = e^{2\varphi}g$ for some smooth function φ as given below:

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{a}\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{b} = \nabla_{a}\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{b} + 2\Upsilon_{[a}\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{b]} + \boldsymbol{g}_{ab}\Upsilon^{c}\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{c},$$

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{a}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{bcd} = \nabla_{a}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{bcd} + 3\Upsilon_{a}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{bcd} - 3\Upsilon_{[b}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{cd]a} + 3\boldsymbol{g}_{a[b}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{cd]e}\Upsilon^{e},$$

where $\Upsilon = d\varphi$. Projecting these tensors into their components with splitting operators, we find that

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\gamma}_i &= e^{2\varphi} \gamma_i, \\ \widehat{\tau}_{ij} &= e^{2\varphi} \tau_{ij}, \quad \widehat{\sigma}_{ij} &= e^{2\varphi} \sigma_{ij}, \quad \widehat{\epsilon} &= \epsilon + 2m \Upsilon^c k_c, \\ \widehat{\zeta}_{\beta\gamma} &= e^{4\varphi} \zeta_{\beta\gamma}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{E}_{i} &= e^{2\varphi} \left(E_{i} - \Upsilon_{i} \right), \\ \widehat{G}_{\gamma} &= e^{2\varphi} \left(G_{\gamma} - 2(m-1)i\Upsilon_{\gamma} \right), \\ \widehat{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp} &= e^{4\varphi} G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\sharp}, \quad \widehat{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{P}} = e^{4\varphi} G_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{P}}, \quad \widehat{G}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ} = e^{4\varphi} G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^{\circ}, \\ \widehat{B}_{\beta\gamma} &= e^{4\varphi} B_{\beta\gamma}. \end{aligned}$$

Note that

$$2(m-1)\mathrm{i}\widehat{E}_{\gamma}-\widehat{G}_{\gamma}=\mathrm{e}^{2\varphi}\left(2(m-1)\mathrm{i}E_{\gamma}-G_{\gamma}\right).$$

We also find that for any $[z : w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$,

0.0

$$z\widehat{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} + w\widehat{\zeta}_{\beta\gamma} = e^{4\varphi} \left(z\tau_{\alpha\beta} + w\zeta_{\beta\gamma} \right).$$

From these computations, we immediately conclude:

Theorem 5.4 Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c}, N, K)$ be an almost conformal Robinson manifold. Let g be a metric in \mathbf{c} so that (\mathcal{M}, g, K) is an optical geometry with bundle of intrinsic torsions \mathcal{G} . Any conformally invariant subbundle of \mathcal{G} must be an intersection of the following:

$$\begin{split} & \mathcal{G}_{-2}^{0,0}, \\ & \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0}, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,2}, \\ & \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,1}, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \\ & \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1}, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,2}, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,3}, \qquad (\mathcal{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[2(m-1)i:-1]}, \\ & \mathcal{G}_{1}^{0,0}, \\ & (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]}, \qquad [x:y] \in \mathbf{R}\mathbb{P}^{1}, \\ & (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]}, \qquad [z:w] \in \mathbf{C}\mathbb{P}^{1}. \end{split}$$

As for conformal optical geometries, there is a subclass ${}^{n}\mathbf{c}^{e}$ of metrics in \mathbf{c} with the property that whenever g is in ${}^{n}\mathbf{c}^{e}$; the congruence \mathcal{K} is non-expanding, i.e. for any $k \in \Gamma(K)$ with $\kappa = g(k, \cdot), \kappa \operatorname{div} k - \nabla_k \kappa = 0$.

We also know from [25] that there exists a family of optical vector fields k such that $\pounds_k \kappa = 0$ where $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$. If the corresponding Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} is preserved along K, then $\pounds_k \rho_{abc} = 0$, where the Lie derivative is given by

$$\pounds_k \boldsymbol{\rho}_{abc} = k^d \nabla_d \boldsymbol{\rho}_{abc} + 3 \boldsymbol{\rho}_{d[ab} \nabla_{c]} k^d - \frac{4}{n+2} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{abc} \nabla_d k^d.$$

Here ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection of any metric in **c**. The details are left to the reader.

🖄 Springer

5.2 Conformally parallel Robinson structures

In [25], we saw that under certain conditions, one can find metrics in c for which the optical structure is parallel. We extend this result to the Robinson setting.

Proposition 5.5 Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c}, N, K)$ be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . Suppose that the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) for some (and thus any) metric g in \mathbf{c} is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_1^{0,0}$, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \breve{\gamma}_i &= \breve{\tau}_{ij} = \breve{\sigma}_{ij} = \breve{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{G}^{\mathbb{B}}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \breve{G}^{\mathbb{P}}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \breve{G}^{\circ}_{\breve{\alpha}\beta\gamma} = \breve{B}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \\ 2(m-1)\breve{E}_{\gamma} - \breve{G}_{\gamma} = 0. \end{split}$$
(5.1)

Equivalently, any Robinson spinor satisfies (4.25) and any optical 1-form κ satisfies $\kappa \wedge d^{\nabla} \kappa = 0$. Suppose further that the Weyl tensor W_{abcd} satisfies

$$k^a W_{ab[cd} \kappa_{e]} = 0.$$

Then locally, there is a subclass $\overset{par}{\mathbf{c}}$ of metrics in \mathbf{c} with the property that whenever g is in $\overset{par}{\mathbf{c}}$, the almost Robinson structure is parallel, i.e. any Robinson spinor, and thus any optical 1-form and Robinson 3-form, are recurrent. In particular, the holonomy of the Levi-Civita connection of any metric in $\overset{par}{\mathbf{c}}$ is contained in $Q = (\mathbf{R}_{>0} \times \mathbf{U}(m)) \ltimes (\mathbf{R}^{2m})^*$. Any two metrics in $\overset{par}{\mathbf{c}}$ differ by a factor constant along K^{\perp} .

Proof The hypothesis can be expressed by saying that the only three possibly nonvanishing components of the intrinsic torsion are $\check{\epsilon}$, \check{E}_i and \check{G}_{α} , the latter two being related by (5.1). It is already shown in [25] that the curvature prescription yields the existence of the subclass $\hat{\mathbf{c}}$ for which we have $\check{E}_i = 0$ and $\check{\epsilon} = 0$. But then this implies that $\check{G}_{\alpha} = 0$. Hence, the intrinsic torsion vanishes and the result follows.

As a direct consequence of Proposition 4.57, we obtain:

Proposition 5.6 Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c}, N, K)$ be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . Suppose that the intrinsic torsion of (N, K) for some (and thus any) metric g in \mathbf{c} is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{0\times 1} \cap (\mathcal{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[2(m-1)i:-1]}$, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \breve{\gamma}_i &= \breve{\tau}_{ij} = \breve{\sigma}_{ij} = \breve{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{G}^{\texttt{H}}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \breve{G}^{\texttt{P}}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \breve{G}^{\circ}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} = 0, \\ 2(m-1)\mathrm{i}\breve{E}_{\gamma} - \breve{G}_{\gamma} = 0. \end{split}$$

Then for every metric g in $\overset{n.e.}{\mathbf{c}}$, (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is a nearly Robinson manifold of Kundt type with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} .

Denote by $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{h}, \underline{J})$ denote the leaf space of \mathcal{K} , and set $\underline{\omega}_{ij} = \underline{J}_i^{\ k} \underline{h}_{kj}$. Then there exists a Kundt frame $(\kappa, \theta^i, \lambda)$ such that the vertical 1-form λ has components λ_i given by

$$\lambda_{\ell} = \underline{\lambda}_{\ell}^{(0)} - v \frac{1}{m-1} \underline{h}^{ij} \left(\underline{\nabla}_{i} \underline{\omega}_{jk} \right) \underline{J}_{\ell}^{k},$$

Deringer

where $\underline{\lambda}_{i}^{(0)}$ are smooth functions on $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$, and v an affine parameter along the geodesics of \mathcal{K} .

5.3 Conformal lift of almost CR structures

In this short section, we revisit the lift of almost CR structures considered in Sect. 4.7. A conformal version of Proposition 4.18 can be formulated in the following terms:

Proposition 5.7 Let $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ be a (2m + 1)-dimensional oriented almost CR manifold, and $\mathcal{M} := \mathbf{R} \times \underline{\mathcal{M}} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \underline{\mathcal{M}}$ be a trivial line bundle over $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$.

Let $((\underline{\theta}^{0}, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}}), h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}, \lambda)$ and $((\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{0}, \underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\widehat{\theta}}}^{\bar{\alpha}}), \widehat{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}, \widehat{\lambda})$ be two triplets that give rise to two almost Robinson geometries (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) and $(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{g}, N, K)$ as in Proposition 4.18. Suppose $(\underline{\theta}^{0}, \underline{\theta}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ and $(\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{0}, \underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha}, \overline{\underline{\widehat{\theta}}}^{\bar{\alpha}})$ are related by (4.12). Then

$$\widehat{g} = e^{\varphi} g$$

if and only if $\psi_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}$ *is an element of* **U**(*m*) *at every point, i.e.*

$$\widehat{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \mathrm{e}^{\underline{\varphi}} h_{\gamma\bar{\delta}}(\underline{\psi}^{-1})_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}(\underline{\psi}^{-1})_{\bar{\beta}}{}^{\bar{\delta}},$$

and λ transforms as

$$\widehat{\lambda} = \lambda - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\Psi}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \underline{\Phi}_{\beta} \underline{\underline{\theta}}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\Psi}_{\bar{\alpha}}{}^{\bar{\beta}} \underline{\Phi}_{\bar{\beta}} \overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\Phi}_{\beta} \underline{\Phi}^{\beta} \underline{\underline{\theta}}^{0}.$$

Again, the proof is pretty much tautological.

5.4 Non-shearing twist-induced almost Robinson structures

Most of the results in Sects. 4.7, 4.8, 4.9 and 4.10 can be safely formulated in the conformal setting. In particular, we give the conformal version of Proposition 4.41 below, which is a direct consequence of Proposition 5.16 of [25]:

Proposition 5.8 Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c}, N, K)$ be a (2m+2)-dimensional conformal twist-induced almost Robinson manifold with non-shearing congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} . We then have the following properties:

(1) For each $g \in {}^{n} \mathfrak{c}$, there exists a unique pair (k, ℓ) where k is a generator of \mathcal{K} and ℓ a null vector field such that $g(k, \ell) = 1$ and $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$ satisfies

$$d\kappa(k, \cdot) = 0, \qquad d\kappa(\ell, \cdot) = 0.$$

In particular, the twist τ of k is represented by dk and determines the screen bundle Hermitian form of (N, K) with respect to g, i.e. we have $(d\kappa)_{ij} = \tau_{ij} = \omega_{ij} = J_i^k h_{jk}$.

If (k, ℓ) and $(\hat{k}, \hat{\ell})$ be any two such pairs corresponding to metrics g and \hat{g} in $\overset{n,e}{\mathbf{c}}$; with $\hat{g} = e^{\varphi}g$ for some smooth function φ constant along K then,

$$\widehat{k} = k, \quad \widehat{\ell} = e^{-\underline{\varphi}} \left(\ell + \frac{1}{2} \omega^{-1}(\cdot, \underline{\Upsilon}) - \frac{1}{4} \|\underline{\Upsilon}\|_g^2 k \right), \tag{5.2}$$

where $\underline{\Upsilon} = \mathrm{d}\varphi$.

(2) (N, K) induces a partially integrable contact almost CR structure (<u>H</u>, <u>J</u>) on the leaf space <u>M</u> of K. In particular, (<u>H</u>, <u>J</u>) is equipped with a subconformal structure <u>c</u>_{H,J} compatible with <u>J</u> and also induced from **c**, and there is a one-toone correspondence between metrics in ^{n.e.} and contact 1-forms for (<u>H</u>, <u>J</u>). More specifically, for any two adapted frames (<u>θ</u>⁰, <u>θ</u>^α, <u>θ</u>^α) and (<u>θ</u>⁰, <u>θ</u>^α, <u>θ</u>^α) for (<u>H</u>, <u>J</u>) related by

$$\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{0} = \mathbf{e}^{\underline{\varphi}} \underline{\theta}^{0}, \quad \underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha} = \underline{\theta}^{\alpha} + \mathbf{i} \underline{\Upsilon}^{\alpha} \underline{\theta}^{0},$$

up to $\mathbf{U}(m)$ -transformations, and with Levi forms related by $\underline{\hat{\mathbf{h}}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = e^{2\varphi}\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$, the corresponding lifts in $\overset{n}{\mathbf{c}}$ are given by

$$g = 4\,\varpi^*\underline{\theta}^0\,\lambda + 2\,\varpi^*\left(\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}\,\underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}}\right), \quad \widehat{g} = 4\,\varpi^*\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^0\,\widehat{\lambda} + 2\,\varpi^*\left(\underline{\widehat{\mathbf{h}}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\underline{\widehat{\theta}}^{\alpha}\,\underline{\overline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}}\right),$$

where

$$\widehat{\lambda} = \lambda + \frac{1}{2} i \underline{\Upsilon}_{\alpha} \theta^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} i \underline{\Upsilon}_{\bar{\alpha}} \theta^{\bar{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\Upsilon}_{\alpha} \underline{\Upsilon}^{\alpha} \underline{\theta}^{0},$$

and $\widehat{g} = e^{\underline{\varphi}}g$.

In addition, $\overline{\varpi}^* \underline{\theta}^0 = g(k, \cdot), \ \overline{\varpi}^* \underline{\hat{\theta}}^0 = \widehat{g}(k, \cdot), \ \lambda = g(\ell, \cdot), \ and \ \widehat{\lambda} = \widehat{g}(\widehat{\ell}, \cdot), \ where (k, \ell) \ and \ (\widehat{k}, \widehat{\ell}) \ are \ related \ by (5.2).$

Remark 5.9 It is shown in [106] how the Levi-Civita connection of a metric in $\overset{\alpha}{\mathcal{E}}$ relates to the Webster–Tanaka connection of its corresponding almost pseudo-Hermitian structure. In this way, one can identify $\underline{\Upsilon}_{\alpha}$ in Proposition 5.8 as the (1, 0)-part of the difference between two Webster–Tanaka connections.

Example 5.10 (Fefferman construction) There is a well-known canonical construction, originally due to Fefferman [22, 23] and later characterised by Sparling, Graham [29] (see also [11, 12]), which associates to any contact CR structure $(\underline{\mathcal{M}}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ of dimension 2m + 1 a conformal structure **c** of Lorentzian signature and dimension 2m + 2 on the total space of a circle bundle $\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \underline{\mathcal{M}}$, namely the quotient of $\wedge^{m+1}(\operatorname{Ann}(\underline{H}^{(1,0)}))$ with the zero section removed, by a $\mathbf{R}_{>0}$ -action. More explicitly, let ϕ be a fibre coordinate on \mathcal{M} . Choose of contact form $\underline{\theta}^0$ of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ with Levi form $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ and corresponding Webster–Tanaka connection 1-form $\underline{\Gamma}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$, Webster–Schouten scalar \underline{P} , and define the 1-form

$$\lambda = \mathrm{d}\phi + \frac{1}{m+2} \left(\mathrm{i}\underline{\Gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} - \mathrm{i}\frac{1}{2}\underline{\mathrm{h}}^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\mathrm{d}\underline{\mathrm{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} - \underline{\mathrm{P}}\underline{\theta}^{0} \right).$$

Deringer

We may view λ as a Weyl connection on the fibre bundle \mathcal{M} . Then

$$g = 4\,\varpi^*\underline{\theta}^0\,\lambda + 2\,\varpi^*\left(\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\underline{\theta}^{\alpha}\,\overline{\underline{\theta}}^{\bar{\beta}}\right)$$

is a metric in the Fefferman conformal class \mathbf{c} . One can check that any change of contact forms induces a change of metrics in \mathbf{c} as described in Proposition 5.8.

Note that in this particular case, the fibres of $\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\varpi} \mathcal{M}$ are generated by a null conformal Killing field k that is Killing for any metric $g \operatorname{in}^{n \mathfrak{C}}$ —in this case, we have $\kappa = g(k, \cdot) = 2\varpi^* \underline{\theta}^0$ for some corresponding contact 1-form $\underline{\theta}^0$.

A generalisation of this construction to the partially integrable case is given in [50], and characterised in [100]. An appropriate modification of this construction yields Taub-NUT metrics as shown in [4, 106].

We end this section with the following proposition regarding the most degenerate conformally invariant condition on the intrinsic torsion. Its proof can easily be obtained from Theorem 3.18, and the geometric interpretations are a direct consequence of the various results of Sect. 4.

Proposition 5.11 Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{c}, N, K)$ be an almost Robinson manifold with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . Let g be any metric in \mathbf{c} , and suppose its intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_1^{0,0}$, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \breve{\gamma}_i &= \breve{\tau}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{\tau}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^\circ = \breve{\sigma}_{ij} = \breve{\zeta}_{\alpha\beta} = \breve{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{B}} = \breve{G}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}^{\mathbb{P}} \\ &= \breve{G}_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma}^\circ = 2(m-1)\mathsf{i}\breve{E}_{\gamma} - \breve{G}_{\gamma} = \breve{B}_{\beta\gamma} = 0. \end{split}$$

Then \mathcal{K} is a non-shearing congruence of null geodesics, (N, K) is involutive, and:

- If \mathcal{K} is non-twisting, i.e. $\check{\tau}^{\omega} = 0$, the leaf space is foliated by Hermitian manifolds of Gray–Hervella class \mathcal{W}_4 , and (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is a Robinson manifold of Kundt type for any metric g in $\overset{n.e.}{\mathbf{c}}$, and of Robinson–Trautman type otherwise.
- If \mathcal{K} is twisting, i.e. $\check{\tau}^{\omega} \neq 0$, the almost Robinson structure is induced by the twist of \mathcal{K} , and descends to a contact CR structure $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$ on the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$ of \mathcal{K} . There is a one-to-one correspondence between metrics in $\check{\mathbf{c}}$ and contact forms of $(\underline{H}, \underline{J})$.

5.5 The Mariot–Robinson theorem

A solution to the vacuum Maxwell equations on a four-dimensional Lorentzian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) is a 2 form *F* that is both closed and co-closed, i.e. $dF = d \star F = 0$ —here \star is the Hodge duality operator. Note that these equations are conformally invariant, which justifies the inclusion of this section at this point. Such a solution is said to be *null* or *algebraically special* if *F* satisfies the algebraic constraint $k \perp F = 0$ for some null vector field *k*, and $\kappa \wedge F = 0$ where $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$.

The *Mariot theorem* [55] states that any solution to the vacuum Maxwell equations gives rise to a non-shearing congruence of null geodesics. The congruence is generated

by $k = g^{-1}(\kappa, \cdot)$. The converse, known as the *Robinson theorem* [87], is also true, provided that we work in the analytic category: one can construct an analytic null solution to the vacuum Maxwell equations from any analytic non-shearing congruence of null geodesics. We can clearly substitute non-shearing congruence of null geodesics by Robinson structure here, and this move allows for generalisation of the theorem to irreducible spinor fields [77]. In fact, it makes its understanding more transparent as we shall now explain. We note that the assumption of analyticity is crucial for the implication part of the theorem as references [97, 98] make clear.

Following [19, 58], we first note that any null 2-form F must be the sum of a selfdual totally null simple complex 2-form ν and its (anti-self-dual) complex conjugate $\overline{\nu}$. In the language of the present paper, ν is called a complex Robinson 2-form and annihilates an almost null structure N. The condition that F be both closed and coclosed is equivalent to ν being closed. But if ν is closed, N must be integrable, i.e. N is a null structure (or equivalently, a Robinson structure). Conversely, if N is an analytic self-dual null structure, it gives rise to a foliation \mathcal{N} by two-dimensional totally null complex leaves on the complexification ($\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$, \widetilde{g}) of (\mathcal{M} , g)—see Remark 4.47. Take any 2-form $\underline{\nu}$ on the two-dimensional local leaf space $\underline{\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}}$ of \mathcal{N} . Then $\underline{\nu}$ is necessarily closed, and so is its pullback from $\underline{\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}}$ to $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$. A completely parallel argument applies to the complex conjugate of $\underline{\nu}$, and their sum gives rise to an analytic null solution to the vacuum Maxwell equation on restriction to (\mathcal{M} , g).

The complex 'part' of Mariot-Robinson theorem was later generalised to even dimensions in [41] and to odd dimensions in [103]. Its proof hinges on the same reasoning. We work in the analytic category with a complex Riemannian manifold $(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}, \widetilde{g})$ of dimension 2m + 2: a totally null (and thus simple) (m + 1)-form ν defines an almost null structure N, and if ν is closed, N is integrable. Conversely, any null structure N gives rise to a foliation \mathcal{N} by (m + 1)-dimensional totally null complex leaves on $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$. The pullback of any form of top degree on the (m + 1)-dimensional local leaf space of \mathcal{N} is a totally null (m + 1)-form that is necessarily closed, and also co-closed since it is either self-dual or anti-self-dual.

If we now start with an analytic Lorentzian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) of dimension 2m + 2, we can apply the above result to analytic Robinson structures by extending them to the complexification of (\mathcal{M}, g) , which eventually leads to a suitable Lorentzian articulation of the Mariot–Robinson theorem.

5.6 The Kerr theorem

We now describe all local analytic Robinson structures on even-dimensional Minkowski space \mathbb{M} . This problem is conformally invariant, and as such, is most elegantly formulated in the language of twistor geometry. The result, now known as the *Kerr theorem*, was initially motivated by the search for Kerr–Schild solutions to the Einstein field equations [44], but came to play a seminal rôle in Penrose's then-nascent twistor theory [75].

We first review the story in dimension four, where analytic Robinson structures are identified with analytic non-shearing congruences of null geodesics. The appropriate framework is the so-called *twistor correspondence* (also referred to as the *Klein cor*- *respondence*), which we shall presently describe—see [36, 75, 115] for details. We consider a four-dimensional complex vector space T. The Grassmannian of two-planes in \mathbb{T} is a smooth four-dimensional complex projective quadric \mathcal{Q} in $\mathbb{P}(\wedge^2 \mathbb{T}) \cong \mathbb{CP}^5$, and as such, is naturally equipped with a complex holomorphic conformal structure. There are two disjoint families of two-dimensional linear subspaces of \mathcal{Q} , elements of which are called α -planes and β -planes, according to whether these planes are self-dual or anti-self-dual. The α -planes of Q are parametrised by the points of the projective space $\mathbb{PT} \cong \mathbb{CP}^3$, known as the *twistor space* of \mathcal{Q} , and the β -planes are parametrised by the points of *dual twistor space* \mathbb{PT}^* . Twistor space contains an analytic family \mathcal{F} of complex lines parametrised by the points of \mathcal{Q} . We thus have a geometric correspondence between Q and \mathbb{PT} . The Kerr theorem in this context extends this correspondence to one between null foliations in Q and hypersurfaces in \mathbb{PT} . To be precise, locally, a null structure on \mathcal{Q} is simply a foliation by α -planes, and it immediately follows that its leaf space can be viewed as a hypersurface in \mathbb{PT} intersecting the lines of \mathcal{F} transversely. Conversely, any null structure on \mathcal{Q} arises in this way.

To consider real Minkowski space, we introduce a Hermitian inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on \mathbb{T} of signature (2, 2). Under the action of the stabiliser **SU**(2, 2) of $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, \mathcal{Q} decomposes into six orbits, one of which we identify as *compactified Minkowski space* $\mathbb{M}^c := S^3 \times S^1$. In other words, \mathcal{Q} is the complexification of \mathbb{M}^c . This comes as no surprise considering that **SU**(2, 2) is the double cover of the conformal group **SO**(4, 2). Similarly, \mathbb{PT} admits the orbit decomposition

$$\mathbb{PT} = \mathbb{PT}_{+} \sqcup \mathbb{PN} \sqcup \mathbb{PT}_{-}, \tag{5.3}$$

where

$$\mathbb{PT}_{+} := \{ [Z] \in \mathbb{PT} : \langle Z, Z \rangle > 0 \},$$

$$\mathbb{PN} := \{ [Z] \in \mathbb{PT} : \langle Z, Z \rangle = 0 \},$$

$$\mathbb{PT}_{-} := \{ [Z] \in \mathbb{PT} : \langle Z, Z \rangle < 0 \}.$$

(5.4)

Here, *Z* can be viewed as complex coordinates on $\mathbb{T} \cong \mathbb{C}^4$. As a real hypersurface in \mathbb{CP}^3 , \mathbb{PN} is the five-dimensional CR hypersphere, i.e. \mathbb{PN} has topology $S^3 \times S^2$ and is equipped with a contact CR structure of signature (1, 1). It also turns out that \mathbb{PN} is the space of null lines in \mathbb{M}^c .

Now consider an analytic Robinson structure (N, K) on some subset of \mathbb{M}^c . Let \mathcal{K} be the non-shearing congruence of null geodesics tangent to K in \mathbb{M}^c , and \mathcal{N} the complex foliation by (self-dual) totally null 2-planes tangent to N in \mathcal{Q} . Denote their respective leaf spaces by $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{K}}$ and $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{N}}$. Then, identifying $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{N}}$ as a complex hypersurface in \mathbb{PT} , the Kerr theorem asserts that $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{K}}$ is a three-dimensional CR submanifold of \mathbb{PN} that arises as the intersection of $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{N}}$ and \mathbb{PN} . Non-analytic Robinson structures on Minkowski space can also be dealt with as a limiting case [77, 97, 98].

The generalisation of the Kerr theorem to higher dimensions in the complex case was carried out in [41, 107] and is analogous. We consider a smooth projective complex quadric Q in \mathbb{CP}^{2m+3} , which we may identify as the space of null lines in \mathbb{C}^{2m+4} —see

[33, 34]. An α -plane in Q is now a self-dual linear subspace of Q of dimension m + 1and a β -plane its anti-self-dual counterpart. As before, we define the twistor space \mathbb{PT} of Q to be the space of all α -planes of Q, and the *primed* twistor space \mathbb{PT}' of Q to be the space of all β -planes of Q. When m is odd, $\mathbb{PT}' \cong \mathbb{PT}^*$, while when mis even $\mathbb{PT} \cong \mathbb{PT}^*$ and $\mathbb{PT}' \cong (\mathbb{PT}')^*$. From an algebraic viewpoint, it is convenient to realise \mathbb{PT} and \mathbb{PT}' as the spaces of pure spinors, up to scale, for the double cover **Spin** $(2m + 4, \mathbb{C})$ of the complex conformal group $\mathbf{SO}(2m + 4, \mathbb{C})$.

Twistor space is a complex manifold of dimension $\frac{1}{2}(m+1)(m+2)$ and contains an analytic family \mathcal{F} of $\frac{1}{2}m(m+1)$ complex submanifolds parametrised by the points of \mathcal{Q} . In this complex setting, the Kerr theorem states [41, 107] that any local analytic null structure N on \mathcal{Q} locally gives rise to a complex submanifold $\underline{\mathcal{N}}$ of dimension m+1 meeting \mathcal{F} transversely, and every null structure arises in this way. In effect, the submanifold $\underline{\mathcal{N}}$ is none other than the leaf space of the foliation tangent to N.

From this complex description, it is only a small step to obtain the Lorentzian version of the Kerr theorem. Just as in dimension four, under the action of the real form $\mathbf{SO}(2m + 2, 2)$ of $\mathbf{SO}(2m + 4, \mathbb{C})$ or its spin analogue, Q decomposes into six orbits, which includes compactified Minkowski space $\mathbb{M}^c := S^{2m+1} \times S^1$. To deal with \mathbb{PT} , we note that the spin representation for the conformal group $\mathbf{SO}(2m + 2, 2)$ is equipped with a Hermitian inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ of split signature [10], which restricts to a Hermitian form on \mathbb{PT} . Using the terminology and results of [48], we find that \mathbb{PT} admits the decomposition (5.3) where its orbits are defined just as in (5.4). Their interpretation is as follows:

- ■ℕ is of real dimension (m + 1)(m + 2) 1, and consists of self-dual (m + 2)dimensional linear subspaces of Q of *real index* 2: these are the pure spinors (up to scale) that are null with respect to the Hermitian inner product on PT;
- \mathbb{PT}_+ and \mathbb{PT}_- are of real dimension (m + 1)(m + 2), and consist of self-dual (m + 2)-dimensional linear subspaces of Q of *real index* 0: these are the pure spinors (up to scale) that are spacelike, respectively timelike, with respect to the Hermitian inner product on \mathbb{PT}_- .

In particular, by virtue of being a real hypersurface defined by the vanishing of the Hermitian form on \mathbb{PT} , the orbit \mathbb{PN} is a *CR manifold*, whose Levi form, one can check, has signature (m, m).

At present, let us take (N, K) to be an analytic Robinson structure on some subset of \mathbb{M}^c with congruence of null geodesics \mathcal{K} and complex foliation by (self-dual) totally null (m+1)-planes \mathcal{N} in \mathcal{Q} . View the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{N}}$ of \mathcal{N} as a complex submanifold in \mathbb{PT} . Then the intersection of $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{N}}$ with \mathbb{PN} is a (2m+1)-dimensional CR submanifold of \mathbb{PN} , which is precisely the leaf space $\underline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{K}}$ of \mathcal{K} .

Remark 5.12 It is crucial to note that for m > 1, \mathbb{PN} *cannot* be identified with the (4m + 1)-dimensional space of null lines \mathbb{NL} in \mathbb{M}^c . In general \mathbb{NL} is a homogeneous space equipped with a *Lie contact structure* [94], and does not admit any distinguished CR structure unless m = 1.

There are thus two ways of embedding the leaf space of the null geodesic congruence \mathcal{K} associated to a Robinson structure: one as a submanifold of \mathbb{NL} and the other as a *CR* submanifold of \mathbb{PN} . But only the latter can encode the CR structure of the leaf space of \mathcal{K} .

Remark 5.13 As stated, the Kerr theorem is only concerned with the involutivity of an almost null structure be it in the complex case or in Lorentzian signature. Further degeneracy conditions on the intrinsic torsion of the null structure will in general impact the way the leaf space of a null complex foliation sits in twistor space. These features have only been marginally investigated so far.⁷

6 Generalised almost Robinson geometries

6.1 Generalised Robinson structures

We now present a variant of the notion of almost Robinson structure, which in dimension four corresponds to the notion of optical geometry presented in [60, 88, 90, 91, 110–112], and which was referred to as *generalised optical geometry* in [25].

Definition 6.1 Let \mathcal{M} be a smooth manifold of dimension 2m+2. A generalised almost *Robinson structure* consists of a triple (N, K, \mathbf{o}) , where N is a complex (m+1)-plane distribution, $K := N \cap T\mathcal{M}$ is a real line distribution on \mathcal{M} , and \mathbf{o} an equivalence class of Lorentzian metrics such that

- (1) for each g in **o**, N is null with respect to the complex linear extension of g;
- (2) any two metrics g and \widehat{g} in **o** are related by

$$\widehat{g} = e^{2\varphi} \left(g + 2\kappa \,\alpha \right),\tag{6.1}$$

for some smooth function φ and 1-form α on \mathcal{M} , and $\kappa = g(k, \cdot)$ for some non-vanishing section *k* of *K*.

We shall say that the generalised almost Robinson structure is

- *restricted* if any of the 1-forms α in (6.1) satisfies $\alpha(k) = 0$.
- of Kerr–Schild type if any of the 1-forms α in (6.1) satisfies $\alpha \wedge \kappa = 0$.

We shall refer to $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ as a generalised almost Robinson geometry. In addition, we shall call $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ a generalised nearly Robinson geometry if $[K, N] \subset N$, and a generalised Robinson geometry if $[N, N] \subset N$.

We see in particular that a generalised almost Robinson structure determines a generalised optical geometry (K, \mathbf{o}) in the sense of [25]. It is straightforward to check that the two conditions above are well-defined. In particular, the property of K and N being totally null does not depend on the choice of metric in \mathbf{o} , and neither does the notion of orthogonal complement K^{\perp} of K. A generalised almost Robinson geometry $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ also has an associated congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} tangent to K.

The following lemma is immediate.

Lemma 6.2 Let $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ be a generalised almost Robinson geometry. For each metric g in \mathbf{o} , (N, K) is an almost Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) .

⁷ In fact, this was already demonstrated in the odd-dimensional analogue of the Kerr theorem in [107]. In even dimensions, complex case, this was established in unpublished work by Jan Gutt (Private communication with the third author).

Almost Robinson geometries

We shall therefore re-employ the terminology used in the previous sections. In particular, any non-vanishing section of K will be called an optical vector field, and any 1-form annihilating K^{\perp} an optical 1-form. The definition of a complex Robinson (m+1)-form as a section of $\wedge^{m+1} \operatorname{Ann}(N)$ does not depend on the choice of metric in **o**, and neither does the notion of Robinson 3-form. To see this, we take, for specificity, two metrics g and \widehat{g} in **o** related via

$$\widehat{g}_{ab} = g_{ab} + 2\kappa_{(a}\alpha_{b)},$$

for some 1-form α_a . We can choose splitting operators for (N, K) for each of the metrics: $(\kappa_a, \delta^{\alpha}_a, \delta^{\bar{\alpha}}_a, \lambda_a)$ and $(\ell^a, \delta^a_\alpha, \delta^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, k^a)$ for g_{ab} , and $(\widehat{\kappa}_a, \widehat{\delta}^{\alpha}_a, \widehat{\delta}^{\bar{\alpha}}_a, \widehat{\lambda}_a)$ and $(\widehat{\ell}^a, \widehat{\delta}^a_\alpha, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\lambda}_a)$ and $(\widehat{\ell}^a, \widehat{\delta}^a_\alpha, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}}, \widehat{\delta}^a_{\bar{\alpha}})$ for \widehat{g}_{ab} such that

$$\widehat{\kappa}_{a} = \kappa_{a}, \qquad \widehat{\delta}_{a}^{\alpha} = \delta_{a}^{\alpha}, \qquad \widehat{\lambda}_{a} = \lambda_{a} + \alpha_{a}, \\
\widehat{k}^{a} = \beta k^{a}, \qquad \widehat{\delta}_{\alpha}^{a} = \delta_{\alpha}^{a} - \beta \alpha_{\alpha} k^{a}, \qquad \widehat{\ell}^{a} = \ell^{a} - \beta \alpha_{0} k^{a}.$$
(6.2)

Here, $\beta = (1 + \alpha^0)^{-1}$. Let ω_{ij} be the bundle Hermitian structure for (N, K). Then its associated Robinson 3-form $\rho_{abc} = 3\kappa_{[a}\omega_{bc]}$ where $\omega_{ab} = \omega_{ij}\delta^i_a\delta^j_b$ remains invariant under the change (6.2).

Generalised almost Robinson geometry arises naturally in the context of lifts of almost CR manifolds as described in Sect. 4.7.

Proposition 6.3 Let $(\underline{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ be a (2m + 1)-dimensional almost CR manifold, and $\mathcal{M} := \mathbf{R} \times \underline{M}$ be a trivial line bundle over $\underline{\mathcal{M}}$. Then \mathcal{M} is naturally equipped with a generalised almost Robinson structure (N, K, \mathbf{o}) such that for any metric g in \mathbf{o} , (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is a nearly Robinson structure, i.e. the intrinsic torsion of the corresponding almost Robinson structure (N, K) on (\mathcal{M}, g) is a section of $(\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[-2i:1]} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0}$.

Proof This is a direct consequence of Proposition 4.18: the equivalence class **o** of metrics on \mathcal{M} related via (6.1) is simply the set of all lifts of $(\mathcal{M}, \underline{H}, \underline{J})$ to \mathcal{M} for a *fixed* choice of a conformal class of Hermitian forms $[h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}]$. By construction, (N, K) is clearly a nearly Robinson structure. The distributions N and K do not depend on the lift, and by Lemma 6.2, (N, K) is an almost Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) .

The key idea of the next theorem is that it allows us to construct families of Lorentzian metrics equipped with almost Robinson structures sharing the same geometric properties. To be precise, choosing a metric g in **o** determines an almost Robinson structure on (\mathcal{M}, g) , and one may ask which subbundles of the bundle of intrinsic torsions \mathcal{G} do not depend on the choice of metric g in **o**. We shall call those that remain invariant under such a change **o**-*invariant* subbundles.

Theorem 6.4 Let $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ be a generalised almost Robinson geometry. Let g be a metric in \mathbf{o} so that (N, K) defines an almost Robinson structure for (\mathcal{M}, g) with bundle of intrinsic torsions \mathcal{G} .

$\mathcal{G}_{-2}^{0,0},$			
$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,0},$	$\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,1}$,	$\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$,	
$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{2,0},$	$\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{2,1},$	$(\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]},$	$[x:y] \in \mathbf{R}\mathbb{P}^1,$
$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0},$	$(\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1 \times 3})_{[-2i:1]},$		
$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}\cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,1},$	$\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,1}\cap \mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,2},$	$\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1}\cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}.$	

- (1) The following subbundles of \mathcal{G} are **o**-invariant: Any **o**-invariant subbundle of a generalised almost Robinson geometry that is not restricted must be an intersection of these.
- (2) Assuming that the generalised almost Robinson geometry is restricted, in addition the following subbundles of G are **o**-invariant:

$$\begin{split} & \mathcal{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \\ & (\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]}, \\ & \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1}. \end{split}$$

Any o-invariant subbundle of a restricted generalised almost Robinson geometry that is not of Kerr–Schild type must be an intersection of these and the ones in (1).

(3) Assuming that the generalised almost Robinson geometry is of Kerr–Schild type, in addition the following subbundles of *G* are **o**-invariant:

$$\mathcal{G}_0^{1,2}, \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}, (\mathcal{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[-2(m-1)i:1]},$$

and

$$\mathcal{G}_{1}^{0,0}$$
, when $m > 2$,
 $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{1}^{0,0}$, when $m = 2$.

Any **o**-invariant subbundles of a generalised almost Robinson geometry of Kerr– Schild type must be an intersection of these and the ones in (1) and (2).

Proof Let g be a metric in **o**. Any subbundle of \mathcal{G} that is invariant under changes of metrics in **o** must also be conformally invariant. Thus, it is enough to consider the subbundles given in Theorem 5.4, and a metric \hat{g} in **o** related to g by

$$\widehat{g}_{ab} = g_{ab} + 2\kappa_{(a}\alpha_{b)},$$

for some 1-form α_a . Denote by $\widehat{\nabla}$ and ∇ their corresponding Levi-Civita connections. Then for any 1-form ξ_a , we have

$$\widehat{\nabla}_a \xi_b = \nabla_a \xi_b - Q_{ab}{}^c \xi_c,$$

We now proceed with the remaining subbundles given in Theorem 5.4. Throughout, \mathring{T} will denote the intrinsic torsion of (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) .

• Suppose \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$. Then by (B.9) and (B.4), we have

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)^0{}_{\beta\gamma0} = 2\mathrm{i}\alpha^0\tau_{\beta\gamma}.$$

The LHS is zero if and only if either $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ or $\alpha(k) = 0$. The former is equivalent to \mathring{T} being a section of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$.

• Suppose \mathring{T} is a section of $(\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]}$ where $[z:w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$. Then by (B.9), (B.10) and (B.4), we have

$$iz(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{[\alpha\beta]}{}^{0}{}_{0} + w(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)^{0}{}_{\alpha\beta0} = (z+2wi)\alpha^{0}\tau_{\alpha\beta}.$$

We immediately conclude that $(\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[-2i:1]}$ is **o**-invariant. Suppose now $[z:w] \neq [-2i:1]$. Then, we must have either $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ or $\alpha(k) = 0$.

• Suppose \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathscr{G}_0^{1,1}$. This subbundle is contained in $(\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[4i:-1]}$, which we know is **o**-invariant provided either $\alpha(k) = 0$ or $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = \zeta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. In addition, by skew-symmetry we find that

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{[\alpha\beta\gamma]0} = 0,$$

which does not yield any further conditions. Hence, $\mathcal{G}_0^{1,1}$ is **o**-invariant.

- Suppose \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,2}$. This is a subbundle of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$, i.e. $\sigma_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. It is also contained in $(\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[2i:-1]}$. So, for **o**-invariance, we must have
- \diamond either $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = \zeta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. In this case, by (B.11), (B.5) and (B.2), we find that

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{(\alpha\beta)\gamma0} = 0.$$

 \diamond or $\alpha(k) = 0$, from which we find

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{(\alpha\beta)\gamma 0} = \alpha_{(\alpha}\tau_{\beta)\gamma},$$

which tells us that one must impose in addition $\alpha(v) = 0$ for all $v \in \Gamma(K^{\perp})$ for invariance.

• Suppose \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathscr{G}_{0}^{1,3}$. This is also a subbundle of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$ and $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{2,0}$, i.e. $\tau_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}^{\circ} = \sigma_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0$. It is also contained in $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{3,0}$, so for **o**-invariance, we must have

 \diamond either $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ in which case, by (B.12), (B.6) and (B.3),

$$\left((\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma 0}\right)_{\circ} = 0$$

If we assume $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, then no further conditions are necessary. \diamond or $\alpha(k) = 0$. Then, again, by (B.12), (B.6) and (B.3), we have

$$\left((\widehat{\nabla} \rho)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} 0 \right)_{\alpha} = 2\mathrm{i} \left(\alpha_{\bar{\alpha}} \tau_{\beta\gamma} \right)_{\alpha}$$

from which we immediately conclude that $\alpha(v) = 0$ for all $v \in \Gamma(K^{\perp})$ for **o**-invariance.

• Suppose \mathring{T} is a section of $(\mathscr{G}_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[-2(m-1)i:1]}$. This is contained in $(\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[2(m-1)i:1]}$, which is **o**-invariant if $\alpha(k) = 0$ or $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = \zeta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. In particular, by (B.15), (B.16), (B.4) and (B.6), we have

$$2h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{0\beta\gamma\bar{\alpha}} + h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma 0} = -4(m-1)\mathrm{i}Q_{0\beta}{}^0 - \mathrm{i}h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}\left(Q_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} - Q_{\bar{\alpha}\gamma\beta}\right).$$

Comparing the two terms on the RHS shows that for invariance to hold, one needs $\alpha \wedge \kappa = 0$.

• Suppose \mathring{T} is a section of $\mathscr{G}_{1}^{0,0}$. In dimension greater than six, this is a subbundle of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$, i.e. $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = 0$. Then, by (B.14), (B.7), (B.4), we have

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{0\beta\gamma0} = 2\mathrm{i}Q_{0[\beta\gamma]}.$$

where

$$Q_{0[\beta\gamma]} = -Q_{0[\beta}{}^{0}\alpha_{\gamma]} - \alpha_{[\beta}(\nabla\kappa)_{\gamma]0} + (\nabla\alpha)_{[\beta\gamma]},$$
$$Q_{0[\beta}{}^{0}\alpha_{\gamma]} = -\beta(\mathrm{d}\alpha)^{0}{}_{[\beta}\alpha_{\gamma]} + \frac{1}{2}\beta\left((\nabla\kappa)_{0[\beta} + (\nabla\kappa)_{[\beta0})\alpha_{\gamma]}\alpha^{0}\right)$$

For **o**-invariance, we need $\alpha(v) = 0$ for all $v \in K^{\perp}$, i.e. $\alpha \wedge \kappa = 0$. Then we are left with

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{0\beta\gamma0} = 2\mathrm{i}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)_{\beta\gamma} = 2\mathrm{i}\alpha^0\tau_{\beta\gamma},$$

since $\alpha_a = \alpha_0 \kappa_a$, which we know it zero. Invariance then follows. In dimension six, $\tau_{\alpha\beta}$ is not necessarily zero. Suppose it is not. Since $\mathscr{G}_1^{0,0} \subset (\mathscr{G}_0^{0\times 1})_{[-2i:1]}$, we must have $\alpha(k) = 0$, and by (B.14), (B.7), (B.4), we find

$$Q_{0[\beta\gamma]} = -Q_{0[\beta}{}^{0}\alpha_{\gamma]} - \alpha_{[\beta}(\nabla\kappa)_{\gamma]0} + (\mathrm{d}\alpha)_{[\beta\gamma]} + \alpha_{0}\tau_{\beta\gamma}$$

and

$$Q_{0[\beta}{}^{0}\alpha_{\gamma]} = -(\mathrm{d}\alpha)^{0}{}_{[\beta}\alpha_{\gamma]}$$

For **o**-invariance we must also assume $\alpha(v) = 0$ for all $v \in K^{\perp}$. Then we are left with

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{0\beta\gamma0} = 2\mathrm{i}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)_{\beta\gamma} + 2\mathrm{i}\alpha_0\tau_{\beta\gamma} = 4\mathrm{i}\alpha_0\tau_{\beta\gamma},$$

where we have made use of the fact that $\alpha_a = \alpha_0 \kappa_a$. So for **o**-invariance, we must have either $\alpha_a = 0$, which we rule out, or assume in addition $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and so $\zeta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$.

Remark 6.5 The **o**-invariance of the subbundles $(\mathcal{G}_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[-2i:1]}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_{0}^{1,2}$ in Theorem 6.4 comes as no surprise. These correspond to *N* being preserved by the flow of any section of *K*, and the involutivity of *N*, respectively, and these geometric properties do not depend on the equivalence class **o**.

Remark 6.6 Theorem 6.4 should be contrasted with the situation regarding generalised optical geometries, where the **o**-invariants are precisely the conformal invariants, namely the shear and twist, of the optical geometry of some metric g in **o** as pointed out in [25, 90].

6.2 Generalised Robinson geometries as G-structures

Following the original definition of a generalised optical structure of [88, 90, 91, 110–112], we express an equivalent definition of a generalised almost Robinson geometry in the following terms:

Proposition 6.7 Let \mathcal{M} be a smooth oriented (2m + 2)-dimensional manifold. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (1) \mathcal{M} is endowed with a generalised Robinson structure $(K, \mathbf{0})$.
- (2) \mathcal{M} is endowed with a pair of distributions $K^{(1)}$ and $K^{(2m+1)}$ of rank 1 and 2m+1, respectively, such that

$$K^{(1)} \subset K^{(2m+1)} \tag{6.3}$$

and its associated screen bundle $K^{(2m+1)}/K^{(1)}$ is equipped with a conformal structure of Riemannian signature together with a compatible bundle complex structure.

Proof Recall from [25] that a generalised optical structure $(K, \mathbf{0})$ is equivalent to the existence of a filtration (6.3), where $K^{(1)}$ is identified with K, together with a conformal structure on the screen bundle $K^{(2m+1)}/K^{(1)}$. Since a generalised almost Robinson structure is in particular a generalised optical structure, it suffices to exhibit a compatible bundle complex structure on $K^{(2m+1)}/K^{(1)}$. But this follows directly from Proposition 5.3 and the fact that the screen bundle does not depend on the choice of metric in $\mathbf{0}$.

A generalised almost Robinson structure on a smooth manifold \mathcal{M} can therefore be regarded as a *G*-structure where the structure group of the frame bundle of \mathcal{M} is reduced from **SL**(2m + 2, **R**) (or **GL**(2m + 2, **R**) if we drop the assumption that \mathcal{M} is oriented) to the closed Lie subgroup *H* that stabilises the filtration (6.3), together with a conformal structure and compatible bundle complex structure on the screen bundle. One can easily check that *H* has dimension (m + 2)².

Under the assumption of real-analyticity, the generalised almost Robinson geometry $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ is integrable as a *G*-structure if and only if there exist local coordinates $(u, v, z^{\alpha}, \overline{z}^{\overline{\alpha}})$ on \mathcal{M} , where *u* and *v* are real, z^{α} complex, and $\overline{z}^{\overline{\alpha}} = \overline{z^{\alpha}}$ such that

(1)
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$
 spans K,

- (2) du annihilates K^{\perp} ,
- (3) (du, dz^{α}) annihilate N, and
- (4) **o** contains the Minkowski metric $g = 2 du dv + 2 \underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} dz^{\alpha} d\bar{z}^{\bar{\beta}}$, where $\underline{h}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ is the standard Hermitian metric on \mathbb{C}^m .

The characterisation of integrable generalised optical structure was dealt with in [25, 90]. In the case of generalised almost Robinson geometries, we have the following result.

Theorem 6.8 Let $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ be a generalised almost Robinson geometry with congruence of null curves \mathcal{K} . The following statements are equivalent.

(1) There exists a torsion-free linear connection ∇' compatible with (N, K) and **o**,

$$\nabla'_{u} v \in \Gamma(N), \quad \text{for any } v \in \Gamma(N), u \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}),$$

$$(6.4)$$

$$\nabla'_{u}g(v,w) \propto g(v,w), \quad \text{for any } g \in \mathbf{0}, v, w \in \Gamma(K^{\perp}), u \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}). \tag{6.5}$$

(2) For any metric g in **0**, (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is a nearly Robinson manifold whose intrinsic torsion is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$. In particular, it is of Robinson–Trautman or Kundt type.

Further, in the neighbourhood of any point in \mathcal{M} , there exists smooth functions u and v such that

- $\frac{\partial}{\partial v}$ spans K,
- du annihilates K^{\perp} , and
- **o** contains the metric $g = 2 \operatorname{dud} v + \underline{h}$, where \underline{h} is a family of conformally flat Hermitian metrics of Gray–Hervella class W_4 smoothly parametrised by u,

if and only if any of the conditions (1) and (2) holds together with the condition

$$\left(\kappa_{[a}W_{bc][de}\kappa_{f]}\right)_{\circ} = 0, \tag{6.6}$$

for any 1-form κ annihilating K^{\perp} , where W_{abcd} is the Weyl tensor of any metric in **o**.

Proof We show that (1) implies (2). Let ∇' be as given in (1). Note that we can reexpress (6.5) equivalently as

$$\nabla'_a g_{bc} = \beta_a g_{bc} + 2 \gamma_{a(b} \kappa_{c)}, \tag{6.7}$$

for some tensor fields β_a and γ_{ab} , and where κ_a annihilates K^{\perp} . Now, the difference between ∇' and the Levi-Civita connection ∇ for some *g* in **o** can be expressed uniquely by

$$\nabla'_a \alpha_b = \nabla_a \alpha_b - Q_{ab}{}^c \alpha_c$$
, for any $1 - \text{ form } \alpha_a$,

where

$$Q_{abc} = \frac{1}{2}\beta_c g_{ab} + \gamma_{c(a}\kappa_{b)} - \beta_{(a}g_{b)c} - \gamma_{(ab)}\kappa_c - \kappa_{(a}\gamma_{b)c}$$

This follows from the requirement that ∇' be also torsion-free, and (6.5) holds. Now choosing splitting operators $(\ell^a, \delta^a_i, k^a) = (\ell^a, \delta^a_\alpha, \delta^a_{\alpha}, \delta^a_{\alpha}, k^a)$ for g, we find

$$(\nabla \kappa)^0{}_j = 0, \qquad (\nabla \kappa)_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}\beta^0 h_{ij}, \qquad (\nabla \kappa)_{0j} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\beta_j + \gamma^0{}_j - \gamma_j{}^0\right),$$

and

$$(\nabla \rho)^{0}{}_{\alpha\beta0} = 0, \quad (\nabla \rho)_{\alpha\beta\gamma0} = 0, \quad (\nabla \rho)_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma0} = 2\mathrm{i}\beta_{[\beta}h_{\gamma]\bar{\alpha}}, \quad (\nabla \rho)_{0\beta\gamma0} = \gamma_{[\beta\gamma]},$$

and it follows immediately (see, for example, equations (4.8) and (4.9)) that the intrinsic torsion of the almost Robinson structure of (\mathcal{M}, g, N, K) is a section of $\mathcal{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,2} \cap \mathcal{G}_0^{1,3}$. We note that this is independent of the choice of metric in **o** by Theorem 6.4.

To prove that (2) implies (1), we note that since $\mathscr{G}_0^{1,1} \cap \mathscr{G}_0^{1,2} \cap \mathscr{G}_0^{1,3}$ is a *Q*-invariant subbundle of $\mathscr{G}_{-1}^{3,0} \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^1 \cap \mathscr{G}_{-1}^2$, we can simply take the linear connection given in Corollary 4.72.

The final part of the proof follows from Theorem 7.6 of [25] and Table 7. □

Remark 6.9 Consider now a generalised almost Robinson geometry $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ for which the Minkowski metric η belongs to \mathbf{o} , i.e. any metric in \mathbf{o} is conformal to a metric of the form

$$g = \eta + 2\kappa\alpha,$$

for some optical 1-form κ and 1-form α . This means that (N, K) is an almost Robinson structure for Minkowski space (\mathcal{M}, η) . Using the Kerr theorem of Sect. 5.6, one can then generate many non-flat Robinson manifolds.

In the particular case where $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{o})$ is of Kerr–Schild type, we recover the original Kerr–Schild metric, considered by Kerr and Schild in [44] in dimension four, and which is an exact first-order perturbation of the Minkowski metric.

Example 6.10 (The Myers–Perry metric) Let us write the Minkowski metric in standard coordinates $(t, x^{\alpha}, y^{\alpha}, z)_{\alpha=1,...,m}$ in dimension 2m + 2,

$$\eta = -(\mathrm{d}t)^2 + \sum_{\alpha=1}^m \left((\mathrm{d}x^{\alpha})^2 + (\mathrm{d}y^{\alpha})^2 \right) + (\mathrm{d}z)^2,$$

and let

$$\kappa = \mathrm{d}t + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{m} \frac{r(x^{\alpha}\mathrm{d}x^{\alpha} + y^{\alpha}\mathrm{d}y^{\alpha}) + a_{\alpha}(x^{\alpha}\mathrm{d}y^{\alpha} - y^{\alpha}\mathrm{d}x^{\alpha})}{r^{2} + a_{\alpha}^{2}} + \frac{z}{r}\mathrm{d}r,$$

and

$$f = \frac{Mr^2}{1 - \sum_{\alpha=1}^m \frac{a_{\alpha}^2((x^{\alpha})^2 + (y^{\alpha})^2)}{(r^2 + a_{\alpha}^2)^2}} \frac{1}{\prod_{\alpha=1}^m (r^2 + a_{\alpha}^2)}.$$

Here, the radial coordinate is defined by

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{m} \frac{(x^{\alpha})^2 + (y^{\alpha})^2}{r^2 + a_{\alpha}^2} + \frac{z^2}{r^2} = 1.$$

Then, the Kerr-Myers-Perry metric in Kerr-Schild form is given by [61]

$$g = \eta + f\kappa^2$$
.

Being a relative of the Kerr-NUT-(A)dS metric—see Example 4.50—the Myers–Perry metric admits two sets of 2^{m-1} Robinson structures corresponding to two optical structures.

As shown in [59], these Robinson structures are defined by the eigenspinors of a so-called *conformal Killiang-Yano 2-form* ξ_{ab} that is also closed, i.e. ξ_{ab} satisfies the overdetermined system of linear first order partial differential equations:

$$\nabla_a \xi_{bc} = \frac{2}{2m+1} g_{a[b} \nabla^d \xi_{c]d}.$$

Since these Robinson structures exist for η , by the Kerr theorem, they must arise from a complex submanifold of dimension m + 1 of twistor space—see Sect. 5.6. In [107], the construction of this submanifold is given as the locus of a system of polynomials of degree two whose coefficients are determined by the prolongation of the conformal Killing-Yano equation.

Example 6.11 (Fefferman–Einstein metrics and Taub–NUT–(A)dS metrics) Reference [106] shows that the Fefferman–Einstein metric and the Taub–NUT–(A)dS metric belong to the same generalised almost Robinson geometry.

Example 6.12 (Metrics of supergravity) The metric (4.41) together with its Robinson

Page 93 of 103

56

3-form (4.42) in Example 4.64 belongs to the equivalence class of metrics of an integrable generalised almost Robinson geometry of Kerr–Schild type, and to which the Minkowski metric also belongs.

7 Generalisation to other metric signatures and odd dimensions

The setting of the present article can be easily adapted to any pseudo-Riemannian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) of signature (p+1, q+1) for any even integer p, q with p+q = 2m, where there is also a notion of almost null structure N, defined to be a totally null complex distribution of rank m. In this general case, the real index r of N can take any of the values [48]

$$r \equiv \min(p+1, q+1) \pmod{2}.$$

When $pq \neq 0$, it is therefore necessary to define an almost Robinson structure as an almost null structure *of real index one*. Equivalently, these can be characterised as an optical geometry whose screen bundle is endowed with a bundle complex structure compatible with the screen bundle metric. One has to be cautious in the definition of a twist-induced almost Robinson structure since the screen bundle metric is no longer positive-definite. This difference is also reflected in the pure spinor approach, which now may be of different real indices: beside the purity condition (3.13), pure spinors of real index one now satisfy further algebraic conditions [13, 48]. Other than these considerations, the properties of the intrinsic torsion given in the present article will apply to different metric signatures.

Finally, one can also define an almost Robinson structure (N, K) on a (2m + 3)dimensional smooth Lorentzian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) (or its conformal analogue). Here, N is a totally null complex (m + 1)-plane distribution, i.e. an almost null structure, of real index one so that K is the rank-one null distribution arising from the real span of $N \cap \overline{N}$. In dimension three, they are equivalent to optical geometries. Unlike in even dimensions, the real index has to be specified here, since generically, in odd dimensions, the real index is zero [47]. Another crucial difference is that N is now strictly contained in its rank-(m + 2) orthogonal complement N^{\perp} , which makes the algebraic classification of its intrinsic torsion significantly more involved. For instance, one may require the integrability of either N or N^{\perp} , or both. Nevertheless, these are also relevant to the study of solutions to Einstein field equations in higher dimensions as was shown in [59, 101]. The geometry of almost null structures in odd dimensions is investigated in [68, 103, 104, 107]. Almost Robinson structures can also be defined in signatures (2p + 1, 2q + 2) for any p, q with $pq \neq 0$ as an almost null structure of real index one.

Funding AF was supported by GNSAGA of INdAM, by PRIN 2017 "Real and Complex Manifolds: Topology, Geometry and Holomorphic Dynamics" and by a grant from the Simons Foundation (#944448). TL was supported by the Australian Research Council (Discovery Program DP190102360). ATC & TL declare that this work was partially supported by the Grant 346300 for IMPAN from the Simons Foundation and the matching 2015-2019 Polish MNiSW fund. The research of ATC leading to these results has received

funding from the Norwegian Financial Mechanism 2014-2021 UMO-2020/37/K/ST1/02788. ATC was also supported by a long-term faculty development grant from the American University of Beirut for his visit to IMPAN, Warsaw, in the summer 2018. He received funding from the GAČR (Czech Science Foundation) Grant 20-11473 S in 2020.

Data availability statement Data sharing is not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study.

Declarations

Conflict of interest. On behalf of all authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Appendix A. Projections

In this appendix, we define the projections from the modules of intrinsic torsion G to its irreducible Q_0 -modules as given in Theorem 3.15. We choose a Robinson 3-form ρ_{abc} associated to an optical 1-form κ_a , and splitting operators $(\ell^a, \delta^a_i, k^a) = (\ell^a, \delta^a_\alpha, \delta^a_\alpha, k^a), (\delta^i_\alpha, \delta^i_\alpha)$, with $\kappa_a = g_{ab}k^b$. We shall be using these to convert index types, with the additional convention that if α_a is a 1-form, we shall write $k^a \alpha_a = \alpha^0$ and $\ell^a \alpha_a = \alpha_0$.

As usual, the screen space symmetric bilinear form, the Hermitian form and the complex structure will be denoted h_{ij} , ω_{ij} and $J_i{}^j$, respectively. Now let $\Gamma_{ab}{}^c$ of $\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}$ and $\omega_{ab} = \omega_{ij} \delta^i_a \delta^j_b$, so that $\rho_{abc} = 3\kappa_{[a}\omega_{bc]}$. We streamline notation by setting

$$(\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{ab} := -\Gamma_{ab}{}^c \kappa_c, \quad (\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{abc} := 2 \Gamma_{a[b}{}^d \omega_{c]d}, \quad (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{abcd} := -3 \Gamma_{a[b}{}^e \rho_{cd]e}.$$

In particular,

$$(\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{abcd} = 3(\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{a[bc}\kappa_{d]} + 3(\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{a[b}\omega_{cd]}$$

Note also that $(\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{ab}k^b = 0$ and $(\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{abc}k^c = -(\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{ac}J_b^c$. Then it is easy to check

$$(\Gamma \cdot \rho)_a{}^0{}_{jk} = 0, \qquad (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{a0jk} = (\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{ajk} + (\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{a0}\omega_{jk}, (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{aijk} = 3(\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{a[i}\omega_{jk]}, \qquad (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_a{}^0{}_{0k} = -(\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{aj}J_k{}^j.$$
(A.1)

Let us first recall the projections from the module of intrinsic torsions to its irreducible P_0 -modules from [25]:

$$\begin{split} \Pi^{0}_{-2} &: \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{0}_{-2}, & \Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} \mapsto \Pi^{0}_{-2}(\Gamma)_{i} := (\Gamma \cdot \kappa)^{0}{}_{i}, \\ \Pi_{-1} &: \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}, & \Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} \mapsto \Pi_{-1}(\Gamma)_{ij} := (\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{ij}, \\ \Pi^{0}_{-1} &: \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{0}_{-1}, & \Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} \mapsto \Pi^{0}_{-1}(\Gamma) := \Pi_{-1}(\Gamma)_{ij}h^{ij}, \\ \Pi^{1}_{-1} &: \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{1}_{-1}, & \Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} \mapsto \Pi^{1}_{-1}(\Gamma)_{ij} := \Pi_{-1}(\Gamma)_{[ij]}, \\ \Pi^{2}_{-1} &: \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{2}_{-1}, & \Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} \mapsto \Pi^{2}_{-1}(\Gamma)_{ij} := \Pi_{-1}(\Gamma)_{(ij)_{o}}, \\ \Pi^{0}_{0} &: \mathbb{V}^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{0}_{0}, & \Gamma_{ab}{}^{c} \mapsto \Pi^{0}_{0}(\Gamma)_{i} := (\Gamma \cdot \kappa)_{0i}. \end{split}$$
(A.2)

With reference to equations (A.1), we also define alternatives to Π_{-1} and Π_0 :

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi'_{-1} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1} : \Gamma \mapsto \Pi'_{-1}(\Gamma)_{ij} &:= (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{ij}{}^0_0, \\ \Pi'_0 : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_0 : \Gamma \mapsto \Pi'_0(\Gamma)_i &:= (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{0ijk} h^{jk}. \end{aligned}$$

We note the relation $\Pi'_{-1}(\Gamma)_{ij} = -\Pi_{-1}(\Gamma)_{ik}J_i^k$.

In dimension six, there are two further projections from $\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}$ to the self-dual and anti-self-dual parts of \mathbb{G}_{-1}^1 —see [25]. These will not be needed as they will be subsumed in the projections to $\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1}$ and $\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2}$ given below.

We shall presently introduce, for each i, j, k, a Q_0 -module epimorphism $\Pi_i^{j,k}$: $\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}$ with the properties that $\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q}$ lies in the kernel of $\Pi_i^{j,k}$, and $\Pi_i^{j,k}$ descends to a projection from \mathbb{G} to $\mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}$. By construction, the kernel of $\Pi_i^{j,k}$ mod $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathfrak{q}$ is precisely isomorphic to the complement $(\mathbb{G}_i^{j,k})^c$ of $\mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}$ in \mathbb{G} as Q_0 -modules, i.e.

$$\ker \Pi_i^{j,k} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right) \cong (\mathbb{G}_i^{j,k})^c, \quad \text{i.e.} \quad \left(\ker \Pi_i^{j,k} / \left(\mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{q} \right) \right)^c \cong \mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}.$$
(A.3)

Let us define the projections

$$\begin{split} \Pi^{3,0}_{-1} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{3,0}_{-1}, \quad \Gamma \mapsto \Pi^{3,0}_{-1}(\Gamma)_{jk} &:= \frac{1}{2} (\Gamma \cdot \rho)^0_{0\ell_1 \ell_2} \left(\delta^{\ell_1}_j \delta^{\ell_2}_k - J_j^{\ell_1} J_k^{\ell_2} \right), \\ \Pi^1_0 : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^1_0, \quad \Gamma \mapsto \Pi^1_0(\Gamma)_{ijk} &:= \frac{1}{2} (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{i\ell_1 \ell_2 0} \left(\delta^{\ell_1}_j \delta^{\ell_2}_k - J_j^{\ell_1} J_k^{\ell_2} \right), \\ \Pi^{0,0}_1 : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{0,0}_1, \quad \Gamma \mapsto \Pi^{0,0}_1(\Gamma)_{jk} &:= \frac{1}{2} (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{00\ell_1 \ell_2} \left(\delta^{\ell_1}_j \delta^{\ell_2}_k - J_j^{\ell_1} J_k^{\ell_2} \right). \end{split}$$

To guide the reader, we shall note that

$$\Pi^{3,0}_{-1}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta} = (\Gamma \cdot \omega)^0{}_{\alpha\beta}, \quad \Pi^1_0(\Gamma)_{ijk} = (\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{ijk} \quad \Pi^{0,0}_1(\Gamma)_{jk} = (\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{0jk}$$

We can define the remaining projections $\Pi_i^{j,k} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_i^{j,k}$ by the properties

where we recall that $\llbracket \cdot \rrbracket$ and $\llbracket \cdot \rrbracket$ denote the real spans of the enclosed quantities.

That these are indeed projections is not too difficult to check. We also define a variant of the maps $\Pi_{-1}^{1,1}$ and $\Pi_{0}^{1,0}$ by

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{-1}^{\prime 1,1} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} &\to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{-1}^{\prime 1,1}(\Gamma)_{ij} := \llbracket i \Pi_{-1}^{\prime}(\Gamma)_{[\alpha\beta]} \rrbracket, \\ \Pi_{0}^{\prime 0,0} : \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0,0}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{0}^{\prime 0,0}(\Gamma)_i := \frac{1}{2m-2} \Pi_{0}^{\prime}(\Gamma)_{ijk} \omega^{jk} \\ &= -\frac{1}{m-1} \llbracket i (\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{0\alpha\beta\bar{\gamma}} h^{\beta\bar{\gamma}} \rrbracket. \end{split}$$

One can indeed verify that these satisfy $\Pi_{-1}^{1,1}(\Gamma)_{ij} = \Pi_{-1}^{\prime 1,1}(\Gamma)_{ij}$ and $\Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma)_{i} = \Pi_{0}^{\prime 1,0}(\Gamma)_{i}$. We are now in the position to introduce the following families of maps: for any $[x : y] \in \mathbb{RP}^{1}$, $[z : w] \in \mathbb{CP}^{1}$,

$$\begin{split} (\Pi_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0}, \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{-1}^{0\times 1})_{[x:y]}(\Gamma) \\ &:= x \, \Pi_{-1}^{0,0}(\Gamma) + y \, \Pi_{-1}^{1,0}(\Gamma), \\ (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 2})_{[x:y]}(\Gamma) \\ &:= [x \, \Pi_{-1}^{2,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} - y \, \mathrm{i} \, \Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}], \\ (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times 3})_{[z:w]}(\Gamma) \\ &:= [[z \, \Pi_{-1}^{\prime,1}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta} + w \, \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha\beta}]], \\ (\Pi_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,0}, \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{0}^{0\times 1})_{[z:w]}(\Gamma) \\ &:= [[z \, \Pi_{0}^{\prime,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha} + w \, \Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma)_{\alpha}]]. \end{split}$$

Finally, we give alternative forms of the maps defined above in terms of algebraic relations with $J_i{}^j$, ω_{ij} and h_{ij} :

$$\begin{split} &\Pi^{0,0}_{-2}: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{0,0}_{-2}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi^{0,0}_{-2}(\Gamma)_i := \Pi^0_{-2}(\Gamma)_i, \\ &\Pi^{0,0}_{-1}: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}^{0,0}_{-1}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi^{0,0}_{-1}(\Gamma) := \Pi^0_{-1}(\Gamma), \end{split}$$

Deringer

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{-1}^{1,0} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{-1}^{1,0}(\Gamma) := \Pi_{-1}^{1}(\Gamma)_{ij}\omega^{ij}, \\ \Pi_{-1}^{1,1} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{-1}^{1,1}(\Gamma)_{ij} := \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{-1}^{1}(\Gamma)_{k\ell} \left(\delta_i^k \delta_j^\ell - J_i^k J_j^{\ell}\right), \\ \Pi_{-1}^{1,2} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma)_{ij} := \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{-1}^{1}(\Gamma)_{k\ell} \left(\delta_i^k \delta_j^\ell + J_i^k J_j^{\ell} - \frac{2}{n}\omega_{ij}\omega^{k\ell}\right), \\ \Pi_{-1}^{2,0} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{-1}^{2,0}(\Gamma)_{ij} := \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{-1}^{2}(\Gamma)_{k\ell} \left(\delta_i^k \delta_j^\ell - J_i^k J_j^{\ell}\right), \\ \Pi_{-1}^{2,1} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,1}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{-1}^{2,1}(\Gamma)_{ij} := \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{-1}^{2}(\Gamma)_{k\ell} \left(\delta_i^k \delta_j^\ell - J_i^k J_j^{\ell}\right), \\ \Pi_{-1}^{3,0} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma)_{jk} := \frac{1}{2}(\Gamma \cdot \rho)^0 _{0\ell_1\ell_2} \left(\delta_j^{\ell_1} \delta_k^{\ell_2} - J_j^{\ell_1} J_k^{\ell_2}\right), \\ \Pi_{0}^{0,0} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0,0}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{0}^{0,0}(\Gamma)_i := \Pi_{0}^{0}(\Gamma)_i, \\ \Pi_{0}^{1,0} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,0}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma)_{ki} := \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{0}^{1}(\Gamma)_{\ell m [i} \left(\delta_j^\ell \delta_{k]}^m - J_j^{\ell} J_{k]}^m\right), \\ \Pi_{0}^{1,2} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,2}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{0}^{1,2}(\Gamma)_{ijk} := \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{0}^{1}(\Gamma)_{\ell m k} \left(\delta_{(i}^\ell \delta_{j)}^m - J_{(i}^{\ell} J_{j)}^m\right), \\ \Pi_{0}^{1,3} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,3}, \\ \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{0}^{1,3}(\Gamma)_{ijk} := \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{0}^{1}(\Gamma)_{\ell m [k} \left(\delta_{j1}^m \delta_k^\ell + J_{j1}^m J_i^{\ell} - \frac{2}{m-1} \left(h_{j]i} h^{\ell m} - \omega_{j]i} \omega^{\ell m}\right) \right), \\ \Pi_{1}^{0,0} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0,0}, \Gamma \mapsto \Pi_{1}^{0,0}(\Gamma)_{jk} := \frac{1}{2}(\Gamma \cdot \rho)_{00\ell_1\ell_2} \left(\delta_j^{\ell_1} \delta_k^{\ell_2} - J_j^{\ell_1} J_k^{\ell_2}\right). \end{split}$$

Note that for the map $\Pi_0^{1,3}$, we use the identity $\omega^{ij}(\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{ijk} = h^{ij}(\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{ij\ell}J_k^{\ell}$, or equivalently $h^{ij}(\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{ijk} = -\omega^{ij}(\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{ij\ell}J_k^{\ell}$. Other useful identities include

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{-1}^{1,1}(\Gamma)_{ki}J_{j}^{\ k} &= \Pi_{-1}^{1}(\Gamma)_{k[i}J_{j]}^{\ k}, \qquad \Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma)_{ki}J_{j}^{\ k} = \Pi_{-1}^{1}(\Gamma)_{k\ell}\left(J_{(i}^{\ k}\delta_{j)}^{\ell} + \frac{1}{n-2}h_{ij}\omega^{k\ell}\right), \\ \Pi_{-1}^{2,0}(\Gamma)_{ki}J_{j}^{\ k} &= \Pi_{-1}^{2}(\Gamma)_{k[i}J_{j]}^{\ k}, \qquad \Pi_{-1}^{2,1}(\Gamma)_{ki}J_{j}^{\ k} = \Pi_{-1}^{2}(\Gamma)_{k(i}J_{j)}^{\ k}, \\ \Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma)_{j}J_{k}^{\ j} &= \omega^{ij}(\Gamma \cdot \omega)_{ijk}. \end{split}$$

For the remaining modules, we record, for each $[x : y] \in \mathbb{RP}^1$, $[z, w] \in \mathbb{CP}^1$,

$$\begin{split} (\Pi_{-1}^{0\times1})_{[x;y]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{0,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,0}, \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{-1}^{0\times1})_{[x;y]}(\Gamma) &:= x \, \Pi_{-1}^{0,0}(\Gamma) + y \, \Pi_{-1}^{1,0}(\Gamma), \\ (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times2})_{[x;y]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,2} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{2,0}, \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times2})_{[x;y]}(\Gamma) &:= x \, \Pi_{-1}^{1,2}(\Gamma)_{ik} J_j^{\ k} + y \, \Pi_{-1}^{2,0}(\Gamma)_{ij}, \\ (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[z;w]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{3,0}, \\ \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{-1}^{1\times3})_{[z;w]}(\Gamma) &:= \Re \left(z \, \Pi_{-1}^{\prime 1,1}(\Gamma)_{ij} + w \, \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma)_{ij} \right) \\ &\quad + \Im \left(z \, \Pi_{-1}^{\prime 1,1}(\Gamma)_{ik} + w \, \Pi_{-1}^{3,0}(\Gamma)_{ik} \right) J_j^{\ k}, \\ (\Pi_{0}^{0\times1})_{[z;w]} &: \mathbb{V}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}_{0}^{0,0} \oplus \mathbb{G}_{0}^{1,0}, \\ \Gamma \mapsto (\Pi_{0}^{0\times1})_{[z;w]}(\Gamma) &:= \Re \left(z \, \Pi_{0}^{0,0}(\Gamma)_i + w \, \Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma)_i \right) \\ &\quad + \Im \left(z \, \Pi_{0}^{0,0}(\Gamma)_j + w \, \Pi_{0}^{1,0}(\Gamma)_j \right) J_i^{\ j}, \end{split}$$

where $\Re(\cdot)$ and $\Im(\cdot)$ denote the real and imaginary parts, respectively.

Appendix B. Generalised almost Robinson geometry—connections

Let $(\mathcal{M}, N, K, \mathbf{0})$ be a generalised almost Robinson geometry, and let g and \widehat{g} be two metrics in $\mathbf{0}$ related via

$$\widehat{g}_{ab} = g_{ab} + 2\kappa_{(a}\alpha_{b)},$$

for some 1-form α_a . Denote by $\widehat{\nabla}$ and ∇ their corresponding Levi-Civita connections. Then for any 1-form ν_a , we have

$$\widehat{\nabla}_a v_b = \nabla_a v_b - Q_{ab}{}^c v_c,$$

where $Q_{abc} = Q_{ab}{}^d g_{dc}$ is given by

$$Q_{abc} + Q_{ab}{}^d \alpha_c \kappa_d + Q_{ab}{}^d \kappa_c \alpha_d = -(\nabla_c \kappa_{(a)} \alpha_{b)} - (\nabla_c \alpha_{(a)} \kappa_{b)} + (\nabla_{(a} \kappa_{b)}) \alpha_c + (\nabla_{(a} \alpha_{b)}) \kappa_c + \alpha_{(a} (\nabla_{b)} \kappa_c) + \kappa_{(a} (\nabla_{b)} \alpha_c)$$

Set $\beta = (1 + \alpha^0)^{-1}$. Contracting this expression with instances of k^a , δ^a_{α} , $\delta^a_{\bar{\alpha}}$ and ℓ^a , and using the definitions (4.8) and (4.9) yields

$$Q_a^{\ 00} = 0,$$
 (B.1)

$$Q_{\alpha\beta}{}^{0} = -\beta\gamma_{(\alpha}\alpha_{\beta)} + \beta\alpha^{0}\sigma_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{B.2}$$

$$Q_{\bar{\alpha}\beta}{}^{0} = -\frac{1}{2}\beta(\nabla\kappa){}^{0}{}_{0}\alpha_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\beta\gamma_{\beta}\alpha_{0} + \alpha^{0}\beta(d\kappa)_{0\beta} + \beta(d\alpha)_{\beta}{}^{0}.$$
 (B.3)

$$Q^{0}{}_{\beta\gamma} = \alpha_{(\gamma}\gamma_{\beta)} + \alpha^{0}\tau_{\beta\gamma}, \tag{B.4}$$

$$Q_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = -Q_{\alpha\beta}{}^{0}\alpha_{\gamma} + 2\alpha_{(\alpha}\tau_{\beta)\gamma} + \alpha_{\gamma}\sigma_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.5)$$

$$Q_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} = -Q_{\bar{\alpha}\beta}{}^{0}\alpha_{\gamma} - \alpha_{[\beta}(\nabla\kappa)_{\gamma]\bar{\alpha}} + (\nabla\kappa)_{\bar{\alpha}(\beta}\alpha_{\gamma)} + \alpha_{\bar{\alpha}}\tau_{\beta\gamma}, \tag{B.6}$$

$$Q_{0\beta\gamma} = -Q_{0\beta}{}^{0}\alpha_{\gamma} - \alpha_{[\beta}(\nabla\kappa)_{\gamma]0} + (d\alpha)_{[\beta\gamma]} + (\nabla\kappa)_{0(\beta}\alpha_{\gamma)} + \alpha_{0}\tau_{\beta\gamma}$$
(B.7)

Now,

$$\widehat{\nabla}_a \kappa_b = \nabla_a \kappa_b - Q_{ab}{}^c \kappa_c, \qquad \widehat{\nabla}_a \rho_{bcd} = \nabla_a \rho_{bcd} - 3 Q_{a[b}{}^e \rho_{cd]e},$$

so that

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\kappa)_{ab}k^a\delta^b_i = \gamma_i, (\widehat{\nabla}_{ab})\delta^a_{(i}\delta^b_{j)\circ} = \sigma_{ij} - Q_{(ij)\circ}^{\ 0}, (\widehat{\nabla}_{ab})\delta^a_{[i}\delta^b_{j]} = \tau_{ij},$$
(B.8)

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{abcd})k^a \delta^b_\beta \delta^c_\gamma \ell^d = \zeta_{\beta\gamma} + 2iQ^0{}_{[\beta\gamma]}, \tag{B.9}$$

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{abcd}\delta^a_{[\alpha}\delta^b_{\beta]}k^c\ell^d = -i\tau_{\alpha\beta} - iQ^0_{[\alpha\beta]}, \tag{B.10}$$

$$(\nabla\rho)_{abcd})\delta^a_{\alpha}\delta^b_{\beta}\delta^c_{\gamma}\ell^d = G_{\alpha\beta\gamma} + 2\mathrm{i}Q_{\alpha[\beta\gamma]},\tag{B.11}$$

~

$$(\nabla \rho)_{abcd})\delta^a_{\bar{\alpha}}\delta^b_{\beta}\delta^c_{\gamma}\ell^d = G_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} + 2iQ_{\bar{\alpha}[\beta\gamma]}, \tag{B.12}$$

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{abcd}\ell^a \delta^b_\beta \delta^c_\gamma \ell^d = B_{\beta\gamma} + 2iQ_{0[\beta\gamma]}, \tag{B.13}$$

$$(\widehat{\nabla}\rho)_{abcd})\ell^a\delta^b_\beta\delta^c_\gamma\delta^d_{\bar{\alpha}} = 2\mathrm{i}E_{[\beta}h_{\gamma]\bar{\alpha}} - 2\mathrm{i}Q_{0[\beta}{}^0h_{\gamma]\bar{\alpha}},\tag{B.14}$$

$$h^{\gamma \tilde{\alpha}} (\widehat{\nabla}_a \rho_{bcd}) \ell^a \delta^b_\beta \delta^c_\gamma \delta^d_{\tilde{\alpha}} = (m-1) \left(iE_\beta - 2iQ_{0\beta}{}^0 \right), \tag{B.15}$$

$$h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}(\widehat{\nabla}_{a}\rho_{bcd})\delta^{a}_{\bar{\alpha}}\delta^{b}_{\beta}\delta^{c}_{\gamma}\ell^{d} = -G_{\beta} + \mathrm{i}h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}\left(Q_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} - Q_{\bar{\alpha}\gamma\beta}\right). \tag{B.16}$$

In particular,

$$\begin{aligned} -2h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}(\widehat{\nabla}_{a}\rho_{bcd})\ell^{a}\delta^{b}_{\beta}\delta^{c}_{\gamma}\delta^{d}_{\bar{\alpha}} - h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}(\widehat{\nabla}_{a}\rho_{bcd})\delta^{a}_{\bar{\alpha}}\delta^{b}_{\beta}\delta^{c}_{\gamma}\ell^{d} \\ &= G_{\beta} - 2(m-1)\mathrm{i}E_{\beta} + 4(m-1)\mathrm{i}Q_{0\beta}{}^{0} - \mathrm{i}h^{\gamma\bar{\alpha}}\left(Q_{\bar{\alpha}\beta\gamma} - Q_{\bar{\alpha}\gamma\beta}\right).\end{aligned}$$

References

- Abbena, E., Garbiero, S., Salamon, S.: Hermitian geometry on the Iwasawa manifold. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B (7) 11(2, suppl.), 231–249 (1997)
- Abbena, E., Garbiero, S., Salamon, S.: Almost Hermitian geometry on six dimensional nilmanifolds. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 30(1), 147–170 (2001). arXiv:math/0007066
- Alekseevsky, D.V., Ganji, M., Schmalz, G.: CR-geometry and shearfree Lorentzian geometry. In: Geometric Complex Analysis, vol. 246. Springer Proceedings of the Mathematics Statistics, pp. 11–22. Springer, Singapore (2018)
- Alekseevsky, D.V., et al.: Lorentzian manifolds with shearfree congruences and Kähler–Sasaki geometry. Differ. Geom. Appl. 75, 101724 (2021). arXiv:2009.07179
- Apostolov, V., Gauduchon, P.: The Riemannian Goldberg–Sachs theorem. Int. J. Math. 8(4), 421–439 (1997)
- Awad, A.M., Chamblin, A.: A bestiary of higher-dimensional Taub-NUTAdS spacetimes. Class. Quantum Gravity 19(8), 2051–2061 (2002). arXiv: hep-th/0012240
- Bailey, T.N., Eastwood, M.G., Gover, A.R.: Thomas's structure bundle for conformal, projective and related structures. Rocky Mt. J. Math. 24(4), 1191–1217 (1994)
- Bais, F.A., Batenburg, P.: A new class of higher-dimensional Kaluza–Klein monopole and instanton solutions. Nucl. Phys. B 253(1), 162–172 (1985)
- 9. Budinich, P., Trautman, A.: Fock space description of simple spinors. J. Math. Phys. **30**(9), 2125–2131 (1989)
- 10. Budinich, P., Trautman, A.: The Spinorial Chessboard. Trieste Notes in Physics. Springer, Berlin (1988)
- Čap, A., Gover, A.R.: A holonomy characterisation of Fefferman spaces. Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom. 38(4), 399–412 (2010). arXiv:math/0611939
- Čap, A., Gover, A.R.: CR-tractors and the Fefferman space. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 57(5), 2519–2570 (2008). arXiv:math/0611938
- 13. Cartan, E.: The Theory of Spinors. MIT Press, Cambridge (1967)
- Case, J.S., Gover, A.R.: The P'-operator, the Q'-curvature, and the CR tractor calculus. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 20(2), 565–618 (2020). arXiv:1709.08057
- Chamseddine, A., Figueroa-O fFarrill, J.M., Sabra, W.: Supergravity vacua and Lorentzian Lie groups (2003). arXiv:hep-th/0306278
- Chen, W., Lu, H., Pope, C.N.: General Kerr-NUT-AdS metrics in all dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 23(17), 5323–5340 (2006). arXiv:hepth/0604125
- 17. Chern, S.-S.: Complex Manifolds Without Potential Theory (with an Appendix on the Geometry of Characteristic Classes). Universitext, 2nd edn. Springer, New York (1995)
- Eastwood, M., Neusser, K.: A canonical connection on sub-Riemannian contact manifolds. Arch. Math. 52(5), 277–289 (2016). arXiv:1604.05392

- Eastwood, M.G.: A Twistor Description of Null Self–Dual Maxwell Fields. Further Advances in Twistor Theory, Vol. II, pp. 96–99. Longman Scientific & Technical (1995)
- Eastwood, M.G.: Complexification, twistor theory, and harmonic maps from Riemann surfaces. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 11(2), 317–328 (1984)
- Eells, J., Salamon, S.: Twistorial construction of harmonic maps of surfaces into four-manifolds. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 124, 589–640 (1986)
- Fefferman, C. L.: Correction to: "Monge-Ampère equations, the Bergman kernel, and geometry of pseudoconvex domains (Ann. of Math. (2) 103 (1976), no. 2, 395-416). Ann. Math. (2) 104(2), 393–394 (1976)
- Fefferman, C.L.: Monge–Ampère equations, the Bergman kernel, and geometry of pseudoconvex domains. Ann. Math. (2) 103(2), 395–416 (1976)
- Figueroa-O'Farrill, J.: On the intrinsic torsion of spacetime structures (2020) arXiv:2009.01948 [hep-th]
- Fino, A., Leistner, T., Taghavi-Chabert, A.: Optical geometries (2020). Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) (accepted for publication). arXiv:2009.10012 [math.DG]
- 26. Goldberg, J.N., Sachs, R.K.: A theorem on Petrov types. Acta Phys. Polon. 22, 13–23 (1962)
- Goldberg, J.N., Sachs, R.K.: Republication of: A theorem on Petrov types. Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 41, 433–444 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10714-008-0722-5
- Gover, A.R., Hill, C.D., Nurowski, P.: Sharp version of the Goldberg–Sachs theorem. Ann. Mater. Pura Appl. (4) 190(2), 295–340 (2011)
- Graham, C.R.: On Sparling's characterization of Fefferman metrics. Am. J. Math. 109(5), 853–874 (1987)
- Gray, A., Hervella, L.M.: The sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifolds and their linear invariants. Ann. Mater. Pura Appl. (4) 123, 35–58 (1980)
- Guillemin, V., Sternberg, S.: An ultra-hyperbolic analogue of the Robinson–Kerr theorem. Lett. Math. Phys. 12(1), 1–6 (1986)
- Gutowski, J.B., Martelli, D., Reall, H.S.: All supersymmetric solutions of minimal supergravity in six dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 20(23), 5049–5078 (2003)
- Harnad, J.P., Shnider, S.: Isotropic geometry and twistors in higher dimensions. 2: odd dimensions, reality conditions, and twistor superspaces. J. Math. Phys. 36, 1945–1970 (1995)
- Harnad, J.P., Shnider, S.: Isotropic geometry, twistors and supertwistors. 1. The generalized Klein correspondence and spinor flags. J. Math. Phys. 33, 3197–3208 (1992)
- Hill, C.D., Lewandowski, J., Nurowski, P.: Einstein's equations and the embedding of 3-dimensional CR manifolds. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 57(7), 3131–3176 (2008)
- Huggett, S.A., Tod, K.P.: An Introduction to Twistor Theory. London Mathematical Society Student Texts, vol. 4, 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1994)
- Hughston, L.P.: A remarkable connection between the wave equation and spinors in higher dimensions. In: Further Advances in Twistor Theory, vol. I, pp. 37–39. Longman Scientific & Technical (1990)
- Hughston, L.P.: Applications of the geometry of SO(8) spinors to Laplace's equation in 6 dimensions. In: Further Advances in Twistor Theory, vol. I, pp. 45–49. Longman Scientific & Technical (1990)
- Hughston, L.P.: Differential geometry in six Dimensions. In: Further Advances in Twistor Theory, vol. II, pp. 79–82. Longman Scientific & Technical (1995)
- Hughston, L.P.: The wave equation in even dimensions. In: Further Advances in Twistor Theory, vol. I, pp. 26–27. Longman Scientific & Technical (1990)
- Hughston, L.P., Mason, L.J.: A generalised Kerr–Robinson theorem. Class. Quantum Gravity 5(2), 275–285 (1988)
- Jacobowitz, H.: An Introduction to CR Structures, vol. 32. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, p. x+237. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1990)
- Jeffryes, B.P.: A six-dimensional 'Penrose diagram'. In: Further Advances in Twistor Theory, vol. II, pp. 85–87. Longman Scientific & Technical (1995)
- Kerr, R.P., Schild, A.: Republication of: A new class of vacuum solutions of the Einstein field equations. Gen. Relativity Gravitation 41.10: Reprinted from Atti del Convegno sulla Relatività Generale: Problemi dell'Energia e Onde Gravitazionali, 1–12, G. Barbèra Editore, Florence 1965, pp. 2485–2499 (2009)
- Ketsetzis, G., Salamon, S.: Complex structures on the Iwasawa manifold. Adv. Geom. 4(2), 165–179 (2004)

- 46. Kokoška, D., Ortaggio, M.: Static and radiating dyonic black holes coupled to conformally invariant electrodynamics in higher dimensions. Phys. Rev. D **104**(12), Paper No. 124051 (2021)
- Kopczyński, W.: Pure spinors in odd dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 14(1A) (1997). Geom. Phys. A227–A236
- Kopczyński, W., Trautman, A.: Simple spinors and real structures. J. Math. Phys. 33(2), 550–559 (1992)
- Lawson, H.B., Jr., Michelsohn, M.-L.: Spin Geometry, vol. 38. Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1989)
- Leitner, F.: A gauged Fefferman construction for partially integrable CR geometry. J. Geom. Phys. 60(9), 1262–1278 (2010)
- Leitner, F.: On transversally symmetric pseudo-Einstein and Fefferman–Einstein spaces. Math. Z. 256(2), 443–459 (2007)
- Lewandowski, J., Nurowski, P.: Algebraically special twisting gravitational fields and CR structures. Class. Quantum Gravity 7(3), 309–328 (1990)
- 53. Lewandowski, J., Nurowski, P., Tafel, J.: Algebraically special solutions of the Einstein equations with pure radiation fields. Class. Quantum Gravity **8**(3), 493–501 (1991)
- Lewandowski, J., Nurowski, P., Tafel, J.: Einstein's equations and realizability of CR manifolds. Class. Quantum Gravity 7(11), L241–L246 (1990)
- 55. Mariot, L.: Le champ électromagnétique singulier. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 238, 2055-2056 (1954)
- Mason, L.J.: The asymptotic structure of algebraically special spacetimes. Class. Quantum Gravity 15(4), 1019–1030 (1998)
- 57. Mason, L.J.: Twistors in Curved Space-times. PhD thesis. University of Oxford (1985)
- Mason, L.J., Hughston, L.P., Kobak, P.Z. (eds.): Further Advances in Twistor Theory, vol. II, vol. 232. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series. Integrable Systems, Conformal Geometry and Gravitation. Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow (1995)
- Mason, L., Taghavi-Chabert, A.: Killing–Yano tensors and multi-Hermitian structures. J. Geom. Phys. 60, 907–923 (2010). arXiv:0805.3756
- 60. Musso, E.: The local embedding problem for optical structures. J. Geom. Phys. 10(1), 1–18 (1992)
- 61. Myers, R.C., Perry, M.J.: Black holes in higher dimensional space-times. Ann. Phys. 172, 304 (1986)
- Newman, E., Tamburino, L., Unti, T.: Empty-space generalization of the Schwarzschild metric. J. Math. Phys. 4, 915–923 (1963)
- Nurowski, P., Trautman, A.: Robinson manifolds as the Lorentzian analogs of Hermite manifolds. Differ. Geom. Appl. 17, 2–3 (2002). 8th International Conference on Differential Geometry and its Applications (Opava, 2001), pp. 175–195
- Nurowski, P.: Einstein Equations and Cauchy–Riemann Geometry. PhD thesis. Scuola Internazionale Superiore di Studi Avanzati (1993)
- 65. Nurowski, P.: Optical geometries and related structures. J. Geom. Phys. 18(4), 335–348 (1996)
- Nurowski, P.: Twistor bundles, Einstein equations and real structures. Class. Quantum Gravity 14, A261–A290 (1997)
- 67. Nurowski, P., Tafel, J.: New algebraically special solutions of the Einstein–Maxwell equations. Class. Quantum Gravity **9**(9), 2069–2077 (1992)
- Nurowski, P., Taghavi-Chabert, A.: A Goldberg-Sachs theorem in dimension three. Class. Quantum Gravity 32(11), 115009 (2015)
- Ortaggio, M., Podolský, J., Žofka, M.: Robinson-Trautman spacetimes with an electromagnetic field in higher dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 25, 025006 (2008). arXiv:0708.4299 [gr-qc]
- Ortaggio, M., Pravda, V., Pravdová, A.: Ricci identities in higher dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 24, 1657–1664 (2007). arXiv: gr-qc/0701150
- Papadopoulos, G.: Geometry and Symmetries of Null G-Structures. Classical Quantum Gravity 36(12), 125006 (2019)
- 72. Peeters, K.: Cadabra2: computer algebra for field theory revisited. J. Open Source Softw. **3**(32), 1118 (2018)
- 73. Peeters, K.: Introducing Cadabra: a symbolic computer algebra system for field theory problems (2007). arXiv:hep-th/0701238
- 74. Penrose, R.: A spinor approach to general relativity. Ann. Phys. 10, 171-201 (1960)
- 75. Penrose, R.: Twistor algebra. J. Math. Phys. 8, 345-366 (1967)
- Penrose, R., Rindler, W.: Spinors and Space-time. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Two-Spinor Calculus and Relativistic Fields, vol. 1. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1984)

- Penrose, R., Rindler, W.: Spinors and Space-time, vol. 2. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Spinor and Twistor Methods in Space-time Geometry. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1986)
- 78. Petit, R.: Witt pseudo-Riemannian connection (2019). arXiv:1910.06861 [math.DG]
- Plebañski, J.F., Demiañski, M.: Rotating, charged, and uniformly accelerating mass in general relativity. Ann. Phys. 98, 98–127 (1976)
- Podolský, J., Ortaggio, M.: Robinson–Trautman spacetimes in higher dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 23, 5785–5797 (2006). arXiv:gr-qc/0605136 [gr-qc]
- Podolský, J., Švarc, R.: Algebraic structure of Robinson–Trautman and Kundt geometries in arbitrary dimension. Class. Quantum Gravity 32, 015001 (2015). arXiv:1406.3232 [gr-qc]
- Podolský, J., Švarc, R.: Explicit algebraic classification of Kundt geometries in any dimension. Class. Quantum Gravity 30, 125007 (2013). arXiv:1303.0215 [gr-qc]
- Podolský, J., Žofka, M.: General Kundt spacetimes in higher dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 26, 18 (2009). arXiv:0812.4928 [gr-qc]
- 84. Pravda, V., et al.: Exact solutions to quadratic gravity. Phys. Rev. D 95(8), 084025 (2017)
- Pravda, V., Pravdová, A., Ortaggio, M.: Type D Einstein spacetimes in higher dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity 24, 4407–4428 (2007). arXiv:0704.0435 [gr-qc]
- Przanowski, M., Broda, B.: Locally K\u00e4hler gravitational instantons. Acta Phys. Polon. B 14(9), 637– 661 (1983)
- 87. Robinson, I.: Null electromagnetic fields. J. Math. Phys. 2, 290-291 (1961)
- Robinson, I., Trautman, A.: Cauchy–Riemann structures in optical geometry. In: Proceedings of the Fourth Marcel Grossmann Meeting on General Relativity, Part A, B (Rome, 1985), pp. 317–324. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1986)
- Robinson, I., Trautman, A.: Conformal geometry of flows in n dimensions. J. Math. Phys. 24(6), 1425–1429 (1983)
- 90. Robinson, I., Trautman, A.: Integrable optical geometry. Lett. Math. Phys. 10, 179-182 (1985)
- Robinson, I., Trautman, A.: "Optical geometry" new theories in physics. In: Ajduk, P.S., Zhang, T.A. (Eds.) Proceedings of the XI Warsaw Symposium on Elementary Particle Physics, Kazimierz 23–27, pp. 454–497. World Scientific (1988)
- Salamon, S.: Riemannian Geometry and Holonomy Groups, vol. 201. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, p. viii+201. Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow (1989)
- Salamon, S., Viaclovsky, J.: Orthogonal complex structures on domains in R4. Math. Ann. 343(4), 853–899 (2009)
- Sato, H., Yamaguchi, K.: Lie Contact Manifolds. Geometry of Manifolds (Matsumoto, Vol. 8. Perspective Mathematics, pp. 191–238. Academic Press, Boston (1988)
- Schmalz, G., Ganji, M.: A criterion for local embeddability of three-dimensional CR structures. Ann. Mater. Pura Appl. (4) 198(2), 491–503 (2019)
- Stephani, H., et al.: Exact Solutions of Einstein's Field Equations. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2003)
- 97. Tafel, J.: Erratum: "On the Robinson theorem and shearfree geodesic null congruences" [Lett. Math. Phys. 10 (1985), no. 1, 33–39]. Lett. Math. Phys. 11(2), 177 (1986)
- Tafel, J.: On the Robinson theorem and shearfree geodesic null congruences. Lett. Math. Phys. 10(1), 33–39 (1985)
- Tafel, J., Nurowski, P., Lewandowski, J.: Pure radiation field solutions of the Einstein equations. Class. Quantum Gravity 8(4), L83–L88 (1991)
- 100. Taghavi-Chabert, A.: A Characterisation of Fefferman Spaces for Almost CR Geometry. (in preparation)
- 101. Taghavi-Chabert, A.: Optical structures, algebraically special spacetimes, and the Goldberg–Sachs theorem in five dimensions. Class. Quantum Gravity **28**, 145010 (2011)
- Taghavi-Chabert, A.: Pure spinors, intrinsic torsion and curvature in even dimensions. Differ. Geom. Appl. 46, 164–203 (2016)
- Taghavi-Chabert, A.: Pure spinors, intrinsic torsion and curvature in odd dimensions. Differ. Geom. Appl. 51, 117–152 (2017)
- Taghavi-Chabert, A.: The complex Goldberg–Sachs theorem in higher dimensions. J. Geom. Phys. 62(5), 981–1012 (2012)
- 105. Taghavi-Chabert, A.: The curvature of almost Robinson manifolds (2014). arXiv:1404.5810

- 106. Taghavi-Chabert, A.: Twisting non-shearing congruences of null geodesics, almost CR structures and Einstein metrics in even dimensions. Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata **6**, 66 (2021)
- Taghavi-Chabert, A.: Twistor geometry of null foliations in complex Euclidean space. SIGMA Symm. Integr. Geom. Methods Appl. 13, Paper No. 005 (2017)
- Tanaka, N.: A differential Geometric Study on Strongly Pseudo-convex Manifolds. Lectures in Mathematics, p. iv+158. Department of Mathematics, Kyoto University, No. 9. Kinokuniya Book-Store Co., Ltd., Tokyo (1975)
- 109. Taub, A.H.: Empty space-times admitting a three parameter group of motions. Ann. Math. (2) 53, 472–490 (1951)
- 110. Trautman, A.: Deformations of the Hodge map and optical geometry. J. Geom. Phys. 1(2), 85–95 (1984)
- Trautman, A.: Gauge and optical aspects of gravitation. Class. Quantum Gravity 16(12A), A157– A175 (1999)
- Trautman, A.: Optical structures in relativistic theories. Numéro Hors Série. The Mathematical Heritage of Élie Cartan (Lyon, 1984), pp. 401–420 (1985)
- Trautman, A.: Robinson manifolds and Cauchy–Riemann spaces. Class. Quantum Gravity 19(2), R1–R10 (2002)
- Trautman, A.: Robinson manifolds and the shear-free condition. In: Proceedings of the Conference on General Relativity, Cosmology and Relativistic Astrophysics (Journées Relativistes) (Dublin, 2001), vol. 17, pp. 2735–2737 (2002)
- Ward, R.S., Wells, R.O., Jr.: Twistor Geometry and Field Theory. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1990)
- 116. Webster, S.M.: Pseudo-Hermitian structures on a real hypersurface. J. Differ. Geom. **13**(1), 25–41 (1978)
- Whitney, H., Bruhat, F.: Quelques propriétés fondamentales des ensembles analytiques-réels. Comment. Math. Helv. 33, 132–160 (1959)
- Witten, L.: Invariants of general relativity and the classification of spaces. Phys. Rev. (2) 113, 357–362 (1959)
- 119. Woodhouse, N.: The real geometry of complex space-times. Int. J. Theor. Phys. 16(9), 663–670 (1977)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.